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INTRODUCTION.

I

The present volume covers a period of
sixteen months, with some material gaps,
although none is so extensive or regrettable as
that from December 8, 1753, to September 8,
1754, which separates the last volume from this,
due, I presume, to the disappearance of one
entire volume of the original diary. In that
interval much had occurred. At Trichinopoly,
which continued to be the main theatre of the
Anglo-French struggle, the French had come
within an ace of success by a boldly planned
escalade, when the commandant, Killpatrick,
lay sick, and the command had devolved on
Lieutenant Harrison, who one night was
suddenly alarmed by hearing the Grenadiers’
march being beaten within his garrison and
sustained musketry-fire along the walls. The
French had succeeded in penetrating the
enceinte, but by mischance their scaling-
ladders were broken and a large number were
penned up in a narrow space between the first
and second walls, where they were obliged to
surrender.

This failure was the last attempt to take
Trichinopoly by assault, although the block-
ade, by joint French and Mysorean forces,

B
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continued until a truce was concluded in
October, and in the course of February, 1754,
an important English convoy was surprised
and destroyed. The other incident of moment
in the Carnatic was the conference of French
and English deputies at Sadras in January.
At this meeting Dupleix put forward his
claims to the government of India south of
the Kistna, while the English asserted their
right to a position of equality with the French.
Neither would give way and the conference
separated, as Dupleix had foreseen, and as he
actually desired. His object indeed was not
to make peace, but to put the English in the
wrong.

Meanwhile in the Deccan, Bussy had con-
tinued to direct the forces of Salabat Jang. He
had secured more than one of those singular
victories which had resulted in the surrender
of territory by the conqueror to the conquered ;
and had obtained as a material guarantee for
the payment of his troops grants of the Circars
lying north of Masulipatam, already a French
possession. During most of the year 1754, the
French were principally engaged in expelling
the Marathas from their new territories and in
effecting a settlement of the revenues. Bussy
is stated to have settled with the renters and
zamindars for a total sum of 184 lakhs of
rupees, '
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But these were trifles compared with the
revolution which burst on Pondichery on
August 2, when Godeheu landed with orders
recalling Dupleix and authorising his arrest if
he hesitated to obey. The new Governor was
accompanied by 2,000 new troops, to enforce
his will if need were ; but he was also directed
to bring the struggle with the English to a
close and to free the French Company's trade
from the encumbrances of war.

These orders were the outcome, partly of
Dupleix’ failure to redeem his promises of
peace and prosperity, partly of the great
Frenchman’s astonishing neglect to explain
what his policy really was, and partly of the
remonstrances of the English. In 1752 Dupleix
had written to Saunders a letter of prodigions
length emphasising and defending his claims,
He had also sent copies home to Paris, with a
suggestion that one might be sent on to the
English directors. This was done, but never
were expectations more disappointed. The
directors addressed the ministry ; the English
ambassador was desired to seek explanations ;
he obtained a disavowal of Dupleix’ conduct ;
and three months later the French ambassador
at the Court of St. James's was directed to
give Newcastle private assurances that
Dupleix would be recalled. The story was
long believed that when the French minister
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agreed to this, he made it a condition that
Thomas Saunders, the English Governor of
Madras, should also be summoned home—a
condition which the English were alleged to
have left unfulfilled. M. Cultru disposed of
this story so far as Saunders was concerned,
but beligved that the English did not apply for
the recall of Dupleix. As is seen from the
foregoing they did so apply, but unofficially, so
that nothing remained on the French record.
Ranga Pillai’s references to Saunders’ continu-
ance on the coast in the present volume sup-
port the view that the story of his supposed
recall was not current at the time in Pondi-
chery. It probably originated in Parisian
gossip to which the various defences of Dupleix
gave currency.

The present volume thus opens with a new
(Governor, Godeheu, at that great Gouvernement
which Dupleix had built for his own magni-
ficence, but had scarcely occupied two years ;
and a Governor who was charged with the duty
of reversing the policy of Dupleix, which for
all its possibilities had obtained little beyond
private fortunes coupled with public disasters,
The subject-matier of the Diary, from Septem-
ber, 1754, to December, 1755, falls therefore
under three well-defined heads :—the winding-
up of the policy of adventure; the inaugu-
ration of a new policy by Godeheu ; and its
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INTRODUOTION vii

effects under Leyrit who succeeded Godeheu as
Governor in the month of March. To these
we may add the effects of such variations of
persons and measures upon the personal
fortunes and position of the diarist,

II

+ The leading event, in the first of these
groups, was of course the assumption of office
by Godeheu, on August 3, and the announce-
ment of the recall of Dupleix, at that famous
meeting of the Council at which the fallen
Governor greeted the reading of Godeheun's
Commission with the cry of Vive le roi. But
this patriotic exclamation was not incompati-
ble with the keenest displeasure at an event
for which Dupleix had little time to prepare.
The crucial matter was finance. The great
Governor had made small difference between
the public and private purse. Had he obtained
the success he hoped for, there would have
been enough to repay himself and still leave a
respectable balance for the Company. But the
disasters he had encountered, and the conse-
quent occupation of great tracts of the Carnatic
by the English in the name of Muhammad 'Ali,
had fatally deranged his balances. Pipayya
Pillai, to whom the land revenue had been
rented, was in arrears. Nandi Réja had not

fulfilled his promised payments. Moréri
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Réo was clamouring for the unpaid balance of
his subsidies; the treasury at Pondichery was
empty. On Godeheu’s arrival Dupleix made
an attempt to secure for himself the outstand-
ing balances owed by Papayya, by claiming the
Carnatic revenues as a private affair between
himself and Salabat Jang, and impudently as-
serting that PApayya was the latter’s Receiver
General. It is hard to imagine a more
convineing proof of the demoralisation info
which the French Company's service had
fallen. Godeheu rightly refused to admit the
possibility of such a thing as the private hold-
ing of great public revenues; he imprisoned
Pipayya in the hopes of extracting money
from him ; and ignored Dupleix’ allegations

But though he laid Pipayya by the heels, he
failed to extract money from him. Perhaps
Phpayya had none—he had served an exacting
master with a wife who spoke Tamil as well as
she spoke French. But all Pondichery, and
Ranga Pillai with if, believed that the late
renter had sent to Mddras and elsewhere
great sums which by a wisely severe treatment
he might have been made to disgorge. In this
matter the diarist is a very hostile witness,
and the story which he told Leyrit at a later
time—that Pipayya had four or five lakhs of
rupees—rests probably on no better evidence
than hearsay. But his criticism of Godeheu’s
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conduct—that the renter's employees- were
released before they had been obliged to
produce accounts—stands on a different foot-
ing, and goes far to explain why thoe enquiry
was never brought to a definite conclusion.
While thisx great matter was still pending,
and while Dupleix himself must have been
making hurried preparations for departure,
other unsettled accounts stood little chance of
being adjusted. Among these were the ac-
counts apparently showing a balance due from
Ranga Pillai. Although on September 13 the
late Governor asked him why he had not
brought them, yet he had mnot seftled them
when he unexpectedly went on board before
dawn on October 15. This was specially
annoying to the Courtier, bocause he had long
owed the Company certain sums on account of
transactions in coral and broad cloth, and had
been promised a remission of the debt.
Annoyance at not obtaining Dupleix’ ack-
nowledgment of this probably added a touch
of bitterness to the moralising with which of
course the diarist relates this noteworthy
departure. He had already recorded the belief
that Dupleix was carrying off with him the
jewels found in Nésir Jang’s treasury and
images from the temples. Now he dwells on
the sudden downfall of his late master, and
the indignity of his sailing without that



x THE DIARY OF dNANDA RANGA PILLAT

square flag at the mast-head which the Gov-
ernor of Pondichery was entitled to fly. He
recalls how Dupleix had been wont to say that
he would like fto lay his bones in the city
which he had raised to so proud though
brief an eminence. These are the fruits of
women'’s advice, of froward councils, of not
fearing God. Ranga Pillai had indeed little
cause to praise Dupleix’ conduct. It had long
excluded him from a share in those political
" transactions in which it had ever been the
custom to consult the Couriier, thus flattering
his pride and possibly filling his pocket. Yet
when, a few months later, Dupleix’ name-
day came round, Ranga Pillai remembered
the feasts, the salutes, illuminations with
which it would have been celebrated. The
magnificence of the town had vanished with
the great Marquis, and its short-lived greatness
was to crumble like the belfry which Dupleix
had built and which almost ecrushed his
successor in its fall. ,

Thus ended that remarkable attempt to
establish French rule over the whole of South-
ern India, serving at once as a model and a
warning to the more fortunate English. Its
radical weakness lay in the fact that the
French could not command the long sea-route
to India, so that at the first touch of actnal
war all the French schemes, intrigues, and

e e B i e P T ———



INTRODUCTION xi

alliances collapsed like a house of cards. This
was attested by the war destined to open
within less than two years after the Duc &
Orléans had borne Dupleix away from Pondi-
chery. It was attested by the war which
followed, though English sea-power was then
strained almost to the breaking-point, for even
then the French failed to land their forces in
India till the war was almost over. It was
attested in the most striking form by the great
war against Revolutionary France and Napo-
leon. Dupleix had indeed only secured such
measure of success as he obtained under
conditions which prevented British men-of-
war from blockading Pondichery and cutting
off his supplies and reinforcements.

The second main defect of the policy of
Dupleix has usually been considered to lie
in the corruption of his rule, the bribes
which he and Bussy and their subordinates
accepted, the peculation which reigned in
their revenue-administration. This  was
necessarily a source of great weakness. A
purer administration would undoubtedly
have permitted more regularly paid troops ;
more regularly paid troops would have
been better disciplined, would have fought
more bravely, would have been more victorious.
But corruption, though a source of weakness,
was not necessarily a cause of collapse. The

C
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xil

English administration of Bengal from the

battle of Plassey to the arrival of Cornwallis .

cannot be called pure; the English adminis-
tration of Madras from the fall of Pondichery
to the assumption of the Carnatic was little
better than the administration of Dupleix.
The administration of the Dutch in Java, of the
Portuguese in Mozambique, of every colonising
power in the West Indies—the administration,
in short, of every tropical dependency in the
18th century was seamed with corruption.
It was not then a fatal obstacle to the main-
tenance of power. I would suggest that the
second main defect in the position of the
French was less their corruption than the
mutual jealousy which divided their councils
and obstructed their success. As M. Martineau
has well and fruly said, “IL'esprit de disci-
pline et de méthode qui, dans la paix, préparela
force des nations, fut tout & fait étranger 4 la
plupart des conseils qui administrérent nos
dépendances.” In the age of Dupleix and long
after they were almost incapable of good team-
work.,

An allusion in the present volume points
to a startling example of this fatal defect.
Madame Dupleix apparently told Godeheu
that she had often concocted letters from the
country powers and cautioned him aguinst
others who might wuse the same device.
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Madanfinda Pandit, the Persian munshi, admit-
ted that he had in Madame's time been
concerned in such tricks—that “he had
done as he was told.” We do not learn whether
these forgeries were designed to deceive
Dupleix or the authorities in France ; but who-
ever it was, we are necessarily left wondering
how a policy liable to such influences could
posgibly succeed.

ITI

Godeheu remained at Pondichery just over
six months in all—from the beginning of
August 1754 to the middle of February 1755.
This necessarily implied that in all matters of
detail the new policy which he was sent out to
inaugurate would be hastily adopted and
might need subsequent alteration,as he had had
no time to learn the interplay of the circum-
stances or the real value of the characters by
which he was surrounded. Thus Ranga Pillai
accuses him of having attached undue value
to the opinions of the only Frenchman in
Pondichery who understood Persian. This
was Henri Delarche, whose name constantly
occurs in oa Pillai’'sdiary. He was the son
of a captain in the French garrison and a
Pondichery lady of mixed blood ; and at this
time was 35 years old. He had been brought
up in India, and was probably conversant with
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Tamil as well as Persian, which latter tongue
"he had acquired when serving at the French
Basra factory. He had married an Armenian
lady, and so was in close touch with what
went on in the Indian world. His knowledge
of languages and his supposed honesty had -
recommended him to Dupleix; but he was
more useful as an agent than as an adviser.
Ranga Pillai did not like him, and his esti-
mate of Delarche must be considered with
caution ; but the diarist's criticisms ot his
advice to Godeheu, tinged as they are with
jealousy at the intrusion of a European into
his special domain, afford a curious proof of the
extent to which the ideas of Dupleix had pene-
trated Pondichery. Chandd Sdhib’s family,
now headed by the late Nawfb's son Razi
Sédhib, had continued to live among the French,
even after Dupleix had made Murtazi ’Ali
of Vellore nawib in succession to Chand4
Sahib ; but their dignity and state had fallen;
they were above all anxious to recover their
former consideration. There is no reason to
doubt Ranga Pillai’s hints that they bribed
Delarche in order that he might persuade the
new (Governor to accord them the honours
which they had formerly enjoyed. The
intrigue succeeded. Razd Sihib was received
with 21 guns, and treated as though he was
master of the Carnatic. Thus did Godeheu—
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in the Courtier's eyes—cast away half the glory
which the French had acquired ; the new
Governor did not understand that he must
jealously maintain his state.

Ranga Pillai, however, hardly grasped the
revolutfon in policy which had taken place.
To Godeheu and to the French Company who
had sent him out, the pomp and dignity which
Dupleix had assumed in his character of Naib
of the countries south of the Kistna, were mis-
placed. The late Governor's object had been to
impress Indian minds; but he had neglected
the fact that, at the same time, ho was provok-
ing the English to hostility. Godeheu'’s scheme
was to renounce all these external and
provocative marks of honour, and to treat the
French Nawib as if he were a real power,
while, at the same time, he held firmly to all
those material gains which had survived the
disasters of his predecessor—the territory still
held round Pondichery and the Northern
Circars. This was the policy which underlay
the negotiations with the English—the truce
concluded in October and the provisional
Treaty signed in the following December.
These relieved the French of that incessant
warfare in which Dupleix had involved them,
while they preserved the gains which he had
acquired. What Godeheu hoped to secure was
peace with the English as well as retention of
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the French grants. As I have shown else-
where, it was a skilful though uncandid
policy.

The individual ally on whom the burden
fell was not the Subahdar of the Deccan, as has
usually been said, but the unfortunate Nandi
R4jh at Trichinopoly. Godeheu's policy made
no difference to Salabat Jang at Hyderabad.
Bussy and his contingent of French troops
remained as before to support the ruler whom
they had established. Nor did Godeheu's
policy in the Carnatic affect the northern ruler.
It is true that Ranga Pillai tells us of demands
put forward by Salabat Jang to receive an
account of the Carnatic revenues. But this
was, I think, a mere device brought about by
Dupleix to lend colour fo that theory of the
French financial arrangements which he had
hurriedly invented on Godeheu's arrival,
However much Dupleix and Godeheu might
differ in general policy, neither had the
least intention of administering the Carnatic
for the benefit of its nominal overlord. Gode-
heu's negotiations made no difference to
Salabat Jang.®

But they made much to Nandi Raji. For
nearly three years a large Mysorean army had
lain before Trichinopoly, relying on the pro-
mises first of Muhammad 'Alf to deliver over
the city when the French had been repelled,
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and later of the French to help them in driving
out the English. DBut neither Muhammad
'Ali nor the French had kept their word. The
first had refused to hand over the place when
Chandé Sahib had been caught and killed ;
the second bhad failed to make any impression
on the English defence and were now retiring
from the contest. Worse than that, the terms
which Godeheu had made with the English
prevented Nandi Raji from attempting to
continue his efforts to acquire the southern
provinces of Maduraand Tinnevelly. He had
spent great sums and obtained nothing by his
French alliance.

The grievances however were not all on the
oneside. The diplomatic dexterity of Dupleix
had obtained an agreement from Nandi Raja,
when the hopes of getting Trichinopoly were
still bright and fresh, that he would pay the
- expenses of the French troops before Trichino-
poly and provide the Company with 3 lakhs
of rupees a year besides. These payments had
at first been made regularly. Buf presently it
became clear that Nandi R4j4 had gone to war
without counting the cost. His treasury sank;
his payments to the French became irregular ;
in the last volume we saw his agents offering
a sealed parcel of jewels for a loan. In short
his allies were expensive and war could not be
conducted round Trichinopoly at a profit, In
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Godeheu’s eyes the Mysorean also figured as
an ally who had broken his word. He angrily
asked the vakil, who abounded in promises of
regular payments, what he had given but
words ; and declined to continue the siege of
Trichinopol+v for the benefit of an ally who
would not pay for it. Here also we find his
plans inspired by the material interests of the
moment. '

Of the man himself we see or hear little ;
but what Ranga Pillai does record is, time and
place duly considered, to the credit of this
astute and unimaginative personage. Wefind |
him refusing twice the public offer of a dia-
mond ring, made first by the diarist himself
and afterwards by the Company’s merchants,
on the well-understood convention that it
would be privately redeemed later for a sum
of money; and when he enquires of the
Courtier what opportunities of gain may occur,
he is careful to explain that he wishes only to
make money respectably, as had been done by -
Lenoir and Dumas, instead of imitating the
ways of Dupleix and Madame.

IV
Godeheu’s departure, in the middle of Feb-
ruary 1755, was followed by an interregnum
of five weeks, during which the Governor’s
powers were entrusted, not to an individual,
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but to a commission of three councillors,
headed by Barthélemy and known as the
Secret Committee, though Ranga Pillai does
not refer to it by that name. The interval was
-more interesting in private than in public
- events, as weshall see in the following section;
» and at last on March 25, after one false alarm,
a vessel flying the square flag of the Governor
of the French in India dropped anchor in the
Pondichery roads ; and Duval de Leyrit came
ashore, and was conducted over the sands
along a path, made of cut grass with longcloth
laid above it, to the Fouvernement in Fort

The new Governor was younger brother of
Duval d'Espréménil, the brother-in-law of

" Dupleix and for a brief while commandant of

. Madras when that place was in French hands.
. The two had come out with the fairest pros-
pects—their father was in the directorate of
the Company ; but the elder had soon tired of
India and gone home suddenly in 1747. The
younger, after being for a while the chief of
Mahé, became Directeur of Bengal in the year
his brother went home, and now succeeded
Godeheu in the command of the French settle-
ments. g

He is best known to history as the anta-
gonist in India and the persecutor in France
- of the unfortunate Lally. Butno one hitherto.
seems to have troubled to form an exact

D
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judgment of his character, In this connection
some passages in the present volume deserve
attention. Miran, for instance, gives Ranga
Pillai a lively deseription of de Leyrit. If he
just listens, and bites his handkerchief without
saying anything, he dislikes the proposal. At
other times the watchful Courtier notices how
the Governor keeps councillors waiting, how
he merely listens to them without revealing
his opinions, or how he wanders round gazing
at the decorations of the Gouvernement scarcely
deigning to speak to anyone. These inci-
dental references, noted down on the spur of
the moment, aptly illustrate the demeanour of
this cold, silent, haughty man, whose solemnity
covered little but dullness, self-seeking and
irresolution. Those who wounded his feelings
or his pocket, found him implacable in his
resentment ; but those who knew how to
manage him found him plastic as clay. To
the conduct of a man weak, ungracious and
short-sighted, family interest had entrusted
French affairs in India. It was a great
triumph, and a great misfortune.

The nine months which followed de Leyrit's
accession to power were not marked by any
outstanding political events. The country
remained as peaceful as could reasonably be
expected. The disputes with the English re-
garding the administration (and revenue) of
certain villages claimed by both sides when
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the truce came into operation, dragged along
without approaching an issue either by settle-
ment or by an open breach. Another subject
of difference cropped up—the English *des-
patched an expedition under Colonel Heron to
enforce Muhammad ’Alf’s claims in Madura
and Tinnevelly. The French declared this to
be a violation of the truce, while the English
regarded it as legitimaje conduct in country
in which the French had had no footing all
through the war. The discussion left the two
parties suspicious but still at peace. De Leyrit
was not the man for a policy of adventure.

In this respect no doubt he resembled his
predecessor ; but he did not follow the same
example in the matter of private gains. He
was curious to know who had money at
Pondichery, and how they had got it. He
learnt — from Ranga Pillai-—that no rich
Indians were left, for they had all been suck-
ed dry by Dupleix. Diamond rings now-a-
days ran no risk of refusal. Ranga Pillai
was expecied to sell at a good prico a parcel of
olibanum which the new Governor had
brought with him ; and had been pointed out
as the person who could if he would make
de Leyrit's fortune. Solong as that impres-
sion lasted, the Courtier on the whole enjoyed
the Governor's favour, though mnot to the
degree that he considered his due.



wxii - THE DIARY OF ANANDA RANGA PILLAL

v

These changes in men and measures had
profoundly affected, not only the course of
French policy, butalso the personal position
of the Cowrtier at Pondichery. During the
sixteen months covered by the present volume
he enjoyed a second period of official favour,
comparable to that which he had enjoyed
until Madame Dupleix discovered there was
money in politics. But this second summer
of prosperity was gtievously chequered by
untoward events which must often have filled
him with foreboding.

At first the change seemed wholly for the
better. The removal of Dupleix and his wife
removed the main obstacle to Ranga Pillai's
recovery of political influence ; and although
in the first few weeks of Godeheu's govern-
ment the Courtier held aloof, as uncertain of
the reception his advice would meet, from
about the middle of September he was taken
into full favour,and enjoyed that power and
dignity which he valued above money. No
other Indian was allowed to wear his shoes in
the Governor’s presence. The Persian munshi,
who presumed to claim a similar privilege,
was threatened with a beating should he pre
sume again. Ranga Pillai was consulted once
more about the views and disposition of the
country princes. He was entrusted with the
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general management of Indian affairs within
the city. He began to consider how he might
recover the long-lost jaghir and killa at
Chingleput granted him by Muzaffar Jang.
Above all to him was confided the farm of the
land revenues of the territories still dependent
on Pondichery. Ie was thus the first Hindu,
—his comments on the honours Godeheu
accorded to Razd S&hib suggest that in his
opinion he ought to have been the first Indian
—in Pondichery. He sesmed to have within
his grasp the certainty both of honours and
of wealth. :

These hopes were strengthened before Gode-
heu's departure. On the second day of the
New Year, when Ranga Pillai conducted the
Company’s principal Indian servants to pre-
sent their annual offerings tothe Governor,
Godehen publicly ordered them to make their
reports to and take their orders from the
Courtier, who at the same time received gifts
of jewels, broad-cloth and cloth-of-gold while
a salute of 15 guns was fired in his honour.
A little later, when Godeheu was on the
point of sailing for France, his promises were
repeated and amplified. He would procure
from the King presents and titles of honour for
the faithful Ranga Pillai; the office of
Courtier should be made hereditary in his
family ; special orders should be left, signed
by Godeheu himself and all the Council,
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restraining Barthélemy (the Second and
interim chief) from acting to the Courtier's
prejudice and enjoining de Leyrit to continue
the management of affairs in the Cowurfier's
hands. And all the bright hopes thus en-
gendered were made the brighter by the receipt
of letters from Duvelaer, one of the most influ-
ential directors in France. With his and
Godeheu's support at home, and with the
favour of the new Governor de Leyrit, Ranga
Pillai must have felt well able to defy his
enemies and believed his astrologer’s predic-
tions well on the way to fulfilment.

However before de Leyrit's arrival a circum-
stance, apparently quite trivial in itself, gave
Ranga Pillai enormous annoyance. Among
the Company’s Indian servants was one desig-
nated the Arumpdtai, whose duties seem to
have combined those of a minor accountant in
Pondichery itself along with the very profit-
able employment of victualling troops in the
field. The present occupant of the office—
which like most others at this time was quasi-
hereditary—was Vindyaka Pillai. The diarist
declared to de Leyrit that he had made four
or five lakhs out of his employment, and that
Vinfyakan had complained to Godeheu of his
having had to give Dupleix two of them
During the interregnum between Godeheu's
departure and de Leyrit's arrival Barthélemy
invested this worthy with the privilege of
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having a roundel carried over him in public
in return (as the diarist avers) for a present
of 10,000 rupees.

It is unlikely that the offence resided
mercly in this very usual transaction. The
dignity conforrod was certainly reckoned
great ; but so was the responsibility of the
office. 'The real crime (in Ranga Pillai's eyes)
was that he as Courtier had not been consult-
ed in the matter, although the Arumpdtai
was under his orders ; and, what was worse,
he feared that VinfAyakan was intriguing to
become Courtier. Tale-bearers informed him
that a fortnight after de Leyrit's arrival,
Vindyakan had held a cacleri and announced
his coming appointment. The tale exagger-
ated the fact ; but Viniyakan was actually
presented to the Governor by Barthélemy, and
allowed to offer a nazar and receive a dress of
honour, apparently provided at the recipient's
OWN eXpense.

The severity of this blow was however
softened by the magnificence with which
Ranga Pillai celebrated the marriages of his
daughters and other relatives. An elaborate,
highly decorated pandal was erected. On the
set day the diarist’'s two sons were sent each
on an elephant, with rich howdahs, to bid the
Governor and his Councillors fo the wedding.
They came in state, and remained from six
till midnight, when they departed with costly
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gifts—the Governor with an English cut
diamond ring worth 500 pagodas, and Ranga
Pillai’s great enemy Barthélemy with one
worth 100. Yet this splendid festivity was
“gaid to be not a hundredth part as fine as that
which attended the marriage of our diarist's
eldest danghter.

An attempt is said to have been made
to turn this to his undoing. One of the
many who grudged Ranga Pillai his restored
influence and the revenue farm is related
to have pointed out to de Levrit vthat on
the former occasion Dupleix had received a
present of 40,000 rupees, although at that time
the Company held no territory beyond the few
villages dependent on Pondichery, so that the
only persons to bestow gifts on Ranga Pillai
himself had been the Company’s merchants
and the towns-people ; now that he must have
laid all the revenue amaldérs and others under
contribution, he must have received much
more, and could easily have given the Governor
a lakh, had he maintained the proportion of
the former ceremony. If this story was really
told to de Leyrit—and it is likely enough—it
must have lingered in his mind, even though
it had no immediate effect.

At the moment Ranga Pillai’s position in
the Governor’s favour was secured by the pro-
mises he had made. On de Leyrit’s arrival he
had held himself in the back-ground, waiting
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to see what attitude the Governor would
assame towards him, and no doubt reckoning
that his services would be more highly valued
if de Leyrit were left to seek them instead of
finding them pressed upor him. De Leyrit had
moreover heard of the Courtier. On the voyage
down from Bengal a member of the Council,
Lenoir by name, had apparently sung Ranga
Pillai’s praises, as the person most capable of
looking after the Governcr's interests. On his
arrival other councillors, notably Boyelleau,
had confirmed the speeches of Lenoir. On the
other hand Barthélemy had pressed Vindyakan
on his attention and had probably depreciated
Ranga Pillai's capacity for service. But
Barthélemy’s reputation did not stand high. A
black mark had been set on him by Godeheu's
* refusal to leave him in independent charge of
the settlement until de Leyrit’s arrival. On the
whole then the new Governor was probably
. prepossessed in the Courdier’s favour ; and this
feeling may well have been strengthened by
Ranga Pillai’s attitude. On April 2, the
affair of Vindyakan broke down the Courtier's
reserve. In a curious interview he reproached
the Governor for the undeserved favours he
had shown to Barthélemy's protégé, and
declared himself anxious to promote the Gov-
ernor's profit “if you also will listen to no
advice but mine.,” This de Leyrit was quite
prepared to do—on condition that it was
K
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materially beneficial—and he proceeded for-
mally to recognise the diarist as Courtier.
Ranga Pillai failed to secure all the honours he
desired. He had hoped to be received with
military honours in passing the Town and
Fort Gates. His friends in Council did not
venture to recommend such a deviation from
custom ; but he was received with the same
honours which had been accorded him by
Godeheu.

So far matters seemed shaping tolerably
well. But Ranga Pillai was soon to find that
he had strong enemies. Delarche, for example,
succeeded in interfering in the management .of
affairs with Razi Sihib ; thus trenching again
on what had been—in the old days before the
French had become a political power—the Cour-
tier’s special field of business. More threatening
still was the matter of the revenues. On de
Leyrit’s arrival, when he assured Ranga Pillai
that he should be continued in his farm, he
had spoken warningly about the need of regular
payments. Then, when two old amaldirs
under Papayya Pillai refused to give in their
accounts, Ranga Fillai beat one and confined
him. Barthélemy intervened and got him
released. Then came up the matter of the
European sureties, which requires more ex-
planation than is to be found in the diary.

Very little is known about the brief history
of French land revenue administration in the
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Carnatic. Some documents of a later date are
to be found in the mémoires issued on behalf
of Lally and de Leyrit ; but these relate to a
subsequent and even mcre disordered period
than the present. There are a few references
to Ranga Pillai's management in the extracts
printed by Dupleix in his Réponse & la lettre du
sieur Glodeheu. But the chief source of infor-
mation is provided by letters written in 1756
and 1757 by Ranga Pillai himself, copies of
which I found among the Gallois-Montbrun
papers at Pondichery, and was permitted to
transcribe by the courtesy of their owner. I
hope to print these as appendices to the later
volumes of the Diary to which they more
properly relate.

It appears that when the land revenues
were taken from the charge of Phpayya Pillai,
they were separated into a number of leases,
given each to a single person for whom in-
habitants of Pondichery, approved by Godeheu,
stood surety. But in January, when an 18
months’ truce with the English was proclaimed,
it was thought that a larger amount could be
secured. Ranga Pillai offered—or was, as he
himself says, over-persuaded to offer—a lakh
and a half of rupees more than the total of the
existing leases. What this total was I have
not found stated; but the leases were can-
celled, and the whole revenue management
transferred to the Courtier for five years. He
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proceeded to sub-let the revenues to various
farmers ; and it is stated in the diary that the
great cause of Barthélemy’s enmity against him
was his refusal fo grant him Gingee at less
than the regular rent. However in several
cases he accepted Europeans as sureties for
gub-farmers whom they recommended to him,
They were for the most part the military com-
mandants of the districts concerned. On the
strength of their leases from Ranga Pillai they
interfered in the administration of the amal-
dérs, made collections, vexed and ill-treated
the inhabitants, but made no remittances to
Pondichery, so that Ranga Pillai could only
nreet his obligations to the Company by borrow-
ing on his private credit. Meanwhile in
November he was reduced to complain to the
Governor that the persons who had stood
suretieg for the old renters would not pay what
was due under the leases that had been can-
celled. On the 13th of November some were
called before de Leyrit and ordered to pay ;
and on the 16th othersappeared. But although
the Courtier had thus far the support of the
Governor's authority, the situation was evi-
dently threatening, and the year closed with a
great uncertainty whether he would be able to
continue the payments on account of his lease,
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SEPTEMBER 1754.

Sunday, September 8'—When the Governor?
returned from church this morning, M.
Delarcho was talking with him. I went when
he sent for me and he asked why Taqi Sihib
had not given him a dress of honour. I said,
‘ He has been trying to see you for the last
four days, but you were busy writing letters
with closed doors, so he did not bring it.'—
‘Tell him to bring it at half-past four this
evening,’ he said. I said 1 would do so, and
told him that the master-gunner should be
ordered to fire a salute of five guns. He told
me to send a peon for the master-gunner,
When he came, I gave him the proper orders
and sent him away.

M. Delarche then said tha,t we ought to
have men at Madras and Cuddalore to report
the arrival and departure of ships. 1 said I
would see to it. He continued, ‘It does not
mattér even if it cost 100 rupees a month to
get the news. Iwill also write to my Armenian
friend at Madras to get news."*

1 g7th Avani, Bhave.

* That is, Godalron who arrived at Pondichery on Angust 2.

® It was usual for the rival settlements to maintain o close watch
, upon each other's trade, which was & subject of regular report to the
Companies at home,
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The Governor approved and added, ‘ I hear
that three ships have reached Cuddalore with
troops. Is thattrue?’ I said that it was,'and
added, ‘ Some of the soldiers who were landed,
were sick and some have been sent to Trichi-
nopoly by way of Devikdttai. More ships are
coming. 1 hear that a new Governor of St.
David's has been appointed ; My, Saunders has
been appointed Commissioner to make peace?
and Mr. Pigot at Vizagapatam is coming as
Governor of Madras.® The terms of peace will
be discussed when he reaches Madras.’
M. Delarche said,* I have heard that. This
Pigot, who is Chief at Vizagapatam and who
has been appointed Governor of Madras, was
only a young writer fen years ago.” The
Governor did not take up the subjoct but said
that Mr. Starke* would become the Second at
Madras. After talking thus for about a

! This wae Watson's and Adlereron's expedition. ‘I'he  Britanmia
reachud Fort 81 David SBeptember 1, and the Kanf und Landow noon
after her. They carcied part of Adlercron's rugimoni. Watson with
H.M.S8. Kewt and Salisbury arrived September 9, The whole
expedition comprised four ships of the line with a frigate and a sloop,
and about 800 royal troops.

* He bad received orders to enter into a provision i
made no difference to kis position ss Governar, | o0 T i

o George Pigot, son of Richard Pigot of Westminster, was born in
I{lﬁ.mdmm wriler in 1737. He was & brother of the Admiral
Pigot who was sent out to replace Rodney in the West Indies in 1782,
He became a mnqrmuhlﬁumhmhlﬂs,ud'mt
honuwillmhrﬂmumd till 1750. Afier serving a short time at
8t. David's, he was appointed Chief of Vizagapatam. He succeedad
Snunders as Governor when the latter resigned in Janvary 1765, He
must then have been thirty-six—an early age. '

* See Vol. VTIT, p. 104, n. 1, supra.
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quarter of an hour, I took leave, but
M. Delarche stayed behind for five minutes.
M. Desfresnes then went away with M. Clouét.
I went to my office.

He then sent for me at ecleven o'clock to
give me a letter from Safdar Husain of Kalavai,
saying that a dress of honour was heing sent
with congratulations on his appointment as
Governor. When the messenger who brought
the letter was questioned, he presented the
dress of honour. The Governor received it
and said that Tagi Sihib’s dress of honour
could be presented this afternocon. He told
me to write a reply with compliments to
Safdar Husain S&hib, killedar of Kalavai.
He also told me to get the letters translated
into French. T said I would do so and came
away.

At four o'clock this evening Tagl Sihib's
presents and cloth, and those of the poligar
of Turaiyfir were carried in the (Governor's
palankin from my office to the Governor’s
house with music and dancing. When Taqi
Sihib’s presents had been given, a salute of
five guns was fired. Taqi Sihib’s presents
were as follows :—

A horse ;
a muhamudi® ;

1 Of, Country Correspondence, 1748, p. 87, * A Mahomodey
Jaumavar,” T take it the word here signifies n dress after the Muham-

madan faghion,
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a turban ;

a mattakakd® ;

a sarpéch ;

and a jdmawdr, along with a dress of
honour for his younger brother.

The Turaiytir poligar's presents were :—

A shining dress of honour and five jewels
for the Governor and five more for his younger
brother.

The Governor was delighted with the
jewels when they were presented to him, and
graciously read the French statement presented
by the Turaiyfr poligar’s people. The vakils
who had come were given leave after receiving
rose-water and pdn supdri. The Governor then
drove out to AriyAnkuppam in the evening
for the festival®; but when he returned at
about nine o'clock, he found the gate closed.
He sent word to the Major, and, having
obtained his orders, entered and went home.
" Till then I had heen at my office but then
came home.

I ate my supper at eleven o’clock ; and at
half-past eleven, as my younger brother® was
breathing his last, I visited him and had all
the ceremonies performed. When he had given
me his last commissions, his soul left his body

1 Nob identified. .
* The Nativity of the Blessed Virgin. The Jesuits had a church

at Ariyinkoppam.
* Tiruvingadam Pilla:,
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at midnight and reached the feet of God. He
was born in the year Vijuya, 7th day of the
month of Margali,! under nakshatra Pilrva
Ashda, at 25 naligais at night in Tula lagna.*
Venus and Réhu were then in the next house
to the Lagna Vrischika ; in the third house
from Lagna, that is, in Dhanus, there were the
Sun, Mercury and the Moon ; in the fourth
house, that is; in Makara, there was Mars ; in
the fifth house, that is, in Kumbha, there was
Jupiter ; in the eighth house, Vrishaba, there
was Kétu ; in the tenth house, Karkataka,
there was Gulika ; in the eleventh house,
Simha, there was Saturn. Pirambér Tiru-
véngadam Pillai’s second son, Tiruavéngadam
Pillai, was born under this horoscope. He
was married in the year Rikshasa in the
month of Ani, on the 11th day.? His son was
born in Nala year, 19th day of Misi on
Tuesday at 27 nfligais at night in Makara
lagna.* His daughter was born in Raudri
on Saturday, 10th Arppisi at 24 nédligais
in Kanyé lagna.®

He lived in pleasure like Indra, in giving
like Karna, in intellect like Yigi the minister,
in courage like the Himalaya mountain, in

' December 7, 1713, _

¢ For these nud the fallowing astrological terms, the reader may
be referred to Diwin Bahidir Swhimikannu Pillai’s Indian Chronology,
Madras, 1911.

" .; una 10, 17%5. s

4 Febronry 15, 1737.

& Oetober 11, 1740,
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grandeur like the ocean ; he thus lived 40
years, 8 months and 20 days, and died in
Bhava year on Sunday, the 27th day of Avani
between 15 and 16 néligais after night-fall.
Then every member of our household felt as
if the whole world had come to an end. The
moment of his death was in Mithuna lagna.
under nakshatra Rohini. The horoscope for
that moment is the year Bhava, Sunday, 27th
day of Avani, the sixth tithi in the dark fort-
night ; at 6} n#licais, the 7th tithi began ;

the nakshatra was Krittika until 204 néligais ;
and of nakshatra Rohini 26 néligais had
elapsed at the moment of death. The Karana
Bhadrava ended at 6§ néligais by day ; the
Varjyam for night was nothing. In the third
house, Simha, at this moment were Jupiter,
the Sun, and Mercury ; in the fourth house,
Kanya, were Venus, Mars and Réhu ; in the
seventh house Dhanus, there was Saturn. In
the tenth house, Mina, there was Kétu. In
the twelfth house, Vrishaba, there was the
- Moon. In this position of the planets he died.

Hamsmpe'; for the birth of his son and daughier.

Venns, J Baturn, Mavs,

LT “PEW Mmury

_'ml-ma Appiva's horoseope.
Eihn.

¥
‘ |
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i ' !
r Jupiter, Rihn.
e it e e
l | Mary, Saturn,
~——|  Kulandais horoseope, : ettt
e e e |
Kitn, l Moon, Bun, Merenry. | Vonus,
|

Monday, September 9)—The corpse was
carried to the burning ground this morning,
in an ivory palankin, with music, roundels,
peacock-fans, &e., followed by the great men
and the Company's merchants of the town.
Gluns were fired ; cloths spread on the road
up to the burning ground; and while the
corpse was being carried thither with all these
marks of honour, and during its burning, two
Brihminy kites circled round.* The ceremo-’
nies were completed by ten, and all returned
- about eleven o'clock.

I heard this evening that M. Aubert,
who has been sending away his property little
by little, had fled to Fort St. David with
M. Guyonnet's wife.” 1 am told that he owes
Nallatambi Arunéchala Chetti 11,000 rupees
and Nambi, Arunichala Chetti, Téni Chetti,
Muttu Chetti, Irisappa Chetti and Muttu
Chetti jointly, 8,000 rupees. These say they

v 28th Avani, Bhava. '

- * An nuspicious omen. See Thurslon's Ethuographic Nutes, ,

"% There was a very sble surgeon of this name ai Poudichery.
The English records do not appear to mention the incident.
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have .his bonds for the amounts. As I could
not go out,' I told them to go and complain to
the Governor. '

Tuesday, Septenber 10*—To-day, I heard
the follewing news :—

The old Governor sent for M. Dusaussaye
and told him that Pipayya Pillai had been
kept in prison for the last month without
food, so that his stools were bloody and he
himself at the point of death. Therefore he
desired him to go to the new Governor and
tell him to permit Pipayya Pillai to take his
food at home, as otherwise his accounts could
never be settled. M. Dusaussaye informed
M. Delarche, who told M. Godeheu, the now
Governor. He did as he was desired. But as
Péipayya Pillai cannot even walk, he was
carried in a covered palankin with an escort
of 8 soldiers and 8 sepoys. His son, Alanka-,
ram, who is imprisoned in the Fort dungeon,
Sundara Pillai’s younger brother Chandra-
sékhara Pillai, and Gangidhara Pillai, who are
also imprisoned, accompanied him to his
house. The soldiers stood by even during
their meal ; and then they were carried in the
covered palankins back to their dungeon.’

! Because the caremonies,for his brother were as yet incomplete,

& Btk Avani, Bhava.

* These men were imprisoned in the hope of wringing out of
them the truth regarding the tangled aceounts of the Cornatie rev-
S1UEE,
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Wednesday, Seplember 11)—I did not go
out to-day.

I hear that three Europe ships have reached
Fort St. David with about 1,000 soldiers, can-
non, muskets, powder, shot, &c¢., in abund-
ance. The chief man who came by the ships,
learning that the fugitive M. Aubert was a
Frenchman, ordered him to be imprisoned.
Nallatambi Arunéchalam, Tini Chetti, Mut-
tayya Chetti, Alagappa Chetti, Irisappa Chetti,
Muttu, Nallatambi Arunfichalam and my
younger brother are going to the Governor to
complain that he owes them money jointly.

To.day Pépayya Pillai, &c., were allowed to
take their food as yesterday and again impri-
soned.

Thursday, September 122—M. Godeheu, the
new Governor, and M. Barthélemy the Second,
sent Vindyaka Pillai to fetch me and Appévu,
to condole with me on the death of my
younger brother. We went accordingly. The
Governor condoled with me, saying, ‘Don't
remain at home overcome by sorrow for your
yvounger brother's death; but take courage
and attend diligently to the Company’s busi-
ness. The Company trust you greatly.
Therefore condunct yourself so as to satisfy
them.” Having spoken thus, he gave Appivu

1 30th Avani, Bhava, 2 3ist dvani, Bhava
2
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a dress of honour, and ordered a salute to be
fired. He also gave me presents and sent me
home with musie, dancers and players. So I
returned home in state, where I dismissed them
with rosewater and pdn supdri.

To-day the old Governor also sent for me
and Appidvu and expressed great sorrow at
the death of my younger brother. I replied
that he had been fated not to eat the Gover-
nor's food longer. He answered, ‘ His health
has been bad for these nine years, and I know
you did your utmost for him. But God
willed otherwise, so of what use is lamenta.-
tion ?’

Having thus consoled me, he asked if any
one had come to buy elephants. Ireplied I had
written for sowears to come. He continued,
‘If they will come and buy, well and good ;
but if not, I am not going to trust the ele-
phants to anyone. I will have them shot.’
I said that sowcars would come, and took
leave, promising to return in two or three
days with the accounts of our transactions.

Pipayya Pillai was not allowed to eat at
home, as he did yesterday and the day before.

At eleven o'clock the new Governor sent
for me as a letter had come from Nandi RAjA.
I interpreted its contents, and, as it was long,
he asked me to get it written out in French,
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He then gave me the letter sent through
M. Maissin by Muhammad 'Ali Khén at
Trichinopoly and asked me to interpret it.
It was as follows :—' I have learnt everything
from your boastful letter. You ask me to
release your soldiers that have been captured.
I am surprised that you should have written
so improperly. Fifty or sixty years ago, you
petitioned the Nawéib here to be permitted to
build a factory at ome of the sea-ports and
to carry on trade. The Nawib agreed in order
that the Sarkfr might-benefit by your trade.
So for many years you carried on trade. Then
M. Dupleix, the late Governor, seized the
counfry belonging to the Pidshfh and des-
troyed it. How can you trouble the Pidshéh’s
country ? You must confine yourselves fo
trade and not exceed those limits.’

When I reported the contents of this boast-
ful letter, he observed that it must have been
written by the advice of the English ; and
asked me to get it tramslated into French by
M. Delarche. I gave it accordingly to Mada-
ninda Pandit, and sent him to M. Delarche to
get a French translation. I then went to my
office.

This afternoon the Governor sent for me.
Madanfnda Pandit came with M. Delarche’s
French translation of Muhammad 'Ali Khén's
letter. When the Governor had read it, he
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said angrily, * Muhammad 'Ali Khin was so
puffed up with pride that he knew not
what he was writing. I will send him a letter
that will bring him back to his senses.'—‘It
should be so,’ I said.

He then asked me to interpret Nandi Réja's
and Perumulkal Miyfin Sihib’s lefters. Nandi
R4ja's letter was as follows . — M. Maissin,
the commander, who was with our army
at Rettaimalai, AllGr and those parts, has
marched to Srirangam, sending his cannon and
other munitions of war by boat. I sent word
asking why he should go to Srirangam with
his army, leaving my army here. He replied
that he only wished to carry away the surplus
ammunition and would leave the rest with the
army here. When crossing the Cauvery, one
of the boats sank. I have spent over two
crores in order to capture Trichinopoly. So
why should I write falsely ?’ Four pages were
written about this matter ; but I only reported
briefly the important points. The Governor
then ordered the letter to be translated, as it
was very long, adding, ‘Morfiri Réio's and
Nandi Réja's letters must be sent to M.
Maissin ; so get them put into French.’

Perumukkal Miyin Sihib’s letter was as
follows :—* Though I have been a friend of the
French for the last fifty years, yet my jaghirs
have been seized and I have been put to great
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trouble. But now that you are pleased to
order my jaghir to be restored, it is again
in my possession' When I reported the
contents of this letter, with the usual compli-
ments, the Governor was delighted.

Then Salem SBavarimuttu came with an
order for 1,800 pagodas on account of the
Company’s cloth. When the Governor had
signed the order, 1 gave it to Savarimuttu's
son-in-law ; and taking leave went to M. Le
Beaume to desire him to translate the letters.
But he replied that it was late and that it
might be done to-morrow. So I went to my
office. :

When the Governor sent for me at eleven
o'clock, M. Boyelleau came to me and said,
‘1 told the Governor that according to custom,
presents should be given to your younger
brother's son and salutes fired on account of
his father's death. He agreed and told me
that he had heard, both in Europe and from
Europeans on his arrival here, that you are a
great man, clever and capable enough to
manage the Company’s affairs with success and
reputation for whomsoever employed you ;
and on seeing you he formed the same opinion,
and entrusted to your management the affairs
of the Tamils and Muhammadans, the outside
country and the town itself. But he thinks
you are afraid of M. Dupleix and unwilling
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to take part in business. If you would only
inguire into matters and inform him, he would
give you this and that ; but as you do not do
so, and he has but newly taken charge of the
(Government, he is like a man lost in a great
forest, not knowing which way to turn. He
desired me to tell you all this’—‘Indeed,’ 1
replied, ‘ when he imprisoned Pipayya Pillai,
he asked me to attend to affairs both within
and without and to appoint men to examine
his accounts and search all persons passing
through the gates. So I prepared to attend
duly to all matters, and in all ways to examine
the accounts. But then he entrusted some
matters to M. Delarche, some to the Second,
and others to you, to M. Dusaussaye and
writer Ranga Pillai and he listened to
everything people said to him. M. Delarche
concealed some things and reported others;
and at their desire procured the restoration
of the houses of Plpayya Pillai's agents.
When I began to report onme or two matters
to the Governor, he told me he would
manage through me from September onwards,
and till then not to wvisit him unless I was
sent for. So of course I have been doing
nothing.” To this M. Boyelleau replied, ‘The
@Governor is new, and believes whatever he is
told, and gives orders accordingly. Why do
you not go and tell him what should be done
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and what avoided ? He should settle matters
affecting Europeans and you the affairs of the
Tamils, Why do you not attend to the Com-
pany’s business as diligently as you did until
Nisir Jang's death, working day and night
and securing glory as dazzling as thesun?’ I
replied, ‘ The Governor is new. I donot know
his nature, nor he mine. He has ordered me
to visit him only when sent for: and he has
given the management of affairs to others. If
now I were to go and tell him something, he
might ask in anger what concern it was of
mine ; and tell me to keai: quiet. You knqﬁ
well, I do notwish to incur his anger. How
then can you advise me thus? Affairs will
prosper only if they are managed as I have
advised ; and if they are entrusted to me after
they have been ruined by others, nothing
but blame can fall upon me.’ When I thus
explained matters to him, M. Boyelleau said,
‘ That is true. I will tell the Governor tolisten
to no one but you, and manage all business
by you ; and he shall send for you and tell you
everything." I replied thatI would not attend
to any business until he had spoken to the
Governor and the latter had sent for me and
told me to attend to the affairs of the Tamils,
the town and country business and that of the
Muhammadans, M. Boyelleau assented,
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Friday, September 13 —When I went to the
Governor this morning, he gave me Morari
Réo’s letter to interpret. It says, ‘ Because
the French are valiant, resolute and glorious,
who have prospered in many former maitters,
and by their conquests spread their fame even
to the ears of the Pidshih at Delhi, therefore
I harkened to the words of that great man,
M. Dupleix, congented to his terms, and was
ever ready to obey his wishes. After thus
joining you in war, I lost many horses and
men, including my younger brother, but I
have never received the promised pay for eight
or nine months, and M. Dupleix made false
charges against me, although he owed me
13 lakhs of rupees for pay, etc. I will never
give up whatis due, but will collect it some-
way or other. Asyou area great man newly
come from Europe to inquire exactly into all
things, I appeal to you to settle this affair,
As I place all reliance on you, I am sending
to my vakils all the deeds executed by
M. Dupleix. Be pleased to make full inquiries
about them, procure payment of what is due
to me, and send a reply.’

When Iinterpreted it thus, he told me to
get it translated into French by M. Le Beaume,
I and Madaninda Pandit therefore visited
M. Le Beaume.

* 2at Puraitdsi, Bhava.
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Afterwards the old Governor sent for me
and Razi Sihib (Mir Ghulim Husain's sister’s
son) who brought a notary’s copy of the bond
for the lakh of rupees lent by Mir Ghulam
Husain. When we arrived, the old Governor
asked if he had brought Mir Ghulim Husain's
bond. He replied that he had brought a
notary's copy. Thereon the old Governor
continued, ¢ Oh, you do not trust me then, and
have brought a copy of the bond! I could
not be trusted so far!’ Thus he spoke very
angrily and told him to go, refusing to pay.
When he had gone, he said mockingly that his
face was like a monkey's or a devil's, and
added, ‘I hear that Arunfchala Pillai has got
a lease of the Chidambaram and Tiruviti
Panchmahals, and the Vriddhachalam and
Gopuripuram countries, for three years, at
5 lakhs for the first year, and 7% for the second
and the third, with 10 per cent. deduction for
the cost of sibbandi. As everyone wants to
secure for himself what he can get in these
troublous times, who indeed can be trusted ?
No leases should be granted at present ; and
you should say who is and who is not a man
of property, for you know everything.’ I
replied, ‘ Have I any say in those matters ?
M. Delarche and writer Ranga Pillai settle
it.'—* Then,’ he replied, ‘ why are you named
manager of Tamil and Muhammadan and

3
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country matters ? Even if you are not sent
for and consulted, should you not say what is
right and what wrong ?’ Ireplied, ‘I can only
do that if I am sent for ; if I were to say any-
thing without being asked, I might be told
that it was not my business and that I could
say nothing. What could I answer ?’ He then
angrily dismissed me. But as I wasbeginning
to go, he called me back to ask where Morari
Rho was. I said I had heard he was at
Viélikonddpuram. He then asked why I had
not brought my accounts and why I was
interfering in country affairs. He threatened
me with all sorts of things if I did not
produce the accounts. I replied that the
accounts were being written, and that I would
bring them.

So I took leave and went to M. Le Beaumo
to get the French translation of Morfiri Rio's
letter ; but Madaninda Pandit was fetched
away to read Arunfichala Pillai's parwéna of
confirmation. Afterwards he was given
presents and dismissed ; so that it was half-
past twelve before Madaninda Pandit came
back and the letter was finished. When all
was finished, I came home.

Saturday, September 14:—1 paid my respects
to the Governor this morning and gave him

1 2nd Purattdsi, Bhava,
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the French translations of Moriri Réo's, the
Turaiytr Reddi’s and the [killedar] of Kala-
vai’s letters. He read them, and then taking
me aside, asked why his name had not been
written in Salabat Jang's letter. I replied,
‘It is not necessary in Persian letters. Only
the name ' is written, and a seal bearing your
name is affixed. They do the same whenever
they write. But as at first no seal had been
cut with your name, the small seal with your
coat of arms*® was affixed, and your name was
written so that they might know from whom
it came.! He then asked me why I had sent
my letter to Salabat Jang in the same bag as his,
I replied, ‘It would not be seemly for you
yourself to write of your greatness and
glory. Therefore I wrote at length about your
valour, glory and character, and explained
what respect should be shown to you. This
is customary ; otherwise I should not have
done so." - But,’ he objected, ‘ why has not
M. Bussy written all this ?'—* That,” I replied,
‘is because M. Bussy has been all powerful
with Salabat Jang. But when my letter is
~ received, I shall be openly informed of what

they mean to do and I shall inform you.
Hitherto he® has been managing all affairs
without interference, but he now fears some

tie of the addressee.  * Lit. ‘ your weapons”  * ie M. Bussy.
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hindrance may arise, if I should write [to
Salabat Jang], whereas he thinks he can
continue doing as he pleases if you prevent
me from writing. Since Nisir Jang's death, for
the last three or three years and a half, I have
not written to Salabat Jang, ete., nor he to me ;
for M. Dupleix and Madame used to write
or sometimes Madame Dupleix alone. So 1
have had no correspondence with them. But
formerly my letters were sent with theirs, and
the same was done with Kanakariya
Mudali’'s.’—*Is that true?’ he asked. ‘Why
should I tell you lies ?' I replied. ‘ You may
ask M. Boyelleau, M. Delarche or any one else
who used to be a councillor, or the Briihman
who has always written the Persian letters.’'—
‘This is why I have been displeased with you
for the last week,’ he observed.

He then continued, ‘I became Governor 44
days ago, but, although you have been the
chief of the Tamils and Muhammadans and in
charge of country matters, you have never
told me plainly how affairs should be
managed.” I replied, ‘I can only explain if
you send for me and ask me. I told you about
one or two matters, soon after your arrival,
but you did not listen to me. So I have been
keeping quiet” He said, * First you have
caused the removal of M. Dupleix and now
the imprisonment of PApayya Pillai. Why
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should you do nothing and never explain
affairs 7’ I replied, ‘ You did not consult me
about imprisoning Pépayya Pillai; but told
me of it the evening afterwards, and asked
me to make enquiry. Then I ascertained the
names of the farmers, and used every effort
to get evidence and proof about his accounts.
I arranged to keep guards on thé houses of
Pipayya Pillai's gumastahs, and had them
gealed up. In consequence of the fear that
this caused, one or two paid up what they
owed Pipayya Pillai. I do not know what
M. Dupleix and writer Ranga Pillai may have
told you, but then they sent people to remove
the seals from the houses of PApayya Pillai’s
gumastahs and did what seemed good to them.
This upset matters, and I did npthing more ;
for if I had, I should have been blamed. Had
you but consulted me touching Phpayya
Pillai’s imprisonment, I would have done
whal was needed to unravel his affairs. Bul
that was not done, either first or last. Other-
wise I would have arranged to clear up the
whole matter ; but what was done was like
tying up air in a bag. Like air, the matter
has slipped through our fingers, and success
will be very difficult.’— Let bygones be by-
gones,” the Governor replied. ‘Henceforward
I will manage European affairs, and you shall
be chief of the Tamils and Muhammadans,
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and manage the country and town affairs.
No one else shall have any hand in them.
I promise it shall be so.’

He then said, ‘I hear that outside people
used to send presents to M. Dupleix ; why
have they not done so to me?’ I replied, ‘I
have sent word to Nandi Raji, Moriri Rio,
the killedars and other great people who are
friendly to us, about presents ; I have already
delivered you the presents received from
gome ; and otHers will be received. Mordri
Réo has delayed his presents because his affair
has not yet been settled. I have now sent
word to his vakils to hasten them, and they
have written. The presents will come shortly.
As for Nandi RAjd's presents, as you are
a great man newly come from Europe, and
he also is a great man, I told his wvakil
Venkataniranappa Ayyan to obtain vich and
honourable presents, such as elephants, horses,
laced dresses of honour, jewels, ete. <He
accordingly wrote to Nandi R4ja ; and as the
latter had no suitable things by him, he has
written for rich jewels to the Réiji and the
chief dalavii at Seringapatam. A letter has
also been sent from here to Seringapatam.
They will be packed and sent on as soon as
they are received. 1 added, ‘As for Salabat
Jang's presents, M. Bussy should tell him to
despatch suitable ones with due respect and
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" without delay.” The Governor ohserved, ¢ You
must send your men to get Salabat Jang's
camp news, without M. Bussy's knowing it,
and also to Masulipatam, to Bhéiji Réo, to
Nandi Riji's camp at Trichinopoly and to
Moréiri Rio’s camp. Moreover letters must be
written to the Pidshdh, his vizier, and BhAji
Réio." I replied, ‘It is not usual to write to
the Pfdshih, but to Ghéizi-ud-din Khin's son,
who is the vizier of Alamgir Pidshah.'—* In
that case,” he replied, ‘write letters to Ghézi-
ud-din Khéin's son and Bhiji Rio. - Hencefor-
ward I will attend to the European matters
and you shall manage the affairs of the town,
and the country and Muhammadan business
as you please. I will see that none except our
two selves manage matters.'—' If you persist
in thig' I said, ‘you shall see how well and
diligently I will conduct your affairs to a
successful end, just as you have heard how I
laboured for the Company's glory till the death
of Nisir Jang ; and how affairs went wrong
when they were entrusted to others’ He
answered joyfully that he would entrust
everything to me. I then took leave in order
to visit M. Le Beaume and get Nandi Raji's
letter translated into French, after which I
went to my office at eleven o'clock.

As the Governor had ordered the French
answer to Muhammad 'Ali Khén's letter to
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be written out in Persian by M. Delarche,
Madaninda Pandit visited the latter at the
comptoir in the Fort. His Persian translation
was as follows :— You complain in your letter
that I who derive my authority from you,
have not addressed you by your proper titles.
You also say that 50 or 60 years ago the
French sought leave from former Nawibs to
hoist their flag in one of the sea-ports and
carry on trade, which was permitted in the
hope that the Sarkér’s revenues would thus be
incrensed ; but that besides carrying on trade,
they have seized and destroyed the Pidshéih’s
countries. I am astonished that you should
have written thus and know not who could
have advised you so improperly. Who knows
your titles? We and the Englisb in our
country only mention you as Muhammad 'Ali
Khin without the addition of any title. My
King has invested me with all power and
appointed me master of the ports in India, to
dismiss Covernors and Generals and appoint
others in their place, for which he has given
me a sufficient force of ships and men. In
Europe I am of high rank. The whole world
knows that your Pidshih, Muhammad Shah
PAdshéih, gave us a mansab jaghir, title, naubat
and other marks of honour. But who knows
your titles or whether you have not invented
them ? Moreover when our enemies, the
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English, attacked our town, you joined them
and did all you could against us, until you
found the task too great for you. BEven if
thore had been but a single man in the French
factorics, he would have maintained himself.
And now you ask me to recall my troops, I
will only do that when you have made peace.
I am ready for cither war or peace, as.you
may, choose.” When he had read this letter,
he told me to put it in a cover and despatch it
to-morrow.

I was sent for at half-past four this even-
ing ; so I went with Madanfiinda Pandit. The
chobdars at the gate said that they had been
ordered by the Governor to admit none into the
houso with their shoes or slippers on ; but I and
Madanfinda Pandit kept ours on. The Gover-
nor was with his younger brother. He showed
us a letter from Husain the mahout ; but then
turning to Madaninda Pandit asked angrily
how he had dared to come in with his shoes on
in spite of the chobdar’s orders. He told him
to go out and come back without them.
Madaninda Pandit replied evasively, ‘I
always used to come in with my slippers on.’
But the Governor's anger was only increased.
He exclaimed, ‘ No one but Rangappan may
come in with his slippers on. Go out, and
take off your slippers. Or else look out.
After this threat, Madaninda Pandit went out

4



2% THE DIARY OF [Ber. 14,

and returned without his slippers. He then
read Husain the mahout's letter, which was as
follows :—* Pipayya Pillai has given moe a
hond for 30,000 pagodas—For 20,000 pagodas
which he owes me and 5,000 pagodas which he
owes Iasan-ud-din Khin for an clephant.
He tvied to recover the bond by stealth,
“wherefore I came away. But I hear that you
have come from IFurope to enquire and do
justice. Be pleased to order Papayya Pillai
to pay me my money. I will vizit you when
you desire.’

As he was still angry with Madaninda
Pandit, he said, *Well, he had better ask
Salabat Jang for his money.'

He then read Nandi Raji's letter which
was translated this morning as follows —
* Although I wrote that, for the last yomr
M. Maissin has behaved without spirit, while
M. Mainville has fought well and gained
success, yet the facts which I wrote were not
credited, and I was told in answer that
M. Maissin had won five or six battles in the
country. Iam assured that you will vender
me all the necessary help to secure victory.
1 have spent two crores of money on this
business, and myself am a great man. Should
I speak falsehoods ? 1 will send away all the
royal troops, and visit you at Pondichery with
my own 500 brave horse.’
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He was very angry at this and ordered me
to bring Venkatanfranappa Ayyan, Nandi
Raji's vakil, to-morrow. I took leave and
went to my office,

I was sent for at nine o’clock to-night and
told that a letter must be written to-morrow
morning to Ghizi-ud-din Khin's son, the
vizior of Alamgir, the new Pidshih ai Delhi.
I took leave, returned to my office and ecamo
home at ten.

The Governor said this morning that 20
passes must be made out in Persian, Marathi,
Telugu, and Tamil, ovdering our various posts
to allow the English to pass freely with their
goods and clothes of all sorts, palankins, horses
and money, ete. I think he means by this to
obtain as many passes from the English o
that all trade may go freely.!

[Sunday], September 15 —After returning
from church, the new Governor summonerd
all the councillors to a (founcil ; but I do not
know what was discussed, After the council
had broken up, and when the councillors were
departing, a peon said that the Governor
wanted me. I found the Governor and his
younger brother talking in his room. He
said, ‘I told you last night to prepare 20

1 This was stipulated by artiele 8 of the Truee.  MWilitary Consul-
talions, 1704, page 22,
$3rd Puratiiei, Bhara,
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passes written in Persian with a Telugu trans-
lation below, to be sent to Mr. Saunders at
Madras, to allow cloth, goods, palankins, horses
and people to go free. Are they rcady?’ I
said that they only needed his scal. Ho
opened his box and gave mc the seal ; and I
gave him the 20 passes duly sealed. He then
asked in what languages the passes were writ-
ten, and whether they should be written out
in French as well. Ireplied, ‘18 are in Persian
with Telugu below, and the other two in
Persian with Marathi. If each is translated
into French and signed, the Tamils, Muham-
madans, ete., will understand the Persian,
Marathi or Telugu, and will see your name
upon the seal ; and the Europeans will read
the French with your signature.” Thercon he
sent for his own European writer and signed
the French translation on each pass. He then
wrote a letter to Mr. Saunders, the Governor
of Madras, put it in a cover with 20 passes and
despatched it at once by a chobdar to Madras.

He then asked why Venkataniranappa
Ayyan, the Mysore vakil, had been constantly
visiting M. Dupleix, the former Governor. I
explained that M. Dupleix had sent for him
about business every three or four days, but
not for the last ten days. I added that Morfri
Rio’s vakils often visited him about their

business, and the merchants of the town about
|
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money. ‘ Why did you not tell me about this ?’
he asked. I replied, ‘I should have done so
had you asked me. As the Councillors and
other Buropeans come and go with your per-
mission, I thought that this too was with your
leave.'—* Never mind about my orders,’ he
gaid ; * watch who visits him and tell me. I
depend upon you entirely in all affairs.’—' I
will do so faithfully,” I replied. *For these
40 years my father served the Company in its
trade and I am now courtier. You may have
heard how we have striven for the Company’s
wolfare, and you shall be satisfied with my
conduct. Never should I think of deceiving
you about anything. Butyou must pardon me
if I err by ignorance.'—* Well,” he said, ‘ enquire
about the town affairs, the Company’s mer-
chants, the petty merchants and others, and
informme.” I promised, wentto my office, and
thence came home.

At three o'clock this afternoon the Gover-
nor sent for me, and, giving me a letter from
Nandi R4j4, told me to interpret it. It is as
follows :—* You may know that Mahfuz Khéin
is marching from UdaiyArpédlaiyam to Trichi-
nopoly with 1,500 foot, 1,000 horse and 300
Furopeans, and that Muhammad "Ali Khén
means to halt nmear Serukkuvarpélaiyam,
Uttamaséri and those parts. The poligars of
Ariyalir, Turaiytr and Udaiyarpilaiyam are
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attempting to cut off provisions from our
armies at Utattir, Lalgudi and those parts.
This will put our army to great straits ; thore-
fore order M. Maissin to attack the cnemy
wherever they may appear.” When I reported
this, he told me to get the letter translated
into French. I took leave and went to my
office. As it was late, I decided to get it
translated by M. Le Beaume to-morrow.

Just then M. Barthélemy, the Second, sent
for me and said, * We must send 10,000 pagodas
to M. Maissin for the Trichinopoly troops.
How did you send 3,000 pagodas formerly ?°
I replied that I had put them 500 in a bag,
tied a bag round the waist of each golla, and
despatched them with peons to guard them.
Do tho same now,’ he said. I answerod that
this used to be the Arumpétai’s business and
asked that he should be ordered to sce to it
Vindyaka Pillai was therefore sent for and
given 10,000 pagodas to be despatched to M.
Maissin at Trichinopoly. I saw the mongey
despatched.

[The Governor] then was watching a game
of chess and desired my presence. T was with
him about a quarter of an hour, took leave,
went to the office at half-past nine ; and camo
home at ten o'clock.
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Friday, September 20)—Atnine o’clock this
morning, the new Governor sent for me and
wave me letters to Nandi R4j4 and Mordri Rio
to be translated from French into Marathi and
Telugu.  Then Moriri Rio's vakil Krishnamé-
chiri came and salnamed.  The Governor told
him that he would write to Morfui Réo, and
direceted him to write as follows :—* You must
settle all things with M. Dupleix as I have
nothing to do with it. M. Dupleix denies that
he owes you anything. But as you write that
13 lakhs of rupees are due to you, you must
settle this with the old Governor. Or as Nandi
RAja owes 20 lakhs, your dues may be set
against this amount, and you may sccure what
is owing to vou, and pay the rest to me.” The
rovernor added that Morédri Rio must be told
not to abandon the French. Krishnaméchiri
replied, * My master is halting at Magalupéttai,
about five miles of Tydgadiug. I will leave
two persons here as sureties and visit him,
explain affairs here, and return in five or six
days after learning his' intentions.’— A letter
will do as well,” the Governor replied, ‘and
no one nced go. Although Krishnaméchéiri
trged his request, the Governor only repeated
his answer. So we took leave. I went to M.
Le Beaume with Madaninda Pandit and had

v gth Purattisi, Dhave.
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the letters to Moréri Rio and the RAjA written
in Marathi and Telugu.

He sent for me at noon and, giving me a
draft of a French letter to the RAji of Pegu,
asked me to have a letter written to him. I
took it away to Madaninda Pandit to got it
written in Persian, in which lettors to that
Riji are usually written, and told him to take
it to M. Delarche.

As I was going home for food, he said to
me, ‘Go to Mirzd 'Abd-ul-nabi Bég and tell
him that he must pick out 30 of the hundred
horses we have in pay ; that 30 shall be fed at
the Company’s expense and the men placed
on the strength of the army ; if any of the
horses clie, he shall be paid for them. Tell
him they will only be wanted for a couple of
months, so he must do this. Examine the
horses and explain the matter to him.! DBut
when I spoke to him in the street, in the
(Governor's own presence, he refused, and the
Governor went in angrily.

I then took to the Governor the two presents
sent to him and his younger brother by the
killedar of old Gingee and read the letter of
compliment. He was pleased and told me to
reply briefly, that he should receive a jaghir.
I said I would do so, and came home.

Mirzf *Abd-ul-nabi Bég came to me and said
that the Governor had sent for him again and
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told him that, unless he gave the horses, he
must join the army with the whole of his
troop. He then took leave.

I went to the Beach this afternoon and
stayed with M. Le Beaume till half-past eight
preparing the letters for Nandi Ré4ja, Morbri
Réo and the Ré4jd of Pegu. I gave them to
the new Governcr after supper at half-past ten,
had them sealed, put Nandi Riji's and the
RAj4 of Pegu's letters in lace bags and tied
them up. Moréri Réo's letter was merely
sealed. The Pegu R4ja's letter was given to
M. Bruno who pat it along with the letters to
be sent by the &hips, and sealed it up. Nandi
Ré&ja's and Moréri Réo's letters were put with
M. Maissin's letter and sealed up together.
He then dismissed me and Ireached home at
eleven o’clock.

Saturday, September 21!—1 went to the
(Governor's and paid my respects to him as he
was going to church for the feast. He asked
if there was any news. I said I had heard that
Mordri Rho was camping at Manaldrpéttai
near Tiruvanndmalai, and that the English
had sent some men to Tiruvéndipuram. He
then went on to church, and I went to my
office.

1 @th Purattdei, Bhava,



34 THE DIARY OF [Bze, 28,

Monday, September 23)—To-day I went to
Peruméfl Niyakkan's Choultry at six o’clock
to have the sixteenth day ceremony duly per-
formed by Appivu for my younger brother,
Tiruvéngadam. When I and the others had
retied our turbans® I left the choultry at
seven o'clock with the Achériyir in a palan-
kin, Appivu, Annfiswimi, Ayydswlmi® and
others preceding him in a palankin, and
accompanied by led-horses, music and dan-
cing, actors, and men bearing lances, roundels
and other signs of honour. We reached home
at eight o'clock. I distributed pdn supdri to
all and dismissed them. When they had gone
home, I took food with my relations, and
went to sleep at eleven o'clock.

I hear that the mahdndttirs presented a
petition to the new Governor, requesting per-
mission to rebuild the Védapuri Iswaran tem-
ple, which M. Dupleix unjustly ordered to be
destroyed.*

Wednesday, September 25°—At ten o'clock
the new Governor sent for me and told me to in-
terpret the Tanjore RAji's letter. It says - —'1I

i 17th Puratidsi, Bhava.

* In sign of the ceremonies having been completed.

* Anplswilmi and Ayylswimi were Ranga Pillai's own sons.
4In 1748, Beo Vol. V, p. 205, supra. '
* 15th Puratidsi, Bhova,
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understand the contents of your letter. You
have not kepttheterms of the treaty made when
I gave you Kirikal, for when Hiddyat Muhi-
ud-din Khin attacked our fort, your soldiers
helped him with cannon, and greatly damaged
the fort and our country. This is well-known ;
and you too know it, for you are wise, and
hold the Government. If you behave so as to
render the country happy, you will win glory
and our friendship will increase. Return the
agreement which was given you when you
seized the country, releasing you from the
payment of tribute. Desist from your recent
conduct, and behave as of old, so that there may
be peace and prosperity in theland. Thus you
will become glorious.” When I reported this,
he told me to get it translated into French.
I agreed.

The Governor and his younger brother
received two dresses of honour sent by the
killedar of old Gingee. I gave his wvakil,
Yasanta Réo, pdn supdri and rosewater and
read his letter of congratulations, I then took
leave and came home.

I went to M. Le Beaume this evening, to
get a letter written to the Raji of Tanjore, and
a list which I had been ordered to make, of
the 9 jewels (a pearl necklace, a cross-hilted
dagger, a goblet, breast ornaments, tobacco-
pipes set with rubies and diamonds, and
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valued in all at 20 lakhs of rupees) which
Nandi R4j4 had wished to pledge for 50,000
rupees last July when he needed money but
which had been returned 11 days later.! M.
Le Beaume said that he would correct and
return it to-morrow. I took leave and went
to my office at half-past seven. On the way
T heard that M. Godeheu, the new Governor,
had gone to M. Barthélemy's to supper. So

I came home.
Thursday, September 26.*—I hear that Moréri

Réo is halting at Sankaripuram, which he has
captured, busily preparing to go home and
destroying everything he cannot take away.
Saturday, September 28°— 1 visited M. Du-
pleix, the old Governor, who had sent for me
this morning to the Fort. I found there Mir
Ghulém Husain's sister’s sons [Mirza 'Ali-
S4hib and Mir ’Abd-ul-lah BS&hib*] and
others. The old Governor was taking his
coffee downstairs. I went and paid my res-
pects. He rose and approached me, and,
calling Mir Ghuldm Husain's nephews, gave
me a decree signed by M. Bourquenoud, for a
lakh of rupees, on which 94,000 had already

' Bee Vol. VIIT, p. 387, supra.
* 14ih Puraltdsi, Bhava.

* 16th Purattdsi, Bhava,

4 The names are conjectural.
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been paid. The interest up to September 15
was upwards cf 30,000 rupees, so that the
balance due was 36,493 rupees, 2 fanams and
27 cash. He told me to read it. When I had
done so, he said, ‘Tell him that I will pay
64,000 rupees as a favour, but I am not bound
to pay even thas. Mir Ghulim Husain died
leaving neither son nor wife, so that his pro-
perty belonged to the Sarkfir. What claim can
the nephews have on it ? It was given to me
when Chandi S&hib was on the point of seiz-
ing all his property.’! He told me all about
this, and added, ‘Mir A'uzam wants half as .
his wife is a daughter of another sister of
Mir Ghulim Husain.' He told me to tell
them this. When I did so, they said that the
64,000 rupees had been borrowed before Chan-
di Sahib's coming. On this he replied that
he would pay when they produced their bond.
They objected that he ought to pay the
money before receiving the bond. ‘No,no,’ he
said, and, giving Mir A'azam M. Bourque-
noud’s decree, dismissed them. As they were
going, he took back the paper, and gave it to
me, saying, ‘Don't pay them unless they
produce the original bond. I have included
the 64,000 rupees I borrowed in the list of
my debts, and I will pay it when I receive the
29 odd lakhs of rupees owing to me by the
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Company.! The others did not agree to this,
but he told them to go away.'

He then gave me Iméam Sahib’s account
and told me to read it tohis man when he came.’
Then M. Guillard, M. Bourquenoud, M. du
Bausset, and other gentlemen came with whom
he went upstairs. I took leave and went fo
my office.

Mu'tabar Khéin (Husain Sahib's son),
killedar of Vélikonddpuram and Ranjangudi,
sent M. (Godesheu, his younger brother, M.
Delarche and me a dress of honour each. M.
Delarche presented the Governor's and his
younger brother’s at ten o’clock to-day, when
a salute of 5 guns was fired. Replies were
also written and despatched.

Sunday, September 29.°—1 went to the new
Governor at half-past seven this morning and
waited for him. When he was going to church
at nine o'clock, 'I paid my respects. He went
to the church and I to my office.

1 This passage seems to refer to two separate transactions Mir
Ghulim Husain had lent the Company a lakh in 1745 ; and in 1760 the
diarist mentions a sum of 64000 ropees lent by him. Most of the
first loan appears to kave been paid off leaving a balance still due of
. 6,000 plus 30,000 interest. That Dupleix refused to have anything to
do with, I suppose on the ground that it had been lent to the Company.
The second sum he stems to have been more or less willing 'to dis-
charge, by deputy if not in person.

* Beveral loans had been made by him to the Company ; his children
were still making claims againet the French when they resettled Pon-
dichery in 1765.

317th Purattdsi, Bhova,
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When he returned, he sent for me and for
the - Company’s merchants and said, ‘Mr.
Saunders, the Governor of Madras, has sent
20 passes, so that our trade may not be
hindered, saying that he would attack any
one who did so.” So saying, he gave ten pass-
ports to the merchants and told them
to procure goods quickly. They received
them and took leave, saying that they would
send for goods to Arni, Kunnattir, Saidapet,
Salem, Udaiyérpdlaiyam, Chidambaram, Shi-
yvAli and other places. He replied that no
goods had yet been provided for the ship
sailing this month. They replied that they
had only received an advance a month ago,
that the pagodas could have only just reached
distant places by now, and that the cloth had
yet to be made. ‘Get it quickly, he said, and
dismissed them. They then went away. It
remains to be seen what effect will be pro-
duced by the 20 passes that have been sent by
the English in return for ours. The passports
are written in Persian above, with the Persian
seal close to one side, and in Telugu under-
neath. It is written in English on the back,
and signed by Thomas Saunders underneath.
The Persian seal has the inscription, ‘ Thomas
Saunders, Governor of the port of Chenna-
patnam.’ I write this so that all may know.
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Monday, September 30)—M. Godeheu told
me to-day that the English and French had
agreed to exchange 20 passes so that trade
should not be hindered, that they had
arranged a fruce for 3 months, each nation
keeping possession of the countries and forts
which it held, and that, if peace had not
been made within this time, they would begin
fighting again. So I have written this news
and published it in the several villages and
among the merchants according to his orders.

I hear from Madras that Mr. Morse has
arranged the pay for the seamen on the
men-of-war and for the soldiers, majors,
commanders and others who came this year
from Europe, on condition of his receiving 5
percent. He has taken ship for Fort 8t. David.*
Muhammad °'Ali Khin has sent to Mr.
Saunders a naubat, 12 horges, an elephant, a
dress of honour and other insignia, which are
being kept at the writer's garden.?

' 18th Puratides, Bhava,

* He scted as agent for the pay, ete,, of the squadron

* CL. Love's Festiges of Old Madras, Vel.II, p. 432. This was in
imitation of the French Governor who had enjoyed the privilage
mince 1742, :
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OCTOBER 1754.

Tuesday, October 1’—At nine o’clock this
morning I went to M. Godehou, the new
Governor, to get the Tanjore Réji’s letter
sealed, and obtain a lace bag. I put the letter
into it and delivered it to the Governor.

When news came that Mir S&hib® of Era-
vasanalltir fort had defeated the poligar of
Venkatammélpéitai, who is called * the sledge-
hammer, and taken two horses from him, he
was ordered to send them in here. They
arrived last night. When M. Godeheu was told
this morning that they had not been placed in
his stables, he ordered them to be delivered to
the Topass horse-keeper. I did so. When I
was leaving for my office, M. Godehen again
gsent for me and gave me the Tanjore Riji's
and Muhammad 'Ali Khan's letters to be sent
to Tanjore and Trichinopoly respectively. I
therefore called Néigayyan who had come
from Kondiyimpéttai in the Trichinopoly

1imh Purafldsi, Bhave.

* He had been a captain of French sepoys, and had been entrosted
with the command of Eraviisanallfr by Dupleix, He is mentioned
under the names of Mir 3fhib, My’ Alam-ud-din Hoszain, and Mir "Abd-
nl-rahmiin ; he must not however be identified with Shaikh *Abd-ul-
rahmin, who was at this time in serviee with Bildji Rio. Bhortly
after this time, Mir Sthib, like Yisaf Khin, rebelled agninst his
employers and was slain.

6
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country, and sent him with two harkaras and
my letters, instructing them to deliver the
Tanjore Riji's and Muhammad 'Ali Khén's
letters, and return with the replies. They
took leave saying that they would go as soon
as they had eaten.

At three o'clock, I was sent for and told to
gend the Tanjore Réiji's letter but return that
for Muhammad 'Ali Khin. As the Brihman
harkaras were about to start, I sent for them
and told them to give me back Muhammad
'Ali Khéin's letter and set out for Tanjore with
the RAji’s letter. I then took leave and went
to my office.

Monday, October 7)—The new Governor
sent for me at ten o'clock and told me to read
him Nandi RAji's lefter. I interpreted it as
follows :—* M. Maissin, the commandant, has
come and told me that you have recalled his
troops and that he must go. He is transport-
ing his stores over the Coleroon. I amundone
if you do this, and shall incur the displeasure
of the Government. I thought the French
were strong, brave, and careful of their pro-
mises ; so I spent large sums and came here
at great cost. I will give suitable hostages for
the 15 lakhs of rupees owing to you together
with the cost of sibbandis if you will capture

* g5th Purattdsi, Bhava,
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the Trichinopoly fort and give it to me; or
else I will pay what is due to you out of the
60 lakhs of rupees which the enemy offered to
pay when Thina Singh went to him, and so
redeem my promises. Therefore order your
army to stay here for ancther 15 days instead
of marching at once. This is my request.
You have succeeded the Governor who for-
merly managed the Company's affairs, and I
am confident you willdo as I desire. Even
the Padshidh has not so great an army as
yours ; and if only you would attack the
enemy, Trichinopoly would be taken. But if
you recall your troops against my wishes, I
shall be ruined and unable to pay you.'

When I reported the contents, he told me
to reply, as follows :— If you will pay my
troops from the time of their joining you, and
pay them regularly every month in future, I
will allow them to remain ; else I must recall
them. We and the English have agreed on a
truce for three months, and thereafter war
will be renewed or peace be made. You may
then fight. If you get the 60 lakhs of rupees
which were offered you, what cannot be done
with the help of g0 much money?’ I wrote
thus accordingly.

At half-past three the Mysore dalavhi
Dévarija Udaiyéir's and Nandi R4ji’s presents
for the Governor and his younger brother
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which had been kept in Ella Pillai’s Choultry,
were brought in two of the Company's palan-
kins, according to the Governor's orders, by
his secretary M. [ ]1(I do not know his
name)and Venkatanfiranappayyan (the Mysoro
vakil) accompanied by flags, music, dancing
and stage-people. The procession passed down
+ my street, and the presents were taken to the
Governor's house by the southern gate. A
salute of 11 guns was fired. He asked if such
salutes were fired when the former Gov-
ernor received presents. I said, ‘ Yes." So he
ordered thesame tobe done. Dévarija Udaiyir
and Nandi R4jd gave the Governor and his
younger brother two dresses of honour each,
four in all, richly flowered with gold, together

with the following jewels :— .
‘ Pagodas.
A turra valued at e 240
A sarpéeh valued at 75
A pendant valued at ... 175

Another pendant valued at 100
Altogether 600 °*

Also an elephant with one tusk ; two horses
for the Governor ; and a horse for his younger

brother.

Sie.

S M - -
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These presents were sent under the escort
of 100 horse and 300 military belonging to
Nandi Rajié and Damméji Pandit, the vakil.
The Governor ordered themm to be supplied
with uncooked vietuals.

Wednesday, October  9)'—Venkatiichala
Néyakkan, Vird Niyakkan's younger brother,
came to me at half-past eight, and told me the
new Governor had forbidden any to go abroad
with torches after gun-fire at nine o'clock.
Gopalaswimi has also written about it.

As the new Governor asked me for 6,000
pagodas which he wants to borrow, I sent to
my house for it and gave it to him. He gave
me a bond for tha amount with interest at 8
per cent 3 I put it in my box.

Thursday, October 102 —The Governor told
me this morning to interpret Nandi RAji's
leiter. It is as follows .—'M. Maissin, the
commander, has sent a small detachment
across the Coleroon with all his stores, saying
that you have recalled his troops. I begged
him to remain, saying that otherwise I could
not remain here with my family, as none could
tell what might happen if the enemy attacked
me, and therefore I implored him to stay a
month or 15 days at least until I could fetch

1 271k Puratlisi, Bhavu * BEth Purattdsi, Bhava.
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dhoolies, palankins, carts, etc., from the city to
remove my family. But he refused and
-persisted in departing. Thereupon I resolved
to assemble my wife and children in a house
and blow it up with gunpowder. But then
he told me he had orders to remain with his
troops, at which I was overjoyed, that you
should thus escape the dishonour of reducing
to despair him who has trusted the French these
three years. Herecby both you and I have
earned glory. Henceforth I will call my sons
by your name. I have given your commander
money for his expenses, and promised a lakh
more in eight days. My army has advanced
towards Madura whence two or three lakhs
will be got ; so there will be no difficulty about
money, and I will certainly pay it.’

When I had interpreted the letter, the
Governor asked if Nandi R&j& was really
pleased, and ordered it to be translated into
French so that he might dictate a reply.

I then took leave and went to the old
Governor at the Fort, who said, ‘I hear that
you owe something to Sungu Séshfichala
Chetti, who lent you a pair of ear-rings ; he
complains that you have not returned them,
and refuses to sign the acknowledgment
written by the country-writer for what he
owes the Company, namely the amount due on
Yéchama Nayakkan's affair (less the 1,230
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rupees due to me), and what you advanced to
him and his gumastah for their expenses.” 1
replied, ‘I have apair of hisear-rings. But he
owes me 1,000 rupees as well as a number of
small sums, of which I have accounts. When
the accounts are settled, any balance due may
be paid. That is the right thing. But how
can he refuse to sign the acknowledgment ?’
Thercupon he called Séshéichala Chetti and
Appu, and made she country-writer write out
two receipts, according to the above details.
The old Governcr, Séshichala Chetti, and I
signed them. One copy was kept to be deli-
vered to the Governor’s attorney and the other
was given to me. I then took leave, went to
my office and came home at noon.
Krishnappa and Krishnichéri, Morfiri Rio's
vakils, delivered Moriri Réo's letter to the
Governor thig afternoon. The Governor ealled
me to interpret it. It says :— M. Dupleix
owes me about 12 lakhs of rupees. As you
have succeeded him, and he is going to Europe,
you must pay the debt. Indeed I need not
doubt its repayment since it is payable by so
great a man as you; and I know how I can
recover it, since you are responsible for your
predecessor’s debts. Please send 20,000 flints
through my wvakils who are . with| you.’
Hearing this, he ordered a French translation
of it to be written. We then took leave and
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went to my office. The Governor went to the
Fort to take leave of the old Governor who is
departing for Hurope.

Friday, October 11)—The new Governor
sent for me this morning, so I went and paid
my respects. When he went to the Fort last
evening to take farewell of the old Governor
on his departure for Europe, the latter gave
him letters from Salabat Jang' and Shih
Nawéz Khin which had been delivered to him
although addressed to the new Governor and
to me. The new Governor gave me the letters
and told me to interpret them. The letter
says :—‘ You have written that you have come
from Europe as the Pidshih's vizier, with
many ships and men, to destroy his enemies.
I rejoice at this, for they will be of assistance
to me. The French are faithful friends. Let
therefore our friendship increase. M. Bussy,
the commander here, has conquered every
enemy, however strong his fortress and how-
ever numerous his troops. Last year he
wanted to go to Europe, but I detained him.
He is about to go to Chicacole and Rajah-
mundry, to put his commandant in possession
of those places.” My letter was as follows :—
«I have learnt all things from your letter.
Let my friendship with the French continue

1 g0k Puratidsi, Bhara.
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and increase.” BShih Nawfz Khin's letters
were to the same effect.

The Governor listened to this with indiffer-
ence and said nothing ; nor did he tell me to
got thom translated into Irench. Thinking
that this ought to be dome, I asked if the
letters should be translated. He replied that,
of course, I must get them written out, but
without saying into French. I then asked
him if my letters too should be translated.
He made no answer beyond waving me
away with his hand. He did not order
the translation, because he was displeased
with the letters. I gave him the French
translation of Moriri Réo’s letter and the
Persian letter that came last nmight. I then
went to the old Governor at the Fort at
half-past eleven. There I paid him my
respects and showed him M. Le Blane's
Covelong bond, and M. Brenier’s bonds, to-
gether with an account, amounting to 2,800
and odd pagodas, for goods plundered. He
said nothing, and went in to table. I waited
till he had risen from table, when I repeated
the matter. He called his private writer,
M. Bertrand, and told him to make the neces-
sary enfries after examining the bonds. I,
‘M. Bertrand and RAm#ji Pandit, went to
M. Bertrand’s office, where I showed him the
receipts and the account. M. Bertrand took

7
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them to the old Governor who said that all
the bonds were correct, but though he could
not question the account of the plunder, he
lacked time to inquire into it before returning
to Europe, and that his successor must inquire
both into that and Z#da Sahib's' businoess, and
give what may be due. He wrote accordingly,
signed it and returned it. It was then half-
past two, so I came home.?

This is what Rémaswimi Pandit has
written.

I heard to-day that an order had been
made forbidding any to leave the town after
eleven o'clock at night ; so the Brihmans, ete.,
who had gone out without knowing of this
order, were seized and robbed of their money
and clothes by the sepoys and soldiers patrol-
ling the streets, and warned that those who
did so to-morrow would be shot. It is said
a musket was actually fired to terrify them.,
I did not hear any other news.

Sunday, October 13°—M. St. Paul (the old
Second), M. Albert [?] with a few officers and
others went on board the Duc d'Orleans the
vessel on which M. Dupleix is to sail. His
property and Madame’s comprised chests of
clothes, ready money, the pendants, furra, etc.,

' Probably Razd Sihib is meant. '
* Appareatly there is some omission at this point.
¥ 815t Puraltdsi, Bhava,
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found in Nisir Jang's treasury, jewels given
him and Madame [?] at various times in his
long government, jewels which he got in other
ways—all these with monkeys, birds, musical
instruments, and images out of the temples,
were sent on board ; but each kept a box with
clothes for immediate wear and a box of
papers. So they are ready to start at any
moment. Thinking they would sail to-night,
I asked M. Boyelleau, who' said they would.
I then went to my office.

Monday, Octoler 14.'— This afternoon the
new (Governor visited the old one and told
him there was no time to be lost as the ship
was ready to sail. But he answered that he
would go on board after supper. It was
decided that he should sail at three o’clock
next morning.

I visited the old Governor at the Fort, and
asked him to sign some accounts regarding
our transactions. I said, ‘ You have shown
me great kindness for the last thirteen years.
Be pleased to remember me and continue your
kindness.'— I will do so,” he answered. He
was sauntering up and down.

Tuesday, October 15 —A salute of 21 guns
was fired at three o’clock this morning, when
the old Governor, M. lo Marquis Dupleix,

-
2 1at Purattdsi, Bhava. Sic. The date should be the Ist Arppisi,
* Snd Arppisi, Bhava.

10805
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went on board with his wife, her daughter
Chonchon, Madame Aubert (M. Aumont's
daughter), M. d’Auteuil’s children and their
attendants, M. Kerjean, his wife, M. Arnatlt
four of M. Dupleix’ blood-relations who came
out this year, the opera-people [?], Demai,
Innfisi and other Topass servants. A similar
salute was fired when they had got on board.
M. Albert [?], M. Boyellean, M. du Bausset,
M. Delarche, etc., went in a chelinga and after
accompanying M. Dupleix on board tho
Due d'Orleans, they returned and reported to
M. Godeheun, the new Governor. They then
went to their homes. I went down to the
Beach at six o'clock, to see the ship. She fired
a salute of 21 guns ; and the same number was
returned from the shore. The ships’ captains
then fired, and were answered with 14 guns.
She then set sail.

As I watched this, I remembered how he
used to say that he hoped to leave his bones
here in Pondichery. Yet now he, great as he
was, has been dismissed, accused and arrested.
‘Who can trust in wealth ? Nisir Jang, though
Lord of the Six subahs and a half in the
Deccan for the Delhi Padshah, yet trembled,
for his courtiers and the Pathans, Himmat
Bahfidiir Khéin of Kandantir, ’Abd-ul-nabi of
Cuddapah, 'Abd-ul-majid Khin of Sivanir
and Bankipuram, his son Karim Khin and
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others, conspired together to kill him ; but
the credit of it was ascribed to M. Dupleix,
80 that the throne of Delhi shook at the terror
of his name. His army accompanied Salabat
Jang to the Narbadd, 200 leagues away, and
gloriously defeated Sau Bhiji Réo; yet this
great man has been arrested and put with his
property on board ship. Such is the fate of
the man who secks his own will without the
foar of God ; but he who acts with circum-
gpection, and rofrains from molesting the
upright, escapes falling into sin. Buta man’s
thoughts depend upon the times and seasons.
Who then can be blamed ? Such is the world.
He who is destined to happiness will be wise ;
and he who is destined to misery will be
foolish. Do not the Vedas say so ? What was
to be has come to pass.

When a Governor goes home, it is usual to
hoist a coloured flag at the main-mast-head.
A few wonder why this has not been done,
but the reason is that he is going under arrest
for some crime with which he has been
charged. . . )

The Saptha Shdstra truly says that he will
reap evil who takes a woman’s advice.
Madame alone has caused all M. Dupleix’
troubles ; but he did not understand this till
matters were irretrievable, and then he said
as much to some luropeans. He has eaten
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the fruit.of his actions. I need not write it in
detail. Twelve years and nine months ago
yesterday on the morning of Sunday, January
14, 1742, he landed here from Bengal to be-
come our Governor. In all this time, he has
gained lakhs upon lakhs by my-efforts, but
has never troubled about me. In all this time,
I myself have given him over a lakh of
pagodas by sharing profits with him, by
making presents, and by the adjustment of
accounts. Thus I have become indebted to
the Company, besides other small debts. Both
he and I have copies of the accounts explain-
ing everything. Moreover when in 1749, I
leased from Chandi S4hib Tiruviti, Bhuvnna-
giri, Tirtanagari, Venkatimpéttai, Tindivanam,
and Achcharapfikkam, ete., places, I was put to
loss by the troubles at the time of Nisir
Jang's coming. After his death, HidAyat
Muhi-ud-din Khfin was slain in battle on his
departure from his place, and was succeeded
by Salabat Jang. When he had returned to
Hyderabad in April, they wished to take the
management from me by reason of Chandi
Sahib's dislike to me. But I complained that
the countries had been leased to me for three
years, that Nésir Jang had held it from
January to March ; and that therefore it
ought to be left to me for the full term. When
I and Chandd Sahib discussed this in the
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Governor’s presence, he decided that I should
keep the countries for three years according
to the lease wiftnessed by M. Delarche and
Madanfinda Pandit, on condition of paying
three lalkhs of rupees, one lakh each year.
Nérdyana Sastri, son of Iswara Ayyan of
Villupuram had offered a bond for the pay-
ment of one lakh for each current year on
Ani 30, and surrender the country. When the
accounts had been examined, it was decided
that this should be accepted, his bond was
taken and the country delivered to him. But
when I showed the bond fo the Governor and
told him of the agreement, he said I must give
him the bond as I was indebted to the Com-
pany. Hisanger was boundless ; so I gave him
the bond. Afterwards I sent my man to the
Governor's writer Muttappa Niyakkan with
the money which had been paid by Nériyana
Séstri, and had a lakh entered in the accounts
in my name. But next year Madame Dupleix
got the lease for Rangd Pandit; and when I
spoke to M. Dupleix, he said, ‘ What does it
matter to whom it is given ? I am responsible
for your lakh of rupees.” When I went again
with Narayana Sistri about the country, he
said he would only give what remained after
paying my debt to the Company and digmissed
us. As he was Governor, I could not even
demand the halance. Nor was thatall. There
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was money owing to me on the contract, and
on account of the English plundering—38,000
pagodas altogether. But when I asked for this,
he grew angry ; and it was just the same, when
I asked for the 50,000 rupees due on balance
of the money transactions. I did nothing
more till the new Governor, M. Godcheu, came,
and 1 was asked for the accounts. When I
produced them, he gave a writing that 46,000
and odd rupees due on my private transactions
should be adjusted in the Company's accounts,
as well as the Covelong business. He gave me
back the bond® for three lakhs of rupees and
then spoke of other matters, in order tfo
put it out of my mind.and told me I could
go. ‘DBut, I said, ‘if you do not pay me tho
three lakhs of rupces, I shall sink under
my debt to the Company and my various
other debts. From the day when this town
became populous and flourishing® till now,
Europeans have made 40, 50 and 60 lakhs of
rupees, have obtained the title of Nawib, and
rule the country, using the Fish and other
emblems of power. But I who was the root
and support of this prosperity have secured
nothing but debt. I can blame nothing but
my fortune’ And with my head bowed

1 Reading mara tipn for marudi,
¢ Reading dna janapatianam drambichathumuthal for éna samnas
pottanan pichathumuthal,
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towards my belly, I added, ‘ If you will but pay
this money so that I can pay the Company's
and my other debts, I and all mine will, by
your favour, be made happy ; and I shall pray
for your prosperity. Others for their own
benefit have given petitions complaining of
the bribes they paid fo you ; them you sent for
and gave bonds to. You know well what
sums I have paid ; and God knows also. Your
accounts, my heart and mind all bear witness.
Scorning to be as unjust as others, I only ask
for what you yourself promised me. Be
pleased to stop the wound of my debts." He
said he would see about it and again dismissed
me.

Thinking therefore he would be just to me,
and that even if he were not, it would be
improper to speak of it in another’s ear, I
waited, and at last gave him two written peti
tions, which he read and returned, still putting
me off with promises; so that in the end I
resolved tos present a petition to M. Godeheu,
and wrote-one. This I showed to him [M.
Dupleix ] together with a paper signed by him.
He told me to wait till the ship sailed. I took
the papers therefore and put them inmy chest,
but still visited him. Last night he said he
was leaving at seven or eight o’clock to-day
and would then do what I wished, but instead
I heard the guns announcing his departure at

8
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three o'clock. So how could I see him? I
can only continue my labour. I dwelt in
truth and justice under his government ; but
from first to last he regarded neither justice
nor truth. Without God’s help no labours can
serve to make one rich. My future fortune is
to be seen.

Thursday, October 17.'—At ten o'clock this
morning, I visited M. Godeheu with Venkata-
nArdinappa Ayyan, the Mysore wvakil, with
Nandi Raji's letter that came last night, and
the French translation. Having read it,
M. Godeheu asked Venkatandranappa Ayyan
whether Nandi RAjA did not wish M. Maissin
to remain with him., The other answered,
‘ His letter came yesterday, and he has also
desired me to speak about it M. Godehen
said his letter did not mention it, and told me
to get my letter translated. I explained that
it was the same as his letter of the day before
yesterday. He denied it. But I asked him to
read it. He, therefore, looked at the Persian
letter, at the head of which was written in
French, the name of the writer, with the year,
month and day. He said, ‘This is the usual
way of writing in French, but I have received
nothing else in French.' He then questioned
his writer who came in to get a letter signed.

' éth Arppiri, Bhava.



1754) ANANDA RANGA PILLAI 59

The latter replied, ‘ You gave me a letter
yesterday, and orders have been sent to M.
Maisgin, the commander, to remain with him.’
He agrecd, and, turning to Venkatanidranappa
Ayyan, said, ‘Write to your R&ji that I
constantly desire his welfare, and I will do
nothing that is not for his interests, but that
he must ever trust me and do as I wish him
to.! Venkatanfiranappa Ayyan said that the
Réjh had ordered him to say that he regarded
the Governor as nothing less than his elder
brother. ‘ Then,’ M. Godeheu continued,* write
to him that all shall be done as he wishes ; I
have written to M. Maissin to remain with
him, but he must not attack Muhammad "Ali
Khén or the English, or their countries.” The
vakil replied, ‘ Madura is in the hands of Alam
Khén's people and we are concerned about it.
It belongs to neither Muhammad 'Ali Khén
nor the English, but was held by 'Alam Khan
for Chandi Sahib, and has not been troubled for
these two years past, butis liable to be attacked
from Trichinopoly, when Alam Khén's people
are there.’

The Governor then asked if ambassadors
had come from the Maravan Tondimén.!' I
replied that they were expected. He then
questioned Venkataniranappa Ayyan if his

' Represented now by the Riji of Pudukkdttal.
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master, Nandi R4ji, had written t6 him about
the eight yards of cloth of gold and two pistols,
sent as presents. He replied his elder brother
had written that M. Maissin had presented the
R4ajA with some Europe cloth of gold, ete., a
dress of honour and a pair of pistols. The
Governor replied that he himself had sent
them.

VenkatanfAranappa Ayyan then said that
Mahfuz Khén was about to attack Madura,
and, if so, that it should be permitted to
attack him. [The Governor] looked at a map
of the southern countries, and, having found
Madura, he exchanged compliments with
the vakil, telling him that he had ordered
M. Maissin to remain with Nandi Réji, as a
proof of his regard, and that all matters should
be [settled] with him.

Saturday, October 19.)'—When | went to
the Fort this morning, I found the Company’s
merchants there. After strictly ordering them
to supply goods without delay, I went to
the Gouvernement, and paid my respects to
M. Godeheu and other gentlemen there.
M. Godeheu and M. Barthélemy afterwards
sent for me. M. Barthélemy was telling
M. Godeheu that the two runaway headmen
of the Kaikkélars® had been caught and

¢ 8th Arppisi, Bhava.
* Beo Thurston's Castes and Tribes, Vol II1, pp. 81, ote,
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imprisoned, and that I wished to speak to him
about it. I said, ‘ Last year M. 8t. Paul spoke
to Madame Dupleix, and she procured these
Kaillkdlars to be appointed headmen, and all
were obliged to agree, though a few had at
first to be imprisoned. If they complain of
these men having been forced upon them, you,
who have come out as Governor to do justice,
should be pleased to ascertain the ancient
custom, enquire into this violation, and punish
the guilty.’ He asked what had been done
before. I replied, ‘'When headmen are ap-
pointed in any caste, the caste-people assemble
to choose two. They report their choice to the
chief dubfish, who confirms it and dismisses
them with pdn supdri. This is what should
bedone.” The Governor and the Second agreed.
M. Barthélemy then said that the heads of the
Tamils wanted leave and assistance to rebuild
the temple.! M. Godeheu observed that the
Company could never contribute anything,
and that the Company's orders must be had
before the temple was rebuilt. I replied,
‘Your predecessor unjustly destroyed the
temple, and grieved the towns-people. But
they believe you to be just, and sympathetic.
If you give such orders, the town will decline
yet more.’ He said, ‘There are already two

! The Védapuri Iswaran Temple, destroyed in 1748,
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temples—one dedicated to Siva and the other
to Vishnu' I continued, ‘The Siva temple
belongs to the left-hand castes, and the Véda-
puri fswaran Temple, which belonged to the
right-hand castes, was destroyed. Therefore
they beg that a new temple may be built.' I
then explained to him the disputes between
the two groups, as a result of which the
Kélahasti Iswaran Temple had boen built
when M. Hébert was governor. Among us
Tamils, worship comes first. At Madras,
Negapatam, and elsewhere, the Companies
have bestowed money.! That need not be done,
but if in other respects the same were done,
within two years the town would abound with
all castes of Tamils, Guzarétis, and Hindustani
folk.' M. Godeheu | 1. 1 added, ‘ The
English Company at Madras and the Dutch
Company at Negapatam not only make a
monthly allowance, but send officers with a
dozen soldiers, sepoys, or peons at festival
times to prevent disorder. I myself have seen
this. Our Company’s merchants are always
saying that the town will not flourish unless
the same is done here ; otherwise it must
decay.’ When I persisted in speaking thus,
M. Godeheu admitted that this was true, but

' It is unlikely that the Dutch Company contributed to build
temples. The English in some instances allowed tolls to be collected
for their support,
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said that he could give no orders without
the Company’s permission, although it was
the reason why the town had not thriven,
because men could not follow the customs
of their caste. He would say nothing more.
M. Delarche who was present, every now
and then raised objections, and M. Barthé-
lemy said to me that some of the Tamils
objected to the proposed temple. I replied
that every man mmust speak np for hiz own
religion ; and that he who did not must
be a bastard. The three looked at ome .
another in silence. Then M. Godeheu asked
M. Barthélemy when the temple had been
pulled down and when the Governor promised
to rebuild it. He answered, * It was destroyed
when people quitted the town at the time of
the siege’; and M. Delarche confirmed this.
The Governor then asked when a promise
had been made to build it at the Company’s
cost. I replied, ‘In the time of M. Lenoir
and his predecessors, orders were received
from the King of France to destroy the Véda-
puari fswaran Temple. All the caste-people
were summoned, and told that a temple would
be built elsewhere, as it was in the middle of
the street and their own church had to:be built
there. But the caste-people all persisted in de-
claring that they would rather die than have the
temple demolished. So orders were obfained
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from Europe that all should be allowed to
* follow thejr own religion. M. Lenoir there-
upon said he would permit a new temple to be
built, and allowed the car and other festivals
to be celebrated as men pleased. Therefore
the town increased and trade flourished ; and
4,000 or 5,000 houses were suffered to be built
beyond the gates, and within the Bound-
hedge. Then was great plenty of goods and
money. But now there is not a house outside,
and houses inside the gates stand empty with
only mud walls. The town is so impoverished
that you cannot find goods for 100 pagodas
and money is not to be had. What was done
in M. Lenoir's time must be repeated ; and
men must be freed from fear and suffered to
do as they please, as is done in Madras,
Negapatam and other places which belong to
the Furopcans. If only a half or a quarter of
their privileges were given, the town would
prosper and you would become famous [ ]’
He replied, * It is but right that each should do
as he pleases. I shall see what can be done
when the Europe ships sail in January.
M. Barthélemy said that I should enlist the
favour of Father Lavaur, the Superior of
the St. Paul's church. Ireplied, ‘Each one
should look to his own business ; he who
governs should treat all alike” He then
said, ‘ Let the weavers who have gone away
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return and live in peace under two heads
of their own choice.” I suggested that
he should release the men who were in prison,
and tell them so. He agreed and stood up.
M. Delarche also rose. When M. Barthélemy
had gone, M. Delarche told the Governor that
a letter should be written to the poligar of
Udaiyarpélaiyam who had paid no peshlkash
for three years, that, unless he paid, the French
troops from Trichinopoly and Vriddhachalam,
would seize his jungles and country, and
establish another in his place. On being
asked why no peshkash had been demanded
for three years, he replied, ‘ It was so,” and the
Governor said carelessly that a letter should
be written. ‘

It was also directed that, as the old poligar
had died a month ago, his sueccessor should be
told to send in all the goods that were ready.
A letter was written, sealed, and sent accord-
ingly, together with another from me.

Then [? the vakils of] Morri Réo [? came],
asking what more should be written. ‘I have
« already told you what to write. Have you
not done so ?’ he asked.

[One replied], ‘ Two of us are here. I will
go and return when I have spoken about the
accounts.’

‘Very well, the Governor said. But M.
Delarche said, * His master Moriri Réo cannot

9
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remain, for his country is being plundered by
the Pathans ; so he will return home.” So the
Governor continued, ‘ You can go when your
master goes.’! They said,* Very well. But we
have given Papayya Pillai a receipt for the
mortgaged countries; a certain sum has been
paid, and you promised to give orders on the
amaldars for the balance of 30,000 rupees.’
M. Delarche replied, ‘ The old Governor has
gone, and so his business isclosed. That
matter cannot be re-opened.’

M. Godeheun seemed to approve what was
said. The wvakil answered, ‘ Then why should
we stay here ? We gave receipts, trusting that
Mordri Réo's money would be paid, and
Moréri Réo said that part of what was collected
under the mortgage must be paid to him'; so
we borrowed 12,000 or 13,000 rupees from the
merchants here, and they are troubling us.
But M. Delarche persisted in what he had said.
Krishnamfchfiri was then dismissed and 1
took leave and went to my private office.

The news of Wednesday® the 17th —
Gophlaniranappa Ayyan, Petti, Innfisi, Muita
Pillai, etc., were put in the dungeon about the
Turaiytir affair. Sundara Perumdl, elder
brother of Chandrasékharan, Pipayya Pillai's

e e

! The Tamil of this passage is very corrupt, and its meaning
uncertain.
+ «+4 8ig. The day of the week should be Thursday,

il aadiat
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son-in-law, was put in the dungeon west of
the Fort gate, to compel him to reveal where
he had put his money.

Tuesday, October 22)—At seven o'clock this
morning, I went to the Fort. M., Godeheu the
Governor, the officers, and captains, who had
gone to church returned to the Gouvernement,
and talked in the hall downstairs. When I
salaamed, the Governor asked me whether
Morfri Réo had reached Arni or thereabouts.
I replied, ‘He is remaining in that country,
demanding one lakh or fifty thousand from
the Vellore, Arni and other forts. He is
taking whatever he can get, seizing women,
and burning or destroying the country that
refuses to give as he marches through. He
has done this round Tiravannimalai, Vellore,
Arni and their villages. He means to do this
all along his march as he goes home.’

The Governor then asked the Madras news.
I replied, ‘Mr. Pigot arrived from Vizaga-
patam and became Governor on October 16.*
Mr. Baunders will be Chief Governor and
Commissary, to conclude peace during the
three months' truce. He has recalled sepoys
to Madras, leaving only a few in the several
garrisons. Mr. Lawrence and the English

1 0tk Arppisi, Bhava.
*Ho took his seat asSecond of Council, aud did not become
Governor until the departure of SBaunders in the January following,
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soldiers at Trichinopoly are marching to Fort
8t. David, leaving behind a commandant with
a few men' They will arrive in a few
days. One ship has sailed and another is ready
to be despatched for Europe, and goods are
coming and going.” The Governor said that
he knew all this, and asked whether the
people of Pondichery desired war or peace
with the English. I replied, ‘The merchants,
ryots and all people desire peace, and pray
with all their hearts that God will be pleased
to send some happy man to establish peace
throughout the country and restore content to
the people. Only the smaller portion of the
people, the sepoys, jemadars, soldiers, officers
and troopers, they who live by plunder
selfishly, wish that war should be continued.’
He agreed.

At three o'clock this afternoon, the Gover-
nor sent for me. I went with Madananda
Pandit. The Governor's writing-room is
upstairs looking east and south. He was
talking to his younger brother M. Clouét,
M. Law and others ; but came into his room
on seeing us. He then gave us Bildji Réo's
letter to M. Dupleix and ordered us to
interpret it. Its contents are as follows :—

'Lawrence was summoned to Madras, but the army remained st
Trichinopoly under the command of first Killpatrick and then Heron.
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* Although I have sent you two or three letters
and also vakils, yet you have not paid a cash
of the chauth for the last two vears. I now
gond Narasinga Réo to you. You should
appoint his men amaldérs for the chauth' and
send me what is due for the last two years ;
otherwise our friendship will become enmity.
So behave that this comes not to pass. Last
year my intention was to send my troops
thither ; but I relrained lest the state of the
country should be thereby rendered worse.
But now I must do so, unless your behaviour
is changed.” A slip of paper was enclosed
with the following words :—* A certain island
(the name I do not know) with a fort thereon
is held by the Hubshis® My ancestors strove
to capture it, but could not. I have resolved
to do so, and have sent my forces with all that
is needed. If you will send troops with
powder, shot, cannon, ete., by ship, our friend-
ship will increase.” The letter also says that
his brother Raghunitha Rio, and his gumas-
tah Mulhari Holkar, had installed Alamgir as
Emperor of Delhi after imprisoning Ahmad
Shih, of which the Governor had probably
heard.

" "The Marathas always olaimed that the chauth a.hcruld ba dol-
lected by their own people.

Ranga Pillai writes * Avisikal.' But he probably means the
Angtins, whom the Marathas attacked in the !ul]umngrurmﬂu.ld
from Bombay.
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After this, the Governor inquired the con-
tents of Madame Dupleix’ letter. I said it
ran as follows :—‘'I have written a letter to
M. Dupleix, desiring him to send the chauth
due for the last two years. In future it must
be collected by Naurasinga Rio whom I have
sent.’ The Governor said he had expected
this.

He then desired the letter from Salabat
Jang received through M. Bussy to be inter-
preted. It was as follows :— By reason of
M. Bussy's skill and wisdom, I have sent him
with forces to Rajahmundry, Chicacole and
other places, to settle the revenues, and
then return. Should the revenues be delay-
ed in collection, let money be given him to
raise the necessary troops, so that the
poligars and others may pay the peshkash
and he may return to me. If you do this,
it will be a token of your friendship.'
When I had interpreted the letter, he gave me
a duplicate of the same. After reading it I
said that it contained nothing new. I was
then given to read a copy of Salabat Jang's
former letter to M. Bussy. I said that it only
ordered M. Bussy to return speedily. M.
Godeheu observed that he had ordered M.
Bussy to return. ‘ That was well done,’ I said.

The Governor then gave me copies of
[Balaji] Réo's letters to M. Bussy. They
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say — The Pondichery people have paid no
chauth for two years. I have therefore written
to the Governor to pay the Arcot chauth and
transact all that business by means of my
gumastah Narasinga Réo. I have despatched
troops against the Hubshis who occupy an
island in the sea ; and of this also I have writ-
ten to the Governor of Pondichery.’

When I had interpreted these letters, he
told me to get them translated into Freuch, so
I gave them to Madaninda Pandit, namely
Sau Bhiji Réo's letters to M. and Madame
Dupleix, Salabat Jang's letters to M. Godeheu
and M. Bussy and copies of Bhiji Rio’s letters
to M. Bussy. I told him to give them to M,
Delarche, to be translated into French.

M. Godeheu then asked for Nandi Ré&ji's
letter to be interpreted. Before Madanfinda
Pandit began, M. Godeheu having noticed the
envelope, asked how [Nandi R4ja] had got
Europe paper, and whether it had not been
written in Pondichery. Madaninda Pandit
replied that the writing was just the same as
usual, and that there was plenty of Europe
paper to be had. When he thus answered
vaguely, the Governor observed that Madame
Dupleix had told him that she had done that
sort of thing, that others here would do the
like, and that he had to be on his guard. He
added that Madanfinda Pandit was very
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capable of playing such tricks, and asked if
that was not the case now. He replied that
Madame Dupleix had often done such things
and that he himself had done as he was told.
The Governor then told him to interpret
Nandi Raja's letter.

It says, ‘ In my former letter, I informed
you that if you would allow your troops to
remain for 15 days, I should be able to settle
the matter of the 60 lakhs of rupees with the
English and Muhammad "Ali, whose proposals
I had refused, so that I should find means to
pay your debt and return to my country.
Now you have agreed with him without my
knowledge on a three months’ truce. But they
only offered me the 60 lakhs when their fort
was besieged, their provisions stopped, and
their people hindered from going out.! But
now that there is no fear, they will strength-
en themselves with forces and provisions ;
how then can I bring them to terms? They
will pay nothing but increase their strength.
By January the term of agreement will have
expired and they will have devised other
plans. Write a reply to this. The other news
has been written to vakil Venkataniranappa
Ayyan and Ananda Ranga Réo who will

1 Details of the English negotiations with Mysore will be found in
the Military Consultations, 1754, especially under the dates May 13 and
October 24. It does not seem that they ever made a definite offer of
60 lakhs, but only considered the Mysore proposals,
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inform you of it When the contents had
been thus reported, he ordered a French trans-
lation to be made and droveout to Olukarai. I
wont to my office.

Friday, October 25)—At nine o'clock this
morning, the agent of the old Gingee man and
a relation of the Raji of old Gingee, brought
~a dress of honour. When they visited the

Governor, he said that they could settle the
business of their jaghir and peshkash. They
said they would do so by means of M. Delarche.
‘Very well,’ he replied. They were given
pdn supdri, and rose water, and dismissed.

The Governor then told me to seal the
letter written by M. Delarche to 'Abd-ul-nabi
Khin of Cuddapah, asking him to send a
vakil, and despatch it by two of our har-
karas with his man (a Muhammadan whose
name I do not know). M. Delarche said,
“When M. Dupleix imprisoned the Cuddapah
agent who came about Mudimiah ('Abd-
ul-nabi Khin's vakil), Morfri Réo's valkil,
Mysore vakil, etc., interceded and pleaded
for his release, threatening mot® to depart
unless he were set free. Thereupon he was led
outside the bounds and released. Since then
nobody has been willing to go as our vakil.

v 18th Arppisi, Bhava,
¢ Apparently this should be deleted.

10



T4 THE DIARY OF [Oor. 'S5

Dupleix has done so much like this that the
whole country lost confidence in him.’

Then a letter to Taqi SAhib was scaled and
the lease for the Tindivanam country drawn
up in the names of Rija Pillai, with Nainiya
Pillai, the writer of the country forts, as his
surety, for 50,000 for 1754-1755 and 60,000 for
1756-1757, exclusive of the jaghirs and the cost
of sibbandis.

Taqi Sahib’s letter runs thus :—‘I have
received the dress of honour and the horse
sent by you. About the jaghir, I will send a
letter by Subbi Réo your vakil. Ayyan
Séstri has been removed from the Tiruvottiyfir
country. UdaiyAd Nayinir (son-in-law of Agas-
tiyappa Nayinér) has been appointed amaldér
for the present. See that the affair he will
tell you of prospers.’

The Briihman also sealed another paper but
I know not what it was. The Governor then
dismissed M. Delarche and me.

He asked what was to be done if Mysore
Venkatanfiranappa Ayyan's affair was not
taken up. I said that as we had been dis-
missed, we had better wait until the Governor

sent for us again. He went home displeased
with my answer. I went to my office, where

I gave the Cuddapah letter to the harkaras
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and despatched them with the Pathan for that
place.

There was also a letter for M. Brenier to
allow the dead body of Mudéimiah buried at
Gingee ! to be dug up, and taken to Nagore.
His people took the letter and went to Gingee.

Saturday, October 26*—This afternoon I
heard that the renters of the bound-villages had
given the Governor a petition against Appu
Mudali which he had handed to M. Barthélemy,
the Second, for enquiry. Appu was accordingly
questioned and put in the dungeon, tied head
and foot, and kept in the sun. When asked if
he had taken a bribe of 10,000 rupees, and yet
given the lands to other persons, and why he
had not given a mdniam of two cawnies in
Alisapakkam, he replied that M. Dupleix had
done this, that he himself had only obeyed
orders, and that M. Delarche and M. du Baus-
set could explain all. He was then placed
under the charge of two sepoys, with orders
that he was not to leave the town ; and guards
were set over his house. I hear that he has
been told that further enguiries will be made.

I hear this afternoon that M. Barthélemy
sent for Chinna Parasurima Pillai and Vind-
yaka Pillai to enquire into the former’s com-
plaint against the latter. Vindyaka Pillai has

! Where he had died in captivity.
s [13th ] Arppisi, Bhava.
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eight days’ time in which to prepare an answer
to the complaint.

Tuesday, October [29].—This morning the
weather was cloudy and drizzling. Brown
cloth and Udaiyirpilaiyam cloth were sorted
and given out to be washed.

Then 1 took to the Governor translations of
the three letters given to mo yesterday. Ho
was upstairs with M. Barthélemy, M. Delarcho
and an officer. M. Barthélemy was reporting
that a European ship's captain named
M. Chantoisean, had complained that a certain
Company's peon had not brought fish as he
had been ordered to yesterday ; for which he
had received 30 stripes and had complained
to the Governor. The Governor asked
M. Barthélemy if the peon should have been
beaten, and M. Barthélemy was justifying it.
Such was the conversation.

[M. Barthélemy ] also mentioned settling at
Kérikél the affair of Vasanta Chetti’s people,
who were formerly here, by giving Madame a
diamond ring worth 1,000 rupees. Tiruvén-
gadam was fetched up to scttle the matter,
He thought that Rangappan's 1,200 pagodas
and the arecanut mortgage of 1,000 pagodas
ordered to be given, need not be mentioned.
I do not know what elsc was said before he

1\ 16th] Arppisi, Bhara,
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went away ; but his dubésh was present, and
if asked, can relate the whole.

M. Delarche accompanied Chandi Sihib's
man Righava Pandit, to present the Governor
with a dress of honour and a pendant, and his
yvounger brother with a dress of honour, which
had been procured by M. Delarche through
Chandd Séhib's son. A salute of seven guns
was fired. RéAghava Pandit who marched
behind the dress of honour was dismiesed with
pdn supdri and rose water.

I then brought Madanénda Pandit to salute
the Governor, and said, ‘ Rangd Pandit was
imprisoned at Fort St. David with Shaikh
Hasan. The latter escaped but the former
still is there. As the European and other
prisoners are to be released by both sides,
the Brihman begs that you will procure
Rangd Pandit’'s release as he is his amaldéar.’
The Governor did not agree at first, but
afterwards said that he would write.

When he was about to go into his room, I
gave him back the three papers he gave me
yesterday with French translations. Having
read them, he told M. Delarche that they con-
tained the defence of Bavaririya Pillai, Innfsi,
Mutta Pillai, and Arcot Mutta Pillai, for
jealously writing fo prevent the Turaiytr
people from paying Paraménandan.' He

1 Of. pe 66 supra. The Tamil of this passage is uncertain.
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turned to me and told me to inquire fully into
this. He then went in with the letters. We
took leave, and I went to the sorting-godown
where I saw M. Miran.

Vinfiyaka Pillai came to me and com-
plained that Parasurima Pillai had complained
against him, When M. Miran told VinAyaka
Pillai that the whole town, and even children
ten years old, had witnessed his injustice in
imprisoning Parasurdma Pillai, and asked if
he could deny it, Viniyaka Pillai admitted
this, and said that he must submit to what
might happen, and people could say what
they liked. When M. Miran had gone away,
Vindyaka Pillai again mentioned the com-
plaint against him and said that he would get
the complaint and say in answer that I knew
all the facts. I replied that my name could
not be mentioned, and, having taken leave of
him, went to my office.

Just after mid-day, Vasaman,' M. Barthé-
lemy’s dubéish, met me, as I was coming home
in my palankin, and said, * Although you said
nothing, I spoke to M. Barthélemy to-day,
who told M. Godeheu, that the Negapatam
merchant Vasanta Chetti, had borrowed
money ten years ago from Ranga Pillai, and
that this had been settled at Karikdl by

1 8ig, Perhaps we should read Rdman, subsequently mentioned as
M. Barthélemy's dubilsh.
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[M. Barthélemy] for 1,200 pagodas and a bond
for 1,000 pagodas on the areca-nuts, when a
diamond ring worth 1,000 rupees was given
to Madame Dupleix; and he produced
M. Dupleix’ letter about the bond, ordering the
people and Tiruvéngadam to be sent. As they
could do as they pleased at Pondichery, he
promised to get the bond and the money,
and on their arrival ordered them to be
imprisoned in the Nayinir's house, until
M. Delarche had inquired into the matter,
as it had been settled by [M. Barthélemy].
The written sentence was therefore given to
M. Delarche. Although Ranga Pillai had not
accepted the settlement for the 3,000 pagodas
due to him [M. Barthélemy,] nevertheless
claimed to have settled the affair.’ The
dubésh also accompanied me to my house,
told me the news, and then departed. I told
him about my petition to M. Dupleix and what
had taken plaee, showed him the petition and
gave it to him to be shown to his master. But
afterwards, I sent Ellappa Chetti to get it
back, and put it into my box, as I can show it
him at a suitable time. I write only the chief
points of what was said. '
Gopalaniranappa Ayyanof the Villupuram
country, who in the year 1749-1750 obtained
the amaldérship by means of Séshi Réo. from
the southward, who got great sums of money,
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and escaped to Cuddalore during Nisir Jang's
invasion, who helped Néasir Jang against the
French, and then joined our enemy Muham-
mad 'Ali Khin, is said at last, finding he
cannot remain there, to have got permission to
visit the Governor through the St. Paul's
priests and M. Law, and has got a promise
from him. Now that this man is here, he will
never keep quiet, but will interfere in every-
thing and especially Villuparam ; but what
he will do remains to be seen.

A messenger from M. Bussy arrived to-day
from Masulipatam, whence letters are coming
every two or three days.

A letter came from Mr. Saunders at Madras.
I suppose the Cuddalore rumours are that
Muhammad 'Ali Khin is coming from Tri
chinopoly to Cuddalore to discuss peace.

I did not go out as the rain which began
suddenly yesterday ai‘t.ernﬂun continued till
gix this evening.

Madaniinda Pandit sends the following
news i—

‘M. Delarche sent for me and said, “ A
certain European who dresses like an Arab
and was formerly in Mu'tabar Khén's service
as master-gunner after guarrelling with him
joined Wahib Khén's troopers in Simé Réo’s
service. He visited M. Godeheu to-day and
told him that, when M. d’Auteuil and others

DEIE
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were captured at Valikonddpuram, their
munitions, powder, shot and cartridges were
seized by Mu'tabar Khén, and kept in a house
in Ranjangadai. Mu'tabar Khén not only be-
trayed M. d’Auteuil and others but also seized
their money, while their munitions were
delivered up to the English and Muhammad
’Ali Khén., Thereupon M. Godeheu sent for
me' and told me to write a sharp letter com-
manding Mu'tabar Khfn and his vakil to send
everything to M. Maissin at Trichinopoly."’
We shall see what Mu'tabar Khéin replies.
When I went to the Fort this morning, I
walked with M. Cornet and M. Martin up and
down the sorting-godown. I told them I had
seen the fall of the unfinished part of the tall
belfry, newly built this year by M. Dupleix,
the former Governor, for the Padres’ Church
opposite.! It was in course of being plastered.
Dharmasiva Chetti had said that it might fall
in the next rains, but not sooner. M. Martin
remarked that to-day was a ceremony like the
Tamil ceremony of the Mahdlayapaksham,® in
memory of departed souls, and that as
M. Godeheu and others were going to church,

lie, Delarche.

1 Se,, opposite my house. i .

® The period go called is the ‘dark halt® of Purattisi—ie., when
the mmnr:r: on the wane. Itisintended to provide for those departed
whose desendants have forgotten to perform or bave been prevented
from performing the annual commemorative ceremaeny.

11
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he would go at dnce and tell him beforehand.
He then went upstairs. I gave orders that no
one should go near the church. When Bishop
Noronha of Mylapore had finished service in
the church, he went out by that gate. When
everything was ready for the next service,
M. Legou’s son and two or three others being
in the church, the top part gave way, and the
bell and the stone arch above, fell near the
chureh door and part broke into the church.
The north wall cracked here and there. The
noise brought all flocking thither. M. Godeheu
watched it from his upper story. The coun-
cillors and other gentlemen who witnessed it
said that, when it was built, people foretold
its collapse. M. Dupleix had not been able to
complete it till recently only for it to fall at
once. M. le Marquis Dupleix built this belfry
onto the church, and made it loftier than the
flagstaff. Its fall is an ill-omen. The church
was finished in 1723, thirty-one years ago,
out of the money given by Coja Saffar, the
Armenian, arffd stood till now without fault.
What is destined must happen, but only at the
appointed time. A man can neither escape
nor foresee destiny.

- The Governor then sent for M. Sornay, and
told him to inspect the place and do what was
necessary. Sentries were posted to prevent
people from going near.
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When M. le General Godeheu,the councillors
and others had taken coffee upstairs, and were
about fo proceed to the Capuching’ church out-
side the Fort, I paid my respects and said,
‘God has caused this to happen to-manifest
His love towards you. If the building had
fallen half an hour later, you and many others
would have been in peril. But you did not
merit this, and God desired to manifest His
love towards vou, that all may dwell happily
under your rule.—* True,’ he gaid, ‘I do always
seek others' welfare ; and therefore God pro-
tects me. Thank you for your good words.! I
thanked him in return. All the councillors
and others present addressed compliments to
me on my words ; but one indeed, M. Delarche,
looked awry.

The Governor then signed the pay sheet'
which M. Delarche had brought, heard mass
in the Capuchins' church near the Fort, and
returned.

Then he called me and gave me Nandi
R4ji's letter to interpret. It says:— You have
recalled all your troops but 300 military and
1,000 foot with a commander. The English
and Muhammad 'Ali Khén are great rogues.
I have moved with them and done business
with them. None knows them as I. They are

1 Reading mdsachchambalam for marachchambalam.
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gathering troops at the Fort daily, 100 military
or 200 sepoys at a time. I have only a small
force at Srirangam ; and who will protect me
if they come against me before I can send you
word and your troops can arrive ? When Major
Lawrence went to Madras, he took with him
only a few soldiers. I write this because your
commander has only a small force. Write to
me about this.’

‘When I had interpreted the letter, he told
me to write reassuring Nandi Raji, saying that
they could do him no harm, that Europeans
never broke their word, and that Muhammad
'Ali Khin was going to Cuddalore. I accord-
ingly took leave, translated it, and had the
answer written to be despatched when he
orders it.

300 soldiers and 1,000 sepoys have been
left at Trichinopoly and the Srirangam temple
under the command of M. Maissin ; and the
remaining soldiers, sepoys and troopers have
reached the washing-place near the little fort
outside.

Although there were orders that the
bleached cloth should be well-dyed and the
wet cloth beaten, they refused to do so."

bt & e S '&:m
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NOVEMBER 1754.

Monday, November 4)>—As it was the name-
day of M. Godeheu, the Commander-General,
a salute of 21 guns was fired at five o'clock. I
went to the Fort at half-past six, but no one
was there ; nor was any one upstairs. I tried
to see him, but Ellappan and Néga Pillai said
that he had not yet dressed, so that even I
could not go in. When I was waiting in the
cenfral hall, M. Le Beaume and an officer
came. When the Governor appeared at half-
past eight, I gave him a bouquet saying, * All
pray that they may ever be as happy as they
are on the name-day of Charles Robert Godeheu.
May your happiness increase daily, with long
life and wealth | As this is their daily prayer,
God will surely grant you this from to-day
onwards. Accept this bouquet with my
prayers that God will bless you with wisdom
to the prosperity of the fown and to your own
glory. Thus Ioffered the bouquet. He accept-
ed it. I then offered him that one of the three
rings I got from M. Noiial, which is set with a
large diamond and worth 350 pagodas. But he
absolutely refused, telling me not to [offer such
gifts]. As the Europeans were coming to pay
their respects, the Governor said to me in kind

1 22nd Arppisi, Bhava,
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terms, ‘ What have I done that men should
gso think of me?' I replied that all our
dependence was on him. Then the European
gentlemen and ladies came, and all went to
church. Before mass ended, three volleys and
three salutes of 21 guns were fired. When the
(overnor left the church, and approached the
parade, the men saluted him with their lances
and colours, the captain of the European
troopers with drawn sword, according to
custom, and the trumpeters, drummers and
fifers playing until he had entered the Gouv-
ernement. He sat down to table with all the
Europeans on the ground-floor. A salute
of 21 guns was fired for the King’s health.
When all had finished, M. Godeheu went
upstairs. There the Company's merchants
were waiting to present him with a dress of
honour embroidered with precious stones, and
flowered with gold and silver, [worth] 200
rupees, and a diamond ring worth 400 pagodas.
The Governor accepted only the dress of honour
and refused the ring. The old Company’s
merchants also wvisited the Governor with
lungis,! white broad-cloth, ete., worth 50 pago-
das. Tiruviti Séshéichala Chetti's daughter
and Salatu Venkatichala Chetti presented
pieces of silk costing six and four pagodas,

' Literally lumgis made of several emall piecos,
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respectively. All the rest presented him with
limes. Mysore Venkatanfiranappa Ayyan, ete.,
also visited the Governor. Then the letters of
congratulations sent from Muzaffar Jang’s sons
and Shaikh Ibrahim's son with dresses of
honour were interpreted. At the time appoint-
ed for Chandi Sahib’s son's wvisit, the mint.-
people were ready with their present, but
departed, leaving with me the diamond ring
I had given them. Then Chandi Sihih’s son,
’Alf Razé Khén, 'Ali Nagi Sihib and others,
embraced the Governor and sat down. Chandi
S4hib’s son made the following presents :—

A rose-water sprinkler and salver set
with precious stones ;

a plain gold sprinkler and salver ;

a betel-stand of fine Manilla work ; a
gilver-gilt drinking cup and plate ;

a fine pearl necklace with a pendant
consisting of an emerald set round with rubies ;

a gold stand for cloves, nutmegs, mace
and cardamoms ;

a turra set with precious stones ;

a great horse worth six or seven hundred
rupees ;

a betel-stand set with precious stones ;

a plain gold rose-water sprinkler and a
salver.

They estimated these presents at 10,000 or

12,000 rupees; but we reckoned them at 8,000,
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When they paid their congratulations and
offered these presents, a salute of 21 guns
was fired. After a few words of compliment,
a present was given to ChandA Sihib’s [son]
comprising broad-cloth, gold sprigged velvet,
jewels, etc., worth 8,000 rupees. They re-
ceived them and departed. M. Delarche
acted as interpreter and arranged for the
visit. M. Delarche made a mistake in this
affair. The Governor does not know the
custom of the country and allowed 21 guns to
be fired. M. Delarche said that presents
worth 15,000 rupeces were to be given,
but in fact they were only worth 8,000. He
behaved just as when the Arcot people
exercised authority ; but ever since 1749-1750,
the French have been masters and [the Arcot
people] have been under them. No more
respect should have been shown than that used
by M. le Marquis Dupleix. But M. Delarche
arranged for the same respect as was shown
when they were Nawébs and trade flourished
by land and sea. Neither I nor the Councillors
were consulted about M. Delarche's proposals.
By treating the Muhammadans as though they
were still masters, he' has cast away half the
glory that the French have acquired. People
say that this was due to M. Delarche—as the

-

! The Governor is meant.
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proverb says, ‘Open your door, blind old
woman.’

After Chandd Sihib's son had been dis-
missed with presents, Imim S&hib’s son came
with a dress of honour. He was given pdn
supdri and dismissed.

Writer Ranga Pillai then came with the
amaldars’ renters who were told to give nazars
of mohurs and pagodas, but M. Godeheu
declined them. Thereupon they presented
seven or eight rolls of silk. After dismissing
their wvisitors, the brothers gazed at the pearl
necklace with its pendant as if they had never
seen such a thing before. I and the Europeans
then took leave. The ceremony was not
magnificent. He does not realize that visits
should be conducted with grandeur ; nor will
- he take advice, except that of M. Delarche
who cares for nothing but his own profit, and
so has cast away the glory that followed on
the death of Nisir Jang, when the PAdshih
himself feared the French and the Muham-
madans seemed but their subjects. The
Governor has done this because the time has
come for all this glory to be lost; but
M. Delarche advised him to it. The first
knows not what he does. But the conduct of
the other shows that Réija Lakshmi was conti-
nued here by the influence of Jupiter only
until M. Dupleix departed. Since then the

12
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planet’s old influence has returned. I need say
no more.

Wednesday, November 6'—The troops re-
turning from Trichinopoly are halted at
‘Pombai.*

The cloth wetted at the washing-place by
the rains was stored in the godown and
covered up.

I hear that the Europeans have plundered
much, and shown no respect for sex or age.
Every man is as a Governor in the town. I
cannot write our troubles. I write only the
_chief heads.

Saturday, November 9°—At half-past four
- this evening, I heard that M. Godeheu was to
inspect the troops lodged at the washing-place.
So I went thither, expecting that the cloth
affair might be mentioned, as it had caused
‘delay, and the wooden blocks used for stamp-
ing had heen buried and spoilt in the earth, so
that no stamping could be done. I went with
M. Renault who is in charge of the washing-
place. Then we found the Governor, his
younger brother M. Cloiiet, and others in a
coach and six. A company of military and
200 sepoys met them at the Bound-hedge gate
with a standard. Buropean troopers, who are

2 gdih Arppisi, Bhava, * Not identified,
Banth Avppisi, Bhova.
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in sheds here, also escortéd them. 1,400 mili-
tary and 1,500 or 2,000 sepoys were drawn up.
On the Governor's arrival in state, they saluted
him aecording to custom. The minute guns’®
fired 21 rounds as he went along the first
detachment, and the same as he inspected the
Europeans. Then a bronze cannon and other
great and powerful guns, set opposite the gate
- of the washing-place, were fired. These also
fired 21 times. Afterwards, as the Governor
went in, 21 guns were again fired. I and
M. Renault stood before him as he entered, and
paid our respects. He bowed in return. Then
he looked round. We followed him through
the mud and dirt ; but he asked no guestions,
and spoke to no one. When he had finished
~ his inspection and was coming out again, the
great cannon at the gate gave 21 shots. When
he had finished and moved on again, 21 guns
were fired. When he reached the Asokasdlai,?
a minute gun fired 21 rounds. Then abody of
Europeans was wheeled round and marched
back to their former position. They were
commanded by M. Saint Aulas who had com-
" manded at Trichinopoly. M. Aumont and
other officers were mounted and carried their
swords drawn, in a rank in front. When

: That is, the field-pisces firing 12 rounds or so to the minute.
* T auspect & corruption of the text,
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the Governor got into his carriage, 21 guns
were fired. The troopers, sepoys, their sardars,
M. Saint Aulas and the other officers, dragoons,
ete., escorted him to the Madras gate, and
some even to the Fort. I then went to my
office, and came home at cight o'clock.

The sky was overcast this morning and the
sun only appeared after seven o'clock. When
I went to the Fort, M. Godeheu was examining
the sentry-post at the east gato of the Fort. I
paid my respects to him, and he bowed to me.

Ella Pillai told me that after dark
Europeans had appeared with drawn swords,
stabbing and killing many, and ravishing
women. He said that, if I told the Governor
about the troubles experienced by women
whenever they went outside the gates, he
would give the necessary orders. I therefore
told M. Dusaussaye,’ asking him to inform the
Governor. He replied that he would tell the
Governor and give orders, so that I need not
-mention it. 1 agreed.

Tuesday, November 122—1I went to the Fort
this morning, and told the Governor that a
Europe ship was still lying off Madras on
November 6. °Just so,’ the Governor replied.
Then I reported the news, that Moriri Rio

1 A Captain of 1750, In the next yearhe went to command the

troops at Srirangam.
® 30th Arppisi, Bhava.
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-

had reached his fort at Venkatagiri beyond
the passes. He said he had heard so.

Then I told the Governor about the be-
haviour of the Europeans in the town—their
feeling the breasts of, and otherwise shaming
and molesting women who go beyond the gates
to draw water, their cutting and stabbing men,
their plundering the bazaars and the money-
. changers’ shops, and their stopping the work
in the washing-place by stealing or burying
the stamping blocks., He said he would give
orders to M. Saint Aulas, M. Pichaud, and the
German officers to prevent soldiers from going
out after dusk and that he would send them
away from the washing-place in a week.

I heard this afternoon that 100 German
zoldiers, 100 French soldiers and 100 sepoys
would be despatched under the command of
M. Law to join M. Bussy’s camp with Salabat
Jang. They will halt in my choultry ; and
Vinfiyaka Pillai will return after despatching
them. :

Wednesday, November 13'—This morning
I went to the Fort to see M. Godeheu. Hewas
taking coffee upstairs. I paid my respects and
he bowed.

MorAri Réo’s vakil, Krishnaméchéri, then
brought a letter from Moréri Ro. The Gov-
ernor received it.

1 15t Kidrttigai, Bhava,
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The Company's merchants then came to ask
for money for the contract.

The sons of Ghulim Rastil Khéin, killedar of
Sékkidi,' had sent a dress of honour with a
letter. When the dress of honour was presented
and the letter interpreted, he asked why it
contained nothing but compliments without
mention of business. I said that they wished
to congratulate him on his coming with a
dress of honour. He told me to writera reply
of compliments.

He then gave me Mordri Rao’s letter to
interpret. It says:—'Ihave come hither, made
terms with the killedar of Vellore and others,
and am now retiring fo my country. I have
ordered my troopers not to touch your tervitory.
Send your money soon, with a vakil and other
persons. I trusted in M. Dupleix and the
French that they would never break their pro-
mises. As you have succeeded M. Dupleix, who
has departed to Kurope, I lay the burden on
you, and will abide by your decision.” He told
me to get this written out in French; so I took
it for that purpose.

He then told me to interpref the Turaiyir
Reddi’s letter which says, ‘ Formerly Pipayya
Pillai, Nandi R4aji and M. Mainville the com-
mander, took three lakhs of rupees from me,

! Perhaps Sakkudi in the Madura distriet.
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but then ruined the country. You are now
Governor ; so I hope that the troubles will now
cease and I and my country be in peace. But
the commander, M. Maissin, sent Paraminanda
Pillai to me, demanding 30,000 rupees as a
present for the new Governor. Fearing him
and the Company, I agreed, paid him part of
the amount, and will pay the rest. But while
affairs are thus, Nandi R4j4 has seized Varada
Reddi, and with his aid is collecting forces to
attack me. My country is broken and miser-
able. Be pleased to order Nandi R4jA and M.
Maissin not to interfere with me. You may
learn all things from my vakil Kastiri Ran-
gayyan.' He told me to bring a French trans-
lation of the letter. _

He then asked if a reply had been written
thanking the killedar of old Gingee for his
dress of honour and letter. I replied, ‘ You
ordered the affair about which he sent his agent .
to be settled by M. Delarche. When that is
done and they are departing, I will give the
reply.'—* Write a letter of compliment,’ he said,
giving me the letter for translation.

He then told me to reply to the letter from
Haidar Khén, Muddmiah's son-in-law, that a
letter had been written to the killedar of Gingee
for the removal of Mudiamiah’s body to Nagore,
and that the affair would be settled with due
regard to justice at the proper time. I agreed.
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A letter was then ordered for the poligar of
Ariyaliir as follows:—' Why did you not pay
when M. Saint Aulas demanded the money
and why did you beat the vakil whom M. Mais-
gin sent 7 Who told you not to pay? Which
of the Company’s peons approached you?’
He noted this on a piece of paper, and told me
to write a peremptory letter. I then asked
about the letter delivered by Moréri Rio's vakil.
Ho replied, ¢ Tell him to go home. His master
is beyond the passes. So let him go, but write
to him to continue our friendship and that
other matters will be related by his vakil’ He
told me to write to this effect and give it, add-
ing that I need not have mentioned this affair
as I could have done it myself.

I hear that Sambu Dis's gumastah and
(Guntr Bili Chetti are sending with M. Law,
to be sold in Salabat Jang's camp the nine
elephants belonging to the old Governor, M, lo
Marquis Dupleix, purchased from him by M.
Delarche and M. du Bausset for 45,000 rupees.
I also hear that the two elephants presented to
M. Godeheu, the new Governor, by Nandi Rija
and Chanda S&hib’s son are to be sent along
with these.

Friday, November 15)—1 remained at home
as the rain was worse to-day than yesterday.

* ¥rd Kdrttigai, Bhava.
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I was told that the Governor wanted me. A
peon went to fetch Madanfinda Pandit. M.
Godeheu was alone when we paid our respects.
He gave me Nandi R4ja’s letter, which I inter-
preted, and as he wanted a French translation,
I kept it with me. It says, ‘When you discuss
peace with the English, you should have the
Dutch and Danes as mediators, before whom
you may produce your parwinas from Hidayat
Muhi-ud-din Khin, Salabat Jang and Chanda
S4hib, and the English theirs from Nésir Jang
and Ghézi-ud-din Khén. In the presence of
mediators peace may be quickly made. If
they speak on behalf of Muhammad 'Ali Khan
and you on ours, Muhammad ’‘Ali Khin
cannot win the day, by reason of the grant he
made me of the Trichinopoly fort and country.
Till now I have not been informed of your
negotiations ; pray observe this and do what
may be necessary. If you treat with the
English without mediators, the matter will
not be settled for centuries. I write my
opinion. As you are blessed with great wis-
dom, and you must have meditated long on
this, pray inform me of your resolve.” When
I had read this, he told me to get it translated
into French. I have written only the outline
so that it may be known.

I then gave M. Godeheu the translation of
Morfiri Rio’s letter with the original Persian,

13
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the Turaiyfir Reddi's letter and its French
translation, the original and French translation
of the letter from the sons of Ghulim Rasiil
Khén, the killedar of S8ékkidi, and the French
translations of the replies to the killedar of
0ld Gingee and to Haidar Khin (Mudimiah’s
nephew) and of the #dkid to the Nayinir of
Ariyaltir. All the replies were sealed at the
Governor's orders, who gave them to Mada-
nfinda Pandit to be delivered to those who had
brought the letters. When the #dkid for the
Ariyaltr Nayinir was given to the Governor,
he told me to have it despatched myseclf, so
I took it.

Sunday, November 17'—When I was pass-
ing the Madras gate, I heard that Vinfiyaka
Pillai and Krishna Réio were on their way in
a palankin to Potti Pathan Choultry, where
M. Law, etc., were halting with their army on
their way to Salabat Jang's camp at Hyderabad.
Krishna Rio is accompanying M. Law to
Hyderabad, and Vinfyaka Pillai will go with
M. Law as far as Sadras by the Governor's
orders. I also hear that VinAyaka Pillai was
asked to accompany M. Law to Hyderabad but
replied that it was usual to send others as he
had affairs to manage here ; he was again told
angrily that others could do his business here

' 5th Karitigai, Bhara,
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and that he must go ; thereupon M. Delarche
told Vindyaka Pillai to go as far as Sadras and
return ; so Vindyaka Pillai will do accordingly.

M. Godehen went into his room, so I and
M. Cornet took leave of him. The latter then
said, * You owe money to the Company over
the coral and broad-cloth business! When
money had been sent out to distant places,
there arose the English troubles, the despatch
of troops to slay Anwar-ud-din Khin, the
arrival of Nisir Jang six months later, his
death, the death of HidAyat Muhi-nd-din
Khiin and others, and that of Chandé Sihib,
ete.,, at Trichinopoly, so that the balances
could not be asked and collected. Owing to
these troubles, the country has gone to ruin.
Moneys due from several places have been
lost. If you will state all this in a petition,
yvou will be excused payment. Moreover
M. Boyellean has complaints against the
former Gowvernor; and a new Governor will
break the noses of all who complain in future.
Show me your petition.,” I agreed to do so,
and taking leave, went to my office.

Saturday, November 23.°—I heard to-day it
had been decided at yesterday morning’s
council that the Tamils should give up to
Turopeans who want them their houses east

1 A loug-standing debt, as will be seen.
= 11¢h Kiritigai, Bhave.
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of the canal and west of the ligquor-godown
at cost price, and that, in return, the Tamils
would be given lands and gardens in Pavala-
péttai ; a wall is to be built with three gates
separating the Tamil from the European
gquarter. The town before was in a miscrable
state. Tver since the English troubles, that is,
for the last ten years, there has been no trade.
There have been famines. Men have been
afflicted and full of cares. As astrologors
have said, by the influence of Saturn men
have suffered troubles. Pondichery is not
what it formerly was, but is now decaying ; ity
inhabitants are afflicted. Moreover the lands
in Pavalapéttai, Miripalli, etc, have been
acquired and given away. Thus the towns-
people are indeed in great straits. M. Lenoir
beautified the town by converting huts into
houses of stone. The town, which stretched
but a quarter of a mile before, became about
two miles long. The town where the Goddess
Lakshmi used to dance has been decaying
these Jast three years, and this year the rains
brought great losses. So men speak. As the
“council has decided fo give all the Tamils’
houses to the Europeans, and it has been pro-
claimed by beat of tom-tom that the houses
which have fallen down shall not be rebuilt,
the anxiety is indescribable. I write briefly
what people are saying.
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Monday, November 25.'—[On a separate sheet
is written :— The diary was commenced on
13th Karttigai, Bhava, corresponding to Mon-
day, November 25." *] _

Tuesday, November 26°—When I was in
the sorting-godown this morning, M. Miran
who was writing in the compfoir, having
learnt that I had come, called me in and asked
me to sit down. He said, ‘ The rains and wind
have done some damage in Negapatam, Védé-
ranyam and other sea-ports to the southward.
On the banks.of the Gadilam near Fort St.
David, Cuddalore and Manjakuppam, a new
town sprang up during the French and English
troubles,* and the rich built houses there to
live in. The floods were so great that the in-
habitants had to carry off their goods and
escape to European and other houses on high
ground. Some left their clothes, goods and
money behind ; others saved their valuables.
Things were carried away by the floods and
buried, or left on other men's ground. So
there was much loss there. The floods
were only half as great in Vandipilaiyam,
Tiruppippuliytr, Cuddalore, etc.; but still

 15th Kdrttigal, Bhara,

2 After this oceur rough notes relating to the period December
§—7. These are printed as foot-notes under those dates. I think the
compilation of the diary must have fallen into some coufusion at this
time, probably from delay in writing up the rough notes,

* 14th Karttigai, Bhava.

4 The modern * New Town.'
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much damage was done. No lives were lost as
the floods came by day. It was published by
beat of tom-tom that all property carried away
‘by the Hoods should be restored to the propor
owncers, under pain of punishment or fine.
The French and English factories at Porto
Novo have been washed away. Thereis thirty
feet of water in the Dutch factory, so they are
going to build a factory in the washing-place.
Yesterday afternoon, M. Godeheu received a
letter from our European at Porto Novo. He
was talking to M. Dargy at table about build-
ing a factory on some other site; but they
can’t do it ; the Dutch are best at trade and
building purposes ; the English may be half as
good as the Dutch ; but the French are incapa-
ble of trade or government or administration ;
they lose their temper too easily. But I said
nothing, except that if they did build a factory,
it would soon be closed again.’

We also tallkked about painting taffetas, and
the continuance of rain. He observed, ‘ There
ig little to doin the Fort even in fine weather ;
and who will come in the rain ? He will not
want you. You had better go.” So,I took
leave and went to my office.

Wednesday, November 27.'—After coffee this
morning, the Governor took me into his

i 15th Kdrtfigai, Bhava,
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cabinet and gave me a Turaiytr letter to be
interpreted, as Madaninda Pandit was not
present. Iinterpreted it and he told me to get
it translated into French. I agreed and took
leave. It says, ‘ After your coming, I sent a
dress of honour and six letters by a vakil. I
have not received a reply to any of them. All
the poligars under Trichinopoly are obeying
Muhammad 'Ali Khin, whois in the Fort there.
1 alone trusted the French to keep their word,
and thought myself safe under their protec-
tion. But Nandi Riji and your Frenchmen
have taken three lakhs of rupees from me,
thrice plundered my country, and then
demanded more money as a nazar on your
arrival as Governor. - Although my country
was ruined, I gave M. Maissin somecthing by
Paraménanda Pillai. I will pay the balance.
When this is ‘so, with the help of my people
Nandi Réjd proposes to collect forces and
attack my -country again. Write to Nandi
Réjaand M. Maissin not to interfere with me.’
I sent for Mariadoss,' told him to get the letter
translated into French and went to my office.
Thursday, November 28*—This morning I
went to the Governor and gave him the French
translation and the originals of the Turaiytr

' Probably Maridis Pillai, who was later on very active in supply-
ing French enquirers with information regarding Hindo antiquities
and customs, See the Revue Hirtorique de I' Tude Frangaice, 1920,

& 16ih Karttigai, Bhava,
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letter given me yesterday for translation, as
well as Nandi Raja's letter received on Novem-
ber 16, and ordered to be translated into French,
but which I had kept with me owing to the
rains. IHe took them and told me to have a
reply written to the Turaiyir Reddi in the
following terms :—‘I have instructed Nandi
R4jA and M. Maissin, the commander, not to
meddle with you and you may be at peace.” I
said T would bring it to-morrow morning, and
explained that the coral merchants, whom he
had ordered me yesterday to bring, were
suffering from fever.

Friday, November 29)—At three o'clock
this afternoon one of the Governor's peons
came for me. When I went, M. (Godchen's
younger brother and M. Boyelleau said, ‘We
sent for you by the Governor's orders; as
M. Guyonnet heard yesterday that M. Albert
was detaining his wife and sons. As Ganjam is
in Vijayarima Riji's country, please write in
M. Godeheu’s name to Vijayarima R4ji that
the two children should be delivered to the
men who would bring a letter from M. Moracin
at Masulipatam® This is why we sent for

L 17th Kiirttigad, Bhoeva,

* The four Northern Circars’ had been ceded to Bussy at the
end of 1753 : and he was ut this very time engaged in settling them,
Vijayarima Raji had been allowed to rent the two circars of
Rajahmundry and Chicacole, in the latter of which was Ganjam.
But I can throw no forther light on the incidont. Albert may have
been one of the vagrant Europeans in Vijayarima Riji's service.
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yvou.! I had the letter written accordingly in
Persian by Madaninda Pandit. The Gover-
nor's younger brother got the seal from
the Governor and had the letter sealed.
. Then I took leave. The Governor at first
refused to give the seal; but when M.
Boyelleau was told, he ordered the contents to
be written out [in French] on paper. The
Governor's younger brother then went again
but returned without it as the Governor said
that everything could be done to-morrow.
The Governor was at last persuaded to give it
as the Bunder messenger was about to set out.
The seal was thus obtained after much trouble
and returned again. In this trifling affair, the
Governor did not trust even the Councillor.
I know not what he would have done in an
important matter.

14
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DECEMBER 1754

Tuesday, December 3.)—As a truce was made
between the English and French for three
months from October 11, in order to arrange a
peace, most of the sepoys, guards and troopers,
ete., who had been posted in the several pargan-
nahs, were discharged. The rest have not
been paid for a month or a month and a half ;
but there was none to guestion it. Five or
six days ago they were summoned and
told that their pay would be delivered
when the rolls had been made up. I also
hear that new enlistments have been ordered
and the Pathans desired to send troops for
their [camps]. I think that some diffcrence
must have arisen between the English and
French about the peace-terms. If remains to
be seen what happens.

Wednesday, December 4'—This morning

the Governor told me to interpret the letter

\ 21t Kdrttigai, Bhava.

% 28nd Kdrttigai, Bhava,

Below are printed rough notes of the diary which occur sarlier.
The Tamil is most obscure in parts. “ On the morning of Wednesday,
the 220d, the Governor sent for M. Boyelleau and told him 1o pack in
8 bags 1,400 rupees for Srirangam, 427 rupees and 6 fanams for Vrid-
dhachalam and 248 rupees for Gingee, and have them despaiched with
lettars. M. Boyellean mentioned my jaghir to which the Governor
roplied ; the Toraiylr letter wos sealed ; Shaikh Ibrihim asked
whether the sowcars who owned elephants at Porto Nove might
oarry them out that way, and a reply was given

At three o'clock in the afternoon of Wednesday, the 22nd, the
Governor sent for me and told me to get the French letter for Nandi
RAjA translated into Telugn.

As you are treating for peace with the English, kindly ]
sbout my jaghir { 1"

PN, ]
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sent by the Pathans who have landed
elephants at Porto Novo. They desire - the
Amils to be ordered to collect only the usual
customs on the route to Bhuvanagiri, etc.,
villages. The Governor told me to reply that
the commander had been ordered to take only
the usual customs, that the latter would give
the necessary orders to the dmils, and that
therefore the #amils could take away their
elephants without trouble. It was written at
once, sealed and given to head-peon.

M. Boyelleau afterwards sent for me a.nd
gave me three small bags of rupees saying,
‘M. Godeheu told me to give you these to be
gent to Srirangam, Vriiddhachalam and
(ingee. The bag of 1,400 and odd rupees is
for the sick at Srirangam, the bag of 640 and.
odd for those at Vriddhachalam and that of
248, for Gingee. After a short silence,
M. Boyelleau said, ‘Peace is now being dis-
cussed. Have you shown the Governor
the parwéna for your own and your son
Anniswimi's jaghirs, and the killa and a
mansab jaghir, which have been seized by the
English? '* I replied, ‘I thought it would have
been mentioned in February of last year when
M. Dupleix sent to Sadras Father Lavaur (the
Superior of St. Paul’s church), M. du Bausset,

! These lands seem to have been near Ghmglapllﬁ. C‘E Vol "'i"'I
PP 207-208 and 211 ; Vol. VIL, p. 441
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M. Kerjean and other Europeans to discuss
peace. Besides M. Godeheu has all the papers
about it, so I thought it needless to say any-
thing ; and I might be asked how I had
learnt of the secret proceedings with the
English respecting my jaghir and killa or I
might be told that the parwina would be
obtained when everything was settled. These
were the reasons of my waiting.'—* You are
wrong,’ he answered ; ‘you must speak to
him."—*' I will write it out in French and show
it to you' I said. ‘Never mind that,’ he
sreplied, ‘ I will speak about it.” He then went
up to M. Godeheu, when the latter came out of
his room, and spoke with him. M. Boyelleau
afterwards told me that the Governor
understood the -whole matter, that I
should be asked to show the parwdna, and
that M. Godeheu would settle the matter.
M. Godeheu then went in again and
M. Boyelleau departed.

At three o'clock this afternoon two peons
came and said that the Governor wanted me.
On my arrival, he came out of his room, and
said, ‘' M. Boyelleau told you this morning to
have three bags of rupees sent to Gingee,
Srirangam and Vriddhachalam. The letiers
you received were his, not mine ; here are
mine. Have them sent with the money to the
three places. Did he give you a letter for
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Nandi R4jA?' I said, ‘ No," and reminded him
that he had said that he would give it me
to-morrow morning. ‘I will give it you
at-once,’” he said, and then, going in, had a
letter written by his writer, M. Chevreau and
gave it to me, telling me to write a letter to
Nandi R4ji. I took it and said I would do
s0. He then took me into his room and said,
‘How can I be expected to know things unless
yvou tell me ?’ I replied, * What have I failed
to tell you that you have asked? On your
arrival, you and M. Boyelleau told me I was
afraid of M. Dupleix, but that my duty was to
manage all affairs well as you had suceceeded
him. I agreed and wrote to Salabat Jang, Sau
Bhaji Réio and other Deccan subahdars, to
Ghéizi-ud-din Khin at Delhi, to the Rijis of
Tanjore and Mysore and their wvakils, kille-
dars, etc., and managed affairs here carefully.
But afterwards in many matters I was not
consulted, and, when I brought any affair to
your notice, you spoke indifferently. I did
not know your mind, and therefore have kept
quiet. I have delayed nothing.’

Thursday, December 5.)—Aft eight o'clock
this morning, I went to the Governor to tell
him I had brought the Telugu translation of

123rd Kirttigai, Bhava.
The rough notes say:—" On Thursday the 23rd Nandi Riji's

letter was sealed and given to his vakil."
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the French reply written yesterday to Nandi
R4jd, He gave me his seal to seal the letter
with. After the letter had been sealed, he
told me to give it to the Mysore vakil for
despatch. Saying 1 would do so, I took and
gave it to Madanfnda Pandit for Venkatanfira;
nappa Ayyan.!

Saturday, December 7:—At three o’clock
this afternoon, I went to the Governor, as a
peon said he wanted me. The Governor's

1 The rough notes give the following for Friday, for which day
there ia no transeript of the diary:—" On Fri[day] the 24th the
Governor was let blood, so nobody visited him. I went to the Fort
where I eaw M. Miran, M. Cornet, ete., and then went to my office.

* When Vinlyaka Pillai was returning from Madras after despateh-
ing M. Law, M. Low plundered the English villnges on his way and
ravished women ; hearing this news, the English sent 200 soldiers and
600 foot against M. Law ; but the English troops had to return froit-
legsly as M. Law and his nrmy had already gone, but they leaught)
Vinlyaka Pillai near the Tiravattiswaran ftemple on his woy to Pondi-
chery. Lhear that on learning this news, the Governor wrote to
Madras at ten o'clock to-day. I heard of this the day before
yesterday.” OCf. Madras Military Consultations, 1754, pp. 264 and 267,

1 25¢h Kidrttigai, Bhava,

Therough notes say—“No one could go to the Governor on
Saturday the 26th as he was unwell. I went to the Fort and thence to
my office.

* He sent for me at three o'clock, and, giving me my letter from
Nandi RA4j4, asked why there was one for me only, * That is usoal,' I
said. He then asked me its contents. T eaid, 'An agreement was
made to give two lakhs of rupees to M. Maissin for three months'
expenses for whidh one lakh’s worth of land was assigned on the banks
of the Cauvery and the other lakh was assigned on {Turaiyir]). But
Paraminandan accepted some money from them and has spoiled the
business, and now they say that the money need not be demanded but
ask for a lakh of rupees in ready money.” When I read this, he told
me to get it tranelated into French,

“ He then took me aside and said, * Ina day or two, I will entrust
all my affairs to you and follow your advice.' I replied suitably.”
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younger brother and Madaninda Pandit were
there. Giving me Nandi RAji's letter, he
asked to whom it was addressed. ‘To me,
I replied, and he asked why there was no
letter for him. I answered that it was usual
to write to me with instructions to report the
contents to him. ‘Tell me its contents,’ he
gsaid. I interpreted it as follows :—‘M. Fla-
court and your dubéshes here have prevented
me from collecting money from the poligars,
though I agreed to pay your expenses. There-
fore I wish to depart. Rémalinga Pillai
(Arumpétai Pillai’s man) Paramfnandan and
M. Flacourt have ventured to receive money
from the poligar of Turaiyar for settling the
affair for one lakh of rupees instead of two
as previously determined. I am being much
troubled for an agreement not to interfere in the
affair of that pAlaiyam. Ihave agreed. Thus
the affairs of State are being ruined by these
men's plundering and greed. You do not know
this, and even when I write, you do not believe.
Even after Paramfinanda Pillai was seized
and sent away for his ill behaviour, Rimalinga
Pillai and M. Flacourt have continued to spoil
all business. If others are appointed with:
proper orders in their place, I will continue ;
otherwise I shall depart. Inform the Governor
of this,’
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When I reported these contents, he told
me to get the letter translated into French,
and, having dismissed Madanfinda Pandit, he
took me into a room and said, ‘I am going to
ask you about a certain affair. You must tell
me the truth.' Isaid I would. He continued,
‘ Have not the former Governors herc made
money ? I also want to make money, but by
fair means. None but you can get money for
me. When M. Lenoir was Governor, he
satisfied the merchants and people and sought

the Company’s profit, and himself gained
much. All this is well-known in Europe.
M. Dumas made money somehow. But after
my arrival, I learnt that M. Dupleix’ injustice
was notorious. Certainly I do not want to
make money as he did ; but help me to get
money like M. Lenoir and M. Dumas.” He
added much more. I replied, ‘M. Lenoir was
freely offered presents by the merchants and
people on his name-day, New Year's day, ete.
The Company's merchants would offer him
presents to have their contracts seftled easily,
but he sternly refused to receive them. They
would then offer small presents and even
these he would sometimes refuse. But he
‘never received bribes. In the Mocha trade,
he made large profits, but he did not get much
in other ways. M. Dumas made money both
by trade and by other means ; and you know
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how M. Dupleix got his wealth.'" He replied,
‘Trade is not flourishing at present, so I
cannot make money like M. Lenoir. I must
try to get money like M. Dumas.” I answered,
* You know the whole state of the trade. As
for the country affairs, they must be managed
carefully. When you seized Phpayya Pillai,
you did not keep the country accounts and
leases under your own control, but managed
affaira by M. Delarche and Ranga Pillai
(M. Dupleix’ writer) who could not manage
affairs successfully. When Pipayya Pillai
was imprisoned, all were alarmed and offered
to arrange for 6 lakhs of rupees; but no
advantage was taken of this, so the amount
was lost. Moreover in collecting rents and
revenues from the country, everybody made
money, and thus no money came in. There
are two kinds of sibbandis, purana' sibbandi,
and lkumalk® sibbandi; for the latter people
were allowed by you an eighth or a quarter of
what was collected. Thus the Company’s
business was spoiled in all kinds of ways.
But you do not make money like M. Dupleix,
and in your time, neither the Company nor
you have gained, though others have eaten.'—
¢ Who can be blamed for the past 7' he asked.
‘ Henceforward, I will do as you say. The

! Literally, ‘old,’ * Literally, * help.'
15
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Company’s business must proceed, but at the
same time, I must make something by proper
means. Consider and tell me what I should
do.—* I will,; I said.

When we were talking thus, M. Clouét, the
Secretary who accompanied him, entered. So
he said, ¢ Come to-morrow when I sghall be at
leisure.” So I took leave and went to the
sorting-godown. As it was cloudy, I went
to my office and then came home.

. Thursday, December I12)—This morning,
the Governor after dressing, inspected the Fort
gates, efc., where the European guards are
posted and returned fo the Fort. I salaamed.
He acknowledged it and went upstairs to take
coffee with the Europeans.

When he had dismissed them, he took me
into his room and said, ‘I and Mr. Saunders
will return to HEurope in February as peace
cannot be concluded here between the English
and the French. When M. Dumas and
M. Lenoir were Governors, they made money
before returning to Hurope. I want to make
something too before I go. I am told that
M. Dumas forced people to give him something
when he departed for Europe. Is that true?’
I replied, ‘ It is true that he made money and
returned, but not that he asked people to give

1 1at Mérgali, Bhava.
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him money. When the Marathas under
Raghtji Bhénsla and Fatteh Singh cut off
Doést "Ali Khén in 1740, the Arcot people took
refuge here owing to the troubles ; upwards of
10,000 pagodas were collected for their support
from the nobles who belonged to the subahdar
and others outside ; but many of those who
" had come in had departed. I do not knowifthe
amounts were entered in the Company’s or in
his own accounts. [It is not possible]| now to
get money like that. For the last ten years
there have been the English troubles ; till
now trade has been bad, seasons poor, and
people have been living on what they have
saved, or have run into debt, and have kept
at home. Ten or a dozen live meanly ; the
rest would have nothing to live on, but for
the country revenues and the sepoys, If
these means failed, you would see the state of
affairs. The town flourished under M. Lenoir ;
but now the people have departed ; the houses
are falling into ruins ; when you drive out,
you can see nothing but mud walls” He
replied, ‘ I must get something ; you must find
some way.! I replied, ‘ For the last three
years, the country business, and that of the
merchants and the mini-people were not
managed through me by M. Dupleix, but
through his wife. So I cannot arrange
matters as I like. If affairs are managed
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through me, the Company’s dubéish, as in the
time of M. Martin, I will help you without
creating complaints and settle everything in
two months.'— Very well’ he replied, ‘we
will talk about it when you come to-morrow.’

M. Clouét then brought a letter of which
he wished to speak to the Governor, so I
took leave, went to the sorting-godown and
thence came home. As he has to settle affairs
in Europe with Mr. Saunders, he wants to
malke as much money as possible by fair means,
We shall see what happens to-morrow.

Wednesday, December 18)—At six o'clock
this morning, M. Godeheu, his younger brother
M. Clouét, M. Delarche, M. Sornay and other
Europeans drove out to inspect the French
army encamped near Pirambai; they then
inspected the Valudivir fort that has been
destroyed, and directed M. Deldrche and
M. Sornay to rebuild the fort. After taking
food, they went to Tiruvéngadapuram at half-
past seven in the evening, where they conferred
with M. du Bausset, M. Guillard, etc., who
had been there [for the last] 13 days. [They]
took dinner there, and returned.

Saturday, December 21 —1 hear that Razh
Sahib, 'Ali Naqi Bég and Gowhar BabA

Tth Margali, Bhava. ? 10th Mérgali, Bhava,
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Khuddus Bég have been visiting M. Delarche
about raising some money.

This morning Mysore Venkatandranappa
Ayyan accompanied me to M. Godeheu
General Avargal. We went upstairs at half-
past eight. He was taking coffeec. When he
had dismissed an Englishman who came here to
gee him on his way from Fort. 8t. David to
Madras®, he asked me what news there was, I
gave him the Telugu translation of the I'rench
draft he had written to Nandi R4jA the evening
of the day before yesterday, and said that
it could be sealed. I also gave him the French
translation he had ordered of the Persian letter
received from Nandi Rajé on the 14th, together
with the rizinima® given by the Marak-
kiyars' of Porto Novo for the land.given
north of Porto Novo for a factory in the place
of the one washed away, and its French trans-
lation. The Governor then turned to Ven-
katanfranappa Ayyan and asked whether the
account written by Mr. Saunders, the Governor-
General of Madras, about Nandi R4jA's occu-
pation of Tinnevelly were correct. Venkata-
niranappa Ayyan replied, ‘ The Tinnevelly
country was conguered in February or March

11 suppose Palk or Vansittart, who were arranging the terms of the
Provisional Treaty. See Military Consultations, 1754, p. 277,

* Confirmation of an agreement.

® Tamil-speaking Mussalmans. See Thurston's Castes and Tribes,
Vol. V,p. 1.
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1751, and we have held it for the last three
years and ten months. If theycan prove that
we took it during the truce, we will bear any
punishment you please to impose.” M. Gode-
heu replied, ‘ Well, it matters not what they
write. I have now written to M. Maissin to
enquire into it fully and I have written also
to your Nandi Réja. I shall give it sealed.
You had better also write and get a reply.’

He then asked Venkatanfiranappa Ayyan
if bales of cloth had really been stopped
and the Madura fort attacked. The other
replied, ‘ If Madura fort were in Muhammad
'Ali Khén's possession and we attacked it, we
should be responsible ; but when we and
Muhammad "Ali Khén were one, 'Alam Khén,
a Pathan of Chanda Sahib's seized it; after
Chandé SAhib’s death, Muhammad 'Ali Khin

I This account differs materially from those with which I am
aequainted elsewhere. For example, Dr. Wilson writes (Orine MSS.-
Various, XV, p. 88) :—" Boon after the Nabob marched from Trichino.
poly [ie, July, 1752) the Maisour General sent a party to take
possession of Madura; which was taken from him again about the
beginning of December by the Maravans; who, though in friendship
with us, are like to keep it for themselves until we are in a beiter
capacity to call them % an account.” On October 29, 1754, Heron
wrote :—" I am told by the Nabob that he has received sccounts that
Colke Baib with some of the Mysore horse and Seapoys are andea-
vouring to raise distmrbances in the Madura couniry, that some of
ﬂm,r straggling horse have plnndnru:l Tinnevelly, which has been in

his [ie., the Nawab's] possession some ftime past” Military Consul-
tations, 1754, p. 258. The Mysoreans may have taken the country
before the troce, and also been dispossessed before that avent. Earlier
in 1754 they were asking English help to obtain possession nf thesa
diatriota,

e i S SR
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and the English attacked it but retired without
success.! Then M. Dupleix wrote saying that
help should be given lest "Alam Khén's enemies
ghould capture the place. His letter had no
effect, and a body of Pathans captured it.
From that time, the country was held neither
by Muhammad "Ali Khin nor by the English
nor by the French, but by him* Before the
trnce was made, we sent troops who seized
some of the country, and besieged the fort.
But for these three months, we have not fought,
at all. Taking advantage of this, Muhammad
' Alf Khéin, with other enemies and the Pathans,
treacherously attacked our army, at a time
when no attack should have been made on
Tinnevelly fort, slew our chief sardirs and a
few of our men, and captured the fort. This
has already been written fo you, and the
French translation also contains it. If you
enquire narrowly whether it was captured now
or before, you will learn whether the English
and Muhammad 'Ali Khin's words are true
or ours. 1f our words are false, we will
gubmit to any punishment.’ He said yet
more, adding, ‘The English and Muhammad

' This must refer to Cope's attack in 1760, before Chandd Sihib's
desth., I do pot think the English participated in any attempt on the
Bouthern Countries between that and Heron's expedition in 1756,
But the Nawib alleged that the Pathan lesders—mentioned below—
bad acknowledged him, Bee Crme, Vol I, p. 399,

* e, one of the Pathan leaders,
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'Ali Khiin can never be trusted. They only
write to deceive you'—'I know all this,’
M. Godeheu replied, ‘and have written to
M. Maissin to ascertain and inform me what
happened about the Tinnevelly country, the
Madura fort, etc., from beginning to end. I
have also written about it to your Riji. But
why has any one written to Mr. Saunders that
bales of cloth have been stopped?™ He replied,
‘I cannot tell. I must write before I say
anything about it. It must certainly have
happened before these last three months ; yet,
I cannot say without making enquiries.” Here
[the Governor] went into his cabinet, and said,
“You seem to trust Mubammad 'Ali Khéin,
although you were betrayed into your present

difficulties when you trusted him before. I °

hear that discussions are going on between your
R4jA and Muhammad 'Ali Khan! If you do
this, believe me, you will certainly fall into the
well.” Mysore Venkataniranappa Ayyan said,
‘ His proposals and the replies of those in the
fort* were at once communicated to you ; and
the matter was decided by your advice.
Nothing has been done without consulting you.
The Réijé considers you assecond only to God.’

* Possibly cloth coming from Salem. The Fronch Correspondence
for 1754 is wanting, so the reference to Saunders' letter cannot be
checked.

* Bee above, p. 118, n. L.

* §:, of Trichinopoly.
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The Governor replied that this was mere talk
which had not been proved by action. ‘How
have weé behaved 7" he asked. [The Governor]
replied, ‘It is five months since my arrival.
What have you given me except words? I
will presently examine the accounts of M.
Dupleix' time. In spite of repeated demands
for the monthly expenses of the army, you
have done nothing ; you promise anything,
but there is no result. When M. Godeheu
spoke thus at great length, Venkataniranappa
Ayyan said, ‘ If you will only say what
monthly sum must be paid, I will have it
paid every menth from to-day.’ M. Godeheu
asked him if M. Dupleix had not given a state-
ment of what was to be paid every month.
The vakil replied, * I do not know what writing
he may have given you ; but by the agreement
between us and him, no definite payment was
fixed. The soldiers and sepoys sent to us were
to be counted and paid what was due. Since
then they have not been counted, nor has a
balance been struck. That may be considered
when the accounts are settled.” The Governor
replied, ‘ T will do nothing in your affair unless
you pay on the spot. If you do, I will protect
you from every wind and act as you desire.
If you do not, I will recall my troops, and this
will cause troubles in your country and fort.
1 have said nothing of this in my letter ; you
16
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must write without fail’ He spoke thus in
much detail, sealed his letter to Nandi Raja,
and dismnisged him. The wvakil said that he
would write and get a veply, and, having
askod me to write a letter as usual and send
Dammé Pandit, departed after spcaking nhout
other affairs. The Governor went to church
on account of the festival and I went to my
office.

Thursday, December 26)—The Governor
sent for me at six o'clock last evening, but I
sent word by his messenger that I was ill.
Thereupon he sent a message by Ella Pillai
that presents had come from Bilaji Rdo (Bhaji
Réio's son) which must be received this
morning, and that therefore music, nautch-
people and [lancers], must be prepared. Ella
Pillai said that he had given orders to the
Nayinfir, and added that I was to be present
at six o'clock.

Before going to the Governor this morning,
I looked at the French writing, among my
papers, about the ceremonies used the last time
that presents came from Bhaji Réo's son in
the time of M. Dupleix. On that occasion,
M. Delarche, M. Albert and I went with musie,
dancing-people, the naubat, standard-bearers
and [cloths] to the Séram tank, where the

1 15th Mdrgali, Bhava.
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presents were kept ; they were brought to the
Governor ; Simé Réo the vakil also came ; and
when the Governor reccived the presents, a
salute of 15 guns was fired ; the vakil was
asked to sit down while inguiries were made
regarding the Riji's welfare ; and was sent to
his lodgings with orders to be supplied with
provisions ; and when he was sent back, he
was given cloth, ete. I gave [the Governor]
this French writing, and explained matters,
He took it and said, ‘I will do the same
as before’ So I went with M. Itta and
M. Romain, with my palankin, standards,
lancers, horns, drams, head-peons, chobdars,
the Nayinir and the standards, etc., of Muzaffar
Khén's son' who has been brought up by
Hasan-ud-din Khin. The presents were in a
tent pitched near the tulip-tree by the Madras
gate. They are:—A dress of honour, four
jewels and a sword for the Governor; and a
dress of lionour, four jewels and a [? dagger]
for the Governor's younger brother. These
were carried in a palankin to the Fort with
every mark of honour, and there presented
to the Governor and his younger brother.
Dilaiwar Khéin, Muzaffar Khin's man, who
came with the presents, visited the Governor.
A salute of 15 guns was fired.

! Muzaffar Khin, i, Shaikh *Abd-ul-rahmiln, had been granted,
or had assumed, the Fish Btandard,
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Madanfinda Pandit opened BAldji Réio's
Persian letter and read it to M. Delarche who
interpreted it to the Governor as follows :—* I
have heard that M. Dupleix has gone home and
that you have taken his place. Let our friend-
ghip continue as in the time of M. Dupleix.
Moreover let Muzaffar Khéin and Hasan-ud-
din Khéin retain their jaghirs with the Fish
standard, covered palankin and other honours,
It is proposed to give the daughter of Mu'in-
ud-din khéin, killedar of Surat, in marriage to
Haidar 'Ali Khin, Muzaffar Khin's nephow,
and arrangements are being made for it. Let
Muzaffar Khin's wife and children therefore
be sent.” When this had been interpreted, the
Governor said that he would do as he was
desired.

The Governor also told M. Delarche that
he would continue the jaghir and other marks
of honour. The latter said to BAqgir Miyén,
who has been brought up by Hasan-ud-din
Khin, ‘The Governor has granted you the
jaghir and other marks of respect according
to the letter. Thank him.” He did accord-
ingly.

Then Madananda Pandit read Muzaffar
Khin's Persian letter to M. Delarche who
interpreted it as follows :— M. Bussy and
Riimi Khin told many falsehoods to Salabat
Jang and unjustly carried away 5 [lakhs’
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worth] of property,’ though they themselves
have made 30 or 40 lakhs in many ways.
Rami Khéin has made ten or twelve lakhs.
Let my children be sent for Haidar 'Ali Khin's
marriage. The rest will be learnt from my
statement.” M. Delarche added that Muzaffar
Khin had informed BAaliji Réo of the
Governor’s arrival, fired salutes and distri-
buted sugar.

Muzaffar Khéin's French letter to the
Governor, which was then read, was as
follows:—* Since I left Mahdé, I fought for the
Company at Madras, then against the English
who attacked Pondichery, thirdly against
Anwar-ud-din Khén in support of Hidiyat
Muhi-ud-din Khfin and Chandid S&hib ; and
fourthly I marched against Tanjore. Afterthat
I followed Hidéyat Muhi-ud-din Khin when
he attacked the poligars of Cuddapah and
Kandantir, and even marched to Aurangabad.
Let inquiries be made about M. Bussy’'s debt
to me and let the amount be recovered for me.’
As the létter did not mention the sending of
Muzaffar Khiin’s children and the grant of his
[jaghir], ete., the Governor did not believe
what M. Delarche had reported, and abruptly

1 Presumably belonging to Muzaffar Ehfn It was perhaps seized
when Muzaffar Khin suddenly deserted Salabat Jang's for Baliji
Rios service. Rami Khin was Bussy's diwin, who was killed in
1766,
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said that Muzaffar Khén's children would not
be sent as his letter said nothing about them.
Moreover in the prescnce of Muzaffar Khim's
son (adopted son of Hasan-ud-din Khin) who
was sitting opposite, when his message was
spoken of, the Governor frowned and said
that his marriage could be celebrated here and
that there was no need to send him to Surat.
I think he was angry at his present being
worth but 50 rupees, and his brother’s but 40 ;
while Muzaffar Khin’s present to Hasan-ud-din
Khén's son consisted of bright and precious
jewels from Burhanpur and a sword, and were
delivered to the Governor before they were
received and worn, so that he perceived they
were more costly than his. Their own dresses
of honour were worth but 100 rupees each, but
[the young Muhammadan's] was worth 600.
I do not think he will help Muzaffar Khén’s
business in future.

Moreover Dilawar Khan who -escorted the
presents, told M. Delarche in Hindustani that,
if he were sent as the Governor's vakil to
Biéliji Rio, he would do whatever he wished.
As M. Delarche does not know Hindustani but
only Persian, he told the Governor that our
vakil wished to remain with BAliji Rio and
Biliji Réo’s vakil to remain here. The Gover-
~ nor shook his head but said nothing.
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The Governor then gave me the letters to
be translated into French and returned to him.
He also gave me Baldji Rio's letter to Razh
Sahib (Chandd Sahib's son) for delivery.
M. Delarche then said to me, * Muzaffar Khéin's
people have Biliji Réo's presents for Raza
8fhib. Let them be placed, Senhor Ranga
Pillai, in a palankin and taken to him, with all
marks of honour, and conduct Hasan-ud-din
Khén’s son to him. So you shall attain great-
ness.” In spite of his compliments, I wanted
to ask the Governor before doing so unusual a
thing, but as M. Delarche had said it was the
Governor's order, I feared the former would be
angry. Therefore I said nothing, for fear of
needlessly incurring his anger, and, going
downstairs, procecded to the sorting-godown,
and M. Delarche went to his comptoir.

Madanfinda Pandit followed me; and T
said, ‘You know it is mot usual to take out
the flag and palankin like this. Ask
M. Delarche plainly about it.” He replied,
‘I know all this has already been settled by
the Governor, so it is useless to ask further.'—
¢ Are we sure of thet?’ I asked. °‘We should
‘be on the safe side if we ascertained. As we
were talking thus, M. Delarche, who had got
into his coach to drive away, stopped it, called
me and said, ¢ Senhor Ranga Pillai, the Gover-
nor has ordered you to take the palankin, flag,
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etc. So you must do this.—‘Shall I ask the
Governor about it ?’ I asked.—* You need not,’
he replied, ‘I have already obtained his orders
about it.’—* If you say so, it shall be done,
I answered ; and putting the dress of honour
worth 60 rupees and the letter for Razi Sihib
(Chandd Bihib's son) in a palankin, I took
them to Chandd Sfihib’s house with all marlks
of honour,

I heard to-day that Nandi R&ji had sont
M. Delarche & shield with its handle set with
emeralds, a cross-hilted dagger encrusted with
emeralds and rubies, a pearl necklace,a tobacco-
pipe set with small emeralds and rubies, with
other costly jewels and a dress of honour, with
a request to help him in his affairs. Mysore
Venkataniranappa Ayyan only told me about
the dress of honour, but Madaniinda Pandit
said a pendant and a dress of honour. I have
thus heard three stories, but I think that the
first is true. We shall see in two ov three
days.

Sunday, December 29.)—All the councillors
but M. Barthélemy, the officers, etc., were
with the Governor when I went to him this
morning. I gave him the French translations
of Nandi RéjA's letter received on the 23rd
together with Iméim Sihib’s niece’s letter from

L 18eh Mirgali, Bhava.
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Valudivfir, and the Turaiyfr poligar's letter
received at one o'clock yesterday. Having
read them, he gave them to M. Chevreau his
under secretary, and put the originals into his
avashi

As it was nine o'clock he went to church to
hear mass and after returning, ordered rice,
coconuts, plantains, bread, ete., to be brought,
and watched for an hour the feeding of the
single-tusked elephant given by Nandi Raja
and that given by Razi BSihib. He also
watched them picking up rupees and giving
them to the driver. Afterwards, as he was
going upstairs M. Dusaussaye showed him
some letters. When he had gone upstairs,
M. Delarche reported the death of HirAsat
Khén of Sitghar and told him that a letter of
condolence should be written. As HirAsat
Khén married Razi Sahib’s sister, the follow-
ing gentlemen, M. du Bausset, M. Dusaussaye
and himself were to visit and condole with
Razh Sahib. HirAsat Khin had no sons, but
four daughters. His son by a slave-girl is but
young, and he has no brothers, so Murtazi 'Ali
Khén of Vellore hoped to seize Satghar when
Hirasat Khin was ill. A letter was also to
be written to Mr. Saunders, Governorof Madras,
to order "Abd-ul-wahib Khén, the subahdar of

i Unidentified.
17
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Arcot, not to attack Satghar or do any harm.
Thus M. Delarche obtained orders for letters
to be written and had them despatched. I
learnt all this and then went to my office.

At four o’clock this afternoon the Governor
sent for me. I went ; and Madanfinda Pandit
was also present. Four letters had come from
Nandi RAjA, two for him and two for me,.
Giving me my letters, the Governor told me
to report the contents of his. One of them
says :—‘1 am highly pleased with your kind
letter desiring me to remain in peace at Sri-
rangam, promising to send many soldiers,
munitions of war, shot, etc., and to see that my
affairs prosper, but desiring me to pay what I
owe you so that it may be used for your nceds.
This sincere and loving letter has dispelled all
my anxiety, and has rejoiced me more than if
I had been given the dominion of the world.'
The second letter says :—'I will pay every
month the cost of the large army and supplies
you promise to send. Moreover I will pay the
former dues according to the accounts. Let
troops and munitions be sent without delay.
The English and Muhammad 'Ali Khén are
full of deceit. You should destroy them by
any means you can. The former Governors

' The English agreed. Letter from Saunders to Godehen, January
9,1765. JFrench Correspondence, 1755, No. 2.
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were appointed by the Company ; but you
were the King's minister’ before you were
appointed Governor here and have come to
settle affairs and achieve victory. Therefore
success will always attend you, and my affairs
also will prosper. I have written to our vakil
Venkatanfiranappa Ayyan about other matters
of which he will inform you.” When I report-
ed the contents, he replied, ‘He only gives
promises and many words. These five months
over since I came here, 1 have got nothing.’
Thus he spoke at length, and I replied. He
told me to get the letters translated into French.

He then said, ‘The Second and the other
Councillors do whatever they please. I do not
like this, for I do not hear what is going on.
Henceforth nothing should be done without
my orders” He spoke emphatically and at
length. I replied,‘ You were [new] but now,
have learnt the customs here; so everything
will now be done under your orders.” I then
went to my office.

Later I went to Chandi Sahib's house to
condole with him about Hirdsat Khin's death,
and came home. On my way, I met M. De-
larche, M. du Bausset and M. [Dusaussaye]
returning from their visit.

+ Godoheu had been a Director of the Company but never, I think,
in the King's employment.
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Tuesday, December 31.—The Europeans are
saying that, according to the agreement for a
truee for three months from October to Decem-
ber, M. Clouét is carrying a letter to say that
there shall be no war for 18 months from
January, until we receive orders from Europe
about it ; he will arrive in four days with an
agreement to this effect. So there will be no
war.?

The Bishop of Mylapore says that Bhéji
Réo is coming.

v 20th Mirgali, Bhava.
* Cloudt and Tobin carried to Madras the French copy of the
Treaty signed by Godehen. Bee Military Consultations, 1754, p. 289,
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JANUARY 1755.

Thursday, January 2)—The Governor sent
for me this morning. He =aid, ‘ According to
the writing about the office of dubdsh, I will
order all but the Furopeans, namely, Tamils,
Muhammadans and all Indians, to obey you
as their master ; and report the news to you.
Attend therefore to 'the Company's business
faithfully and behave so as to bring gain and
glory to the Company which has suffered
greatly.’ I replied, ‘With the Governor’s
favour, I will work for the Company’s gain as
you desire. My actions shall satisfy you.
What more can I say to your command to act
faithfully 7’ He smiled.

He then ordered me to come at eleven
o'clock with the headmen and the Company’s
gervants ; so I went to my office and sent peons
for the several people.

The Governor gave M. Boyelleau an order
on M. Miran for a sarpéch, kalgi turra and
jewels set with precious stones, two pieces of
fine broad-cloth and two pieces of cloth of gold
woven in silk, to be given as presents to me.
He then called the master-gunner and told him
to fire a salute of 15 guns.

i 22nd Mérgali, Bhavd.
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At eleven o'clock I went to the Fort with
the headmen and the Company’s servants and
presented them to the Governor with their
New Year's gifts according to custom. This
done, he summoned the Company’s servants—
the Arumpdtai (Vindyaka Pillai)! Réma-
chandra Ayyan of the Beach, the mint-people,
the tobacco- godown people, the manager of
Bapu Rio’s choultry, the people living outside
the Fort, Rangappa Mudali, the amaldér of the
Country, the Company's merchants, the Nayi-
néir and other headmen—and said, * Henceforth
you need not report news to me, but go to Ranga
Pillai and do as he orders. Whoever does not,
will be fined or otherwise punished.” Having
given this order, he gave me the presents men-
tioned above, with rosewater and pdn supdri.
Then a salute of 15 guns was fired from the
Fort. The Governor told me to wvisit the
councillors and show them the presents before
going home. I thanked him, and, according
to his orders, visited the Second and other
councillors with music, dancers and actors and
accompanied by the Company's servants and
headmen, and paid my respects. They were
highly pleased and congratulated me, giving
me rosewater and pdn supdri before dismissing
me. M. Delarche alone sent word that he was

1 Bee Vol. IV, p. 341, n., supra.
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busy and would see me to-morrow or the day
after, so I did not visit him. Then I came
home with the same marks of honour and all
visited me with presents. I distributed rose-
water and pdn supdri and dismissed them.
Sunday, January 5—I1 went to the Fort
this morning and thence to the room up-stairs
where were Monsieur Charles Robert Godehen,
the Governor and Commander-in-chief, the
Commissary M. Barthélemy, M. Guillard and
others of Council, together with M. Clouét. I
paid my respects. Then they all held a Coun-
il in the Governor's room except M. Clouét,
who walked up and down outside. After-
wards the Governor and the rest went to the
Church where the Europeans were drawn up
with drums beating and with a new white
flag, a red and white flag, and a white and blue
flag, four? in all. The Governor and Council
bore these flags into the Church, where they
heard mass and the flags were blessed, all
praying that God might bless and prosper
them by reason of the two years’ peace con-
cluded between the English and French, who
are no longer to strive one with the other, but
to unite if the Marathas and Muhammadans
should attack from the north. After offering

» 25th Mergali, Bhava. 3 Sic.
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devout prayers, for God’s protection, they came
out, and a proclamation written on large paper
was read aloud as follows :—' Until news
arrives of a settlement between the English and
French in Burope, no one shall take up arms
for 18 months. Weand the English are to join
against other enemies.’ All then wished the
King of France long life and a salute of 21
guns was fired. Then tlie Governor, the
Bishop of Cochin-China and the Councillors,
after witnessing the service at the Church,
went upstairs, and all paid their respects to
the Bishop. When they were about to take
coffee, I went with the Company’s merchants.
‘When the Governor came out to us, we paid our
respects. He exchanged compliments cheer-
fully and said, ‘ We have made peace for 18
months, so all may live in quiet. Merchants,
inhabitants, travellers and everyonc need
fear mothing.’ I then replied, ‘After your
arrival all disturbances ceased ; and we shall
have peace for 18 months, without any troubles,
go that men may live happily. But during
the late troubles, many lost their wealth, and
many have perished. As you have thus
restored happiness to us, you have earned
everlasting glory both in India and Europe.
We thus paid our compliments.

Perumukkal Miyin Sihib’s letter to the
(GGovernor says :—‘ I depend on ybur friendship.
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The English have seized some of your jaghirs,
and Muhammad 'Ali Khén others. Some of
my jaghirs have also been taken. Only alittle
“is left. M. SBornay damages my saltpans in
the middle of the river, by causing nets to be
spread. Letme beprotected from his troubles.’
He told me to come at six o’clock witha French
translation, and added that as he was our
friend, we should assist him in his troubles.
I took leave and went to my office.

Monday, January 6'—As Venkatanéra-
nappa Ayyan, the Mysore vakil, was waiting
with the two letters from Nandi Réja, I went
upstairs with him. The Governor, M. Barthé-
lemy, M. Boyelleau, the Governor’s younger
brother, M. Clouét, ete., were sauntering about
the southern hall. The vakil paid his respects
and delivered the two letters. The Governor
asked him if Thad told him yesterday’s news
about the conclusion of peace. ‘ Yes, sir,’ he
replied ; and the Governor said to him, * Ever
since I came here five or six months ago, I have
been waiting, but you have offered for my
satisfaction nothing better than wvain boasts.
How long am I to wait? I must replenish
my money-chest while I am drawing out of it.
‘We and the English have concluded peuce for
18 months.’

' 20tk Mdrgali, Bhara,
15
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Monday, January 13)—I1 hear to-day that
Sau Bhiji Réo is at Adoni five stages this side
of the Kistna on his march towards the
Carnatic, and that letters have come saying
that he will visit Kumbakonam for the Mald-
makham.? I also hear that Salabat Jang is
pursuing him to prevent his entering the
Carnatic ; but all will happen accnrdmg to
God's will.®

Tuesday, January 14'—A chobdar came
this morning and said that the Governor
wanted me. When I went, he gave me Veli-
gOtti Bangiru Yachama Néyakkan's letter of
congratulations. I informed him that the
letter congratulated him on his appointment
as Governor, with the following presents ——
One muhamud® ; one sash ; one “ Mokashy "
turban ; one sarpéch ; one kattani® ; two mus-
lin upper cloths ; [besides] seven jewels.

He then gave me two letters from the RAaja
of Pegu and his minister, telling me to inter-
pret them. The first says, ‘I am highly
pleased with your letter and presents sent by
M. Bruno. I am sending by him what you

1 dth Tai, Bhara,

* A festival recurring onoe in twelve years st Eumbakonam, where
special rites in honour of Siva are porformed.

* Boe Orme, Vol. I, p. 404,

* 5th Tai, Bhara.

* Bee p. 3 supra.

* A cloth of mixed silk and cotlon.
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wish and an elephant as a present. 1 thus
reported the contents of the R4ja’s letter ; the
ministor’s says that three elephants have been
sent. The Governor observed, ‘M. Bruno's
letter does not mention the elephants. Why
is that ? Well, bring a French translation of
them.” Then'I took leave, and after attending
the Stmantham Kalydnam' at Uppittu Sim-
bayyan's house, came home.

Nérd Pandit, Muhammad 'Ali Khiin's vakil,
and a dubish (I do not know his name) write
from Trichinopoly that after conferring with
M. Maissin at Srirangam, they went to Nandi
R4jA and discussed the money agreement, but
that he would not accept it, and more than
once objected to the faithless conduct towards
him of Muhammad 'Ali Khin and of the
English.

Thursday, January 16.*—A Company's peon
came and told me at seven o'clock this morning
that the Governor wanted me. As I must go
whoenever the Governor calls me, I took my
prescribed food® and went at eight o'clock to
the Fort, where 1 visited the Governor. He
said, ‘Our man, Hirdsat Khin, has died. I
have written to Vellore Murtazid 'Ali Khén

* The ceremony performed in the fourth, sixth or eighth month
of a woman's first pregnancy.

2 7th Tui, Bhara.

3 The Tamil word indicates that he was on a diet.
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to help whoever succeeds Hirfisat Khin. You
must also write suitably about it.'” I said I
would.

I added that I had received complaints
saying that Mir ’Abd-ul-rahmén’® of Elavéna-
gfir fort was troubling my villages. He told
me to write a French letter in his name as
follows :—‘ The former Governor did not treat
you properly, but have I done the like?
You wrote to me that if I sent a cowle, you
would wisit and obey me. But I hear that
you are troubling my country. It is not right
to do so, for I have concluded a peace with
the English for eightecn months. If you be-
have properly, well and good ; if not, I will
gend all my troops and inflict proper punish-
ment upon you.! He'also told me to write
severely in my own name,

Mu'tabar Khén, son of Husain Sahib of
VilikondApuram, has written to the Governor
saying, ‘ You wish me to send into Srirangam
the shot, powder, ete., seized and kept here
during M. d'Autenil’s battle with the English
at Vélikondépuram.® M. d’Auteuil gave the
English a list of the goods which have all
been removed by them, so that nothing remains
here.” When I had reported the contents, the

' Bee above p. 41, * Inm 1752,
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Governor told me to get the letter translated
into French.

I then gave him the French translations of
the letter from the R4jh of Pegu, his minister,
and Bangiru Yichama Niyakkan—3 in all—
which he received, as well as a copy of the
French letter to Murtazéi "Ali Khin of Vellore,
which I also gave him. After this I took leave
and came home.

A Persian letter has been written to Mir
'Abd-ul-rahmén of ElaviinasQr and a French
copy prepared. I have also sent for a’ French
translation of Vilikondipuram Mu'tabar
Khén's letter. M. Véry' writes to me, ‘ When
I stood suroty for Ayyan Sstri and obtained
gsome country for him, the country was under
your control ; and I asked you to continue it
to him. You said that you would do him this
favour instead of giving it to others. But I
now learn that you have given it to a different
man. Isit right todoso?’

I replied to M. Véry as follows :—*' I ques-
tioned Ayyan Shstri as I promised, but he
would not accept my terms and said that it
might be given to whomsoever I pleased. He
wrote and signed an agreement to this effect

! Viéry de 8t. Romain, for whom see above Vol. VIIL p. 184, n. 2.
Later in this year, when he was Commandant of Utramallfir, Ranga
Pillai was to have some trouble with him over a farmer of revenue for
whom Viéry stood surety (for » consideration).
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four days ago. This was not done without
waiting for four days, speaking with him
about it,and obtaining his assent.” I had this
letter despatched to M. Véry.

Sunday, Januvary 19.'—M. Boyelleau and
the Governor’s son talked for a while and
then went to church. AsI was going down-
stairs, I met M. Duliron,' the killedar of
Alambarai, who said, ‘The Governor was
asking me aboul the English having occupied
the Karunguli country. Do you know any-
thing d&bout it?’ I went with him to M.
Dulaurens’ son’s® office, and got the latter to
write a statement as follows :—* 50 horse, 50
sepoys and 50 Carnatic peons belonging to the
English encamped at Kandrachéri and seized
8 villages under KiliyAnagar, 12 villages under
Murungampikkam, 15 villages under Peruk-
kfiranai, 15 villages under Koyapikkam—>50
villages in all. They also say that they
mean to seize Achcharapikkam, Chunimpattu,
Cheyytr, Kolatttr, etc, places. I have
received news to this effect. If this is done,
all the forts except Alambarai will fall into
their possession. He wrote this statement

i 1oth Tai, Bhava,

* Bous-lientenant of 1751, promoted lientenant 1752,

* Jacquoes Baleine Dulaurens had died in 1749, leaving two sons in
the Company's service at Pondichery.

* This matter constituted the chief subject of discussion between
the French and English commissaries who held lengthy and fruitless
discussions in 1755 and 1766, Military Sundry Books, Nos. 4 and 5.
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and gave it to the Governor, who told me that
he would write about it to the Governor of
Madras. Nattu VirAma also said that he
would obtain from M. Godeheu two or three
letters to be sent. He then took leave and
departed.

Monday, January 20!—The Governor sent -
word this afternoon by the captain of the
guard that he wished to sell the elephants and
horse given to him by Nandi RAja, and the
elephant and horse presented by Razd Sihib,
as well as the horses given by others. I
agreed. |

Friday, January [24]*—This morning, the
Governor sent orders to the European
Commanders of the killas of Utramallr,
Alambarai, Gingee, Vriddhachalam, Tiruviti,
etc., that henceforth they should not interfere
with country leased to me, that they should
get what they required from my amaldirs,
and that they should keep their soldiers and
sepoys in proper order. I then reported that
the English had occupied the Karunguli
country and he replied, ‘You need not be
anxious about that. I have written to the
Governor of Madras ; if they give it up, well
and good ; if not, I will send soldiers, and

v 11th Tai, Bhava, s 15th Tai, Bhava,



144 THE DIARY OF [Tan. 24,

post them at our limits to seize their country.’
I then took leave and came home.

Saturday, January 25'—This morning the
Governor's younger brother marched to Gingcee
by way of Valudivtr with the stores prepared
yesterday. I sent my Ayyidvu, Guruvappa
. Chetti, Nichana Pillai, etc., with him. As
the Governor was busy, I stayed at home.

He sent for me at half-past cleven, to ask
about his younger brother’s departure. T said
he had gone.

As he was then at leisure, I said, ‘Since
the outbreak of war between the English and
the French in 1745, the English Commodore,
Mr. Peyton and others, seized our ships and
blockaded our town. When their ships appear-
ed in our roadstead to boast their strength, M.
Dupleix, the Governor, then called me and
said, “In this time of troubles, unless you
_undertake the management, our affairs will
not prosper.” So I undertook the management,
and although people were in difficulties and
the Company lacked momney, I succeeded in
paying the establishment, obfaining supplies
and feeding the people. In order to [dis-
honour] our English enemies and capture
Madras, the seat of their authority, I adopted
the four kinds of conduct® for the capture of

* 16tk Tai, Bhava.
* A proverbial saying. The four methods of treating an enemy
were :—coneilintion ; gifts ; sowing dissension ; and open attack.
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the place, imprisoned Mr. Morse the Governor
and the Councillors; drove away Mahfuz
Khéin who came to their assistance with his
army, concluded peace with him and brought
him here'. Again when Mr. Rear-Admiral
Boscawen surrounded and attacked the town
with his 40 ships by land and sea for three
months, I withstood him. Then Nawéib
Anwar-ud-din Khén caused trouble to the
French ; therefore to destroy him, I sum-
moned Hiddyat Muhi-ud-din KXhin and
Chandd SAhib with their great armies and
despatched large forces from here, who slew
Anwar-ud-din, seized Arcot and the Carnatic
country, and brought them under the French
Company's sway. I also made RajA Pratéb
Singh of Tanjore and other Rijis pay us tri-
butes. Again when later Nisir Jang marched
with a lakh of horse, 10 lakhs of [infantry]
and a numerous artillery, etc., assisted by the
Nawéibs of Cuddapah, Kandanfr, Sivanfr,
Bankdpuram and the Subahdars of Arcot,
Tanjore, Trichinopoly, Mysore, etc., their
agents and the English attacked Pondichery,
and fought for a year. I procured sibbandis,
powder, shot, cannon, muskets, etc., with
which our troops attacked the enemy who

t The account seems to ignore La Bourdonnais, Paradis, and others
who did the actual fighting as well as Dupleix who did (or st lenst sot
on foot) the intriguing.

19
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had surrounded the town, threw them into
disorder and econquered the country. Idirected
affairs so woll for a whole year, without
sleep or food by day or night, that the mere
mention of our troops’ advance struck terror
into the enemy’'s mind. Af last Nasir Jang
was killed, all he had was plundered, HidA-
vat Muhi-ud-din Khin was appointed to the
Deccan subahs, and glory earned for the
French Company and King as bright as crores
of suns all shining together.” Ithen described
with detail and fulness the time when any"
one, even the sweepers, influenced HidAyat
* Mubhi-ud-din Khin, who thereby lost all his
glory for nothing and was covered by the
black darkness of dishonour. The Governor
listened attentively to all this and said that
he had heard all this discussed before the
French Company and King whenever there
was occasion ;° he added, ‘I have inquired
about all this since my arrival as Governor
five months ago, and, after satisfying myself,
I gave you all authority. Although the
French Company and the King are aware of
what you have related, yet write out in French
what you have said and give it to me so that
when I go to FEurope I may show it to the
King and obtain for you presents and high
titles, and the King's orders giving your
appointment to your children so long as the
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Company shall endure. I will get you all this
when I return by the beginning of the 18th
month.! I replied politely and thanked him,
saying that I should enjoy all authority as I
had his countenance. I then took leave and
came home at noon.

Sunday, January 26}—Three German com-
manders complained roughly to the Governor
to-day that they had not received their pay,
so the Governor in anger ordered the three
to be imprisoned. The 400 or 500 Germans
were allowed to keep their muskets but
deprived of their cartridges and bayonets,
while the French soldiers were supplied with
twice the usual number of cartridges. The
gates were ordered to be closed at seven
o'clock at night.

Tyhgayyan, my vakil, writes to me that
M. Dusaussaye, the commander, reached the
Srirangam camp on the 22nd January and
visited Nandi R4j4 on the 28rd from whom he
received presents of lace, jewels, a pendant, a
horse, ete., worth 2,000 or 3,000 rupees.

Tuesday, January 28'—The drums were
beaten this evening to proclaim the release of’
all Bnglish and French prisoners;® and it

1 17th Tui, Bhava.

* 10th Tai, Bhava.
* A manfor-man exchange took place, which still left m.l!l!l,r

Frenchmen in Enghah enstody.
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was announced that henceforth any French
officers and soldiers deserting to Cuddalore or
Madras would be returned to the French, as
also that English officers and soldiers desert-
ing hither would be likewise returned.
Letters were read, and drums beaten to
announce this.

Wednesday, January 29)—The English
goldiers and officers—upwards of 500 in all—
who were imprisoned here, were sent to Fort
St. David with the three officers® who came
hither, on the understanding that, as soon as
they reached Fort 8t. David, an equal number
of French soldiers and officers should be sent
to Pondichery and the rest to France by way
of England on a Europe ship.

Thursday, January 30*—At five o’clock this
morning I went to the Fort with the naubat,
music, dancing-people, standards, chowries,
ete., as M. Godeheu, the Commander-in-chief
was to go to Villivanalliir to meet his younger
brother coming from (Gingee. He had ordered
me to be ready to start at seven o'clock.
The Governor was dressed by half-past-seven
and there were assembled M. Barthélemy,
M. Guillard, M. Boyelleau, M. Meyer (the
Second at Tranquebar), M. Desfresnes, captain

* 90th Tai, Bhava.
* Captains Polier and Beaver were sent to recsive the English

prisoners. French Correspondence, 1755, No. 7.
* 21t Tai, Bhava.




1765) ANANDA RANGA PILLAT 149

of the soldiers, [the Major], M. Goupil,
M. Clouét, and other Councillors and officers
together with Hasan-ud-din Khén's Fish
Standard, etc., borne by an clephant. Cloth to
be laid before them, the peacock-feather fans
and white chowries were also ready. At half-
past seven I went to the Governor, and asked
him whether, as the sun was hot, he would
take his coffee here or at Arumpéhtai Pillai's
Choultry. He said he would have it at Arum-
pitai Pillai's Choultry. I then desired him
not to delay his departure ; so he set out. I
went with Anniswlmi, Ayyiswlmi, ete., to
Arumpétai Pillai’s Choultry, where a salute of
21 guns was fired when the Governor descend-
ed there af) half-past eight. As he sat down,
the dancing - girls danced before him, I pre-
sented Annfiswimi and Ayyiswimi to the
Governor, who accepted two limes from each.
The Governor asked if they were my sons. I
gaid they were. He asked how many daugh-
ters I had. I said, two. He then asked how
many sons and daughters my younger brother
had. I said, one son, who had accompanied
M. le Commandeur, and a daughter. He in-
quired if Annfdswami were like his mother. I
said, yes. He then remarked that Ayyfswimi
was like me. The Governor turned to M. Bar-
thélemy, M. Desfresnes and M. Boyelleau -and
said, ‘Generally, the first son resembles. the
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mother and the second, the father. That isthe
case with me and my brother.” He then point-
ed to Ayyhswami and said he looked sharp
and mischievous, according to the saying that
the elder is meek and the younger sharp-witted.
‘That is the case with us,’ he said ; and, turning
to Annfiswimi, continued, ‘ His large eyes and
bright face show that he will be as happy and
lucky as a Raja." M. Boyelleau, M. Desfresnes
and other European gentlemen said the like
and blessed him. The Governor said that he
sincerely regarded my family as the Com-
pany’s, and repeated it so as to show all the
Europeans his great favour towards me.

After looking at the kalgiturra, blue pend-
ant and other jewels worn by Annfiswémi, the
Governor said that they were valuable and
asked if they had been got during Nésir Jang's
downfall. Ireplied, ‘They were not acquired
at that time, but were made for my father, and
not out of my own acquisitions.” The Gover-
nor continued, ‘ Your father had these jewels
made, but you must have yet costlier and finer
jewels than he, and your sons than you. I
thanked him suitably.

At half-past eight or nine he ordered his
coffee to be brought, but was told that it was
not yet ready as he had been expected to take
his mid-day meal. He then asked for a couple
of plantains and some wine. On learning that
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that also would have to be sent for, he told
me to send a man quickly to Pondichery to get
bread and wine. I said I would do so, and sent
a man at once.

After witnessing the amusements for a little,
he set out with the others for Villiyanallfir to
meet his younger brother. I also followed
with Annfiswimi and AyyiswAmi. The writer
Rangappa Mudaliand others received him with
musie, dancing-girls, ete, and led him to a
pandal where amusements were shown. He
then again asked for his coffee, but as none
was ready, I told Rangappa Mudali to fetch
boiled cow’s milk and sugar. When he brought
this, each drank two cups. By now the bread
and wine arrived from Pondichery, and at
eleven he took his early meal ; as his younger
brother had still not arrived, he went to in-
gpect the new fort built on the south side,
which he had not seen before. He remarked,
‘The work has been carefully done; but the
rooms are toosmall. M. Dupleix was wanting
in fore-thought to order such a building. It
would have been healthier if the rooms had
been larger. But if 16 cannon and 100 men
were stationed here, 4,000 or 5,000 horse cculd
be beaten and put to flight.’

Afterwards, the Company's merchants in-
vited the Governor to visit their ware-houses.
They showed him.the chintz and coarse cloth,
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ete., made there. The Governor then asked
them what tolls were paid on them. Ireplied
in the presence of the Villiyanallr &Amil,
Rangappa Mudali, ‘ They collect great sums as
customs ; but duty should not be collected
for Valudivir which is within the limits of
Pondichery. Nothing was done about it in
M. Lenoir's time. M. Dupleix used to say that
M. Dumas would not remit the toll when
Safdar 'Ali Khin, Chandi Sihib and other
Nawibs came here during the Maratha
troubles ; but he forgot about it afterwards.
If the toll is removed, the people will be
happy and trade will flourish in the town.'
He replied that he would see about it when
I produced an account of the duties. I said I
would attend to it. But writer Rangappa
Mudali's face fell and he went aside. The
Governor being anxious about his younger
brother not having arrived, returned to the
pandal after inspecting various things.

I told M. Barthélemy, M. Boyelleau and M.
Desfresnes that I would wait till the command-
eur arrived at the pandal which had been
erected for him, and that they could go to
Arumpétai Pillai's Choultry. The Governor
asked what I had said. When they repeated my
words, he said, ‘ True, Rangapran prepared all
this for the commandeur, so it is but fair that
he should wait and receive him." Just then
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news came of the commandeur’s approach, so
writer Rangappa Mudali was at once ordered
to go with music, dancers, ete., to receive him.
The cominandeur was accordingly brought to
the pandal, by Appévu, ete., with all marks of
honour. The Governor and the Councillors
embraced him with great joy and asked about
his visit to Gingee, Villupuram, Tiruviti, etc.,
places. Writer Rangappa Mudali brought
cloth of gold, a roll of silk, ete., worth 1,000
rupees as a nazar. The Governor's younger
brother mentioned my Appéivu to the Gover-
nor as follows:—* He is very able,and guarded
me day and night, his behaviour pleased me
much. There is no limit to my affection for
him.” He also said to me, ‘ Your younger
brother’s son is so clever and capable that I
am highly pleased with him." I replied, ‘ He
is your servant who awaits your favour.” The
Governor, his younger brother and others
observed that he would be very fortunate. As
it was noon all retired to Arumpétai Pillai’s
Choultry toeat. I went to Villiyanallir with
Annéiswimi; Ayyviswimi, Appivu and others
to take food and returned to Arumpfitai Pillai’s
Choultry at half-past four. The Governor
was watching the amusements with his brother
and the Councillors. I paid my respects. The
Governor again remarked that I was one of
the Company’s family.

20
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Vindyaka Pillai gave cloth of gold, etc., as a
present. The Governor after watching the fire-
works for some time, set outat half-past eight
with all marks of honour, and, having reached
the Fort at nine, retired upstairs. When I took
leave he said that I was much fatigued and
that I had better rest and talk of business next
morning. I took leave and came away with
all marks of honour.

Friday, [January 31]°—This morning the
Governor sent for me; I went accordingly.
He said, ‘I complained to Mr. Pigot, the
Governor of Madras, about the unjust acts of
Muhammad ’Ali Khin's people ; so Mr. Pigot
wrote to 'Abd-ul-wahib Khin, the killedar and
agent at Arcot, not to plunder our country, as
a truce had been made between the English
and French for 3 months from October 11,
1754, and continued for 18 months, for which
time both parties should retain the countries
they possessed and abide by the peace settled
in Europe. Here is the letter. Write a tédkid
to him® in my name as follows .—" Having
the welfare of the people at heart, we made
peace from January 27, prescribing the limits
of both the parties. But your people are
transgressing their bounds and creating dis-
turbances. Know by this that you must warn

1 #8nd Tai, Bhara. # i.e,, "Abd-ul-wahib Ehin.




17851 ANANDA RANGA PILLAT 155

your people, reading to them this tikid and
ordering them to observe their bounds ; if
they transgress them, I and the English will
become your encmies and your affairs will be
in danger. Enclosed is the letter from Mr.
Pigot, the Governor of Madras, from which
you will know everything.” DBring this written
in French to be copied into the book.) I
accordingly took Mr. Pigot's letter.

He then said, * Your younger brother's son
who went to Gingee with my younger brother
is vory clever, intelligent and capable. My
brother has told me how carvefully he managed
everything, and I am much pleased. I do not
think that even you could haye managed as
well as he.

In return for the English soldiers who were
released and despatched to Fort St. David, 167
stout picked Fremchmen, with some mestice
and Topass servants, arrived here to-day.
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FEBRUARY 1755.

Tuesday, February 4'—The mnews-lotter
from the north is as follows :—* Salabat Jang is
near Adoni or thereabouts. Coja Namat-ul-
lah Khén, who was fimil of Adoni, has been
replaced by a Moghul (whose name I do not
know). SaviiNénf is preparing toleave Poona
with his troops and march into the Carnatic.
The Mysore vakil is with him. Salabat Jang
and the NinA, who were till recently at
variance have united and are proceeding to
Mysore ; thence they will march hither. As
Alamgir Pfidshéih is powerful at Delhi, Ghizi-
ud-din Khan does as he pleases; Mulhari
Holkar's [army has been sent to put down]
the poligars who were plundering these parts.
A parwéna with a dress of honour, 11 jewels,
kalgi, sarpéch, ete., have been sent to Auranga-
bad as presents for Salabat Jang. Mulhari
Holkar has been seized and beheaded for
suffering his troops to plunder Delhi. This
should be known to you.'

v emk Tai, Bhave.
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Gulbarga is 50 kddam distant from Pondi-
chery divided as follows :—

Pondichery to Arcot
Arcot to Adoni .

Adoni to Richar ...
Réchir to the [Kistna] ...
| The Kistna] to Gulbarga

Goleonda to Gulbarga
Gulbarga to Aurangabad

Goleonda to Aurangabad
Adoni to Udanabad (Chandra-

sén's country) .
Aurangabad to Burhanpur
Burhavpur to the Narbadi

Wednesday, February 5.'—I reported to the
Governor this morning that a letter had
reached Vellore with news that Salabat Jang
was pear the Pennfr, somewhere between
Adoni, Gulbarga and Narfiyanapéttai ; and
that he would march to the Carnatic by way
of Mysore. The Governor asked why M. Bussy
had not yet written. I said that a letter must
be coming. ‘We must see what he writes,’ he
said.

Kddam.
10
25

5

1

9

Total ... 50
15

25

40

10

8

8

1 271k Tai, Bhara,
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Then I gave him a French translation of
what I wrote in yesterday’s diary about Alam-
gir Pidshéih’s sitting on the throne at Delhi,
Ghézi-ud-din Khéin's enjoying all powers and
the execution of Mulhari Rio Holkar for his
atrocities and plunder at Delhi.! The Governor
read it and observed that he had not heard
this Delhi news. I said that it should be true
and that M. Bussy would write about it.

The Europe ship the Machault has arrived,
after touching at Mahé, with 33 chests of
silver weighing 12,018 mares and worth
2,560,000 rupces, on board.

The Governor said, ‘I shall sail for Europe
a week to-day ; M. Leyrit, my successor, will
arrive by the end of the month; and the
Second can do nothing until his arrival. He
will continue to be in charge of his office as
usual but nothing more. I will write a paper
ordering all affairs to be conducted through
you ; it shall be signed by the Councillors, and
myself ; it shall be sealed and given to you in
two or three days. Give it to M. Leyrit on his
arrival ; and he will do as I have written.” I
replied, * Why be troubled about my affairs ?
Have I not your favour? All will happen as
God wills. The towns-people are fearful ; and
I'know not what will happen.” He smiled and

' Alpmgir IT was placed on the throne by Ghizi-nd-din a.m:;
Mulhari in June, 1754
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continued, ‘There is no room for anxiety.
The Second will have no power, you may
depend upon that. Give my paper to M.
Leyrit, who will do everything through you.'
He then asked when houses had been demo-
lished in the town, and why it had gone to
ruin. I replied, * At first, affairs went poorly ;
but then in the time of M. Lenoir, trade
flourished. The Kaikdlars, Sédars, Séniyars}
painters, etc., flocked hither and actively
carried on their business. So thatched houses
were replaced by houses of brick, and poor
men became Mahdrajis. There were people
here worth ten, twenty, forty thousand or a
lakh, all earned by their trade. Men saw
jewels and money who had never seen them
before. Thus all lived plenteously and their
children ripened in prosperity.® As trade
flourished, the jungles were turned into houses,
and all things smiled with wealth. But in M.
Dumas’ time, trade fell by a half ; and then
in M. Dupleix’ time, the Marathas, Muham-
madans and the English caused troubles and
destroyed the country, with plunder, violence
and rape, on all sides. People lost their
houses, goods and wealth. Men say, “ Like a
gardener, M. Lenoir reclaimed land, ploughed
and manured it, and prepared it for cultivation,

' Weaving-castes, * The Tamil is obscure,
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He planted it with trees, which blossomed,
and bore fruit, and for a while he enjoyed
their fruit. M. Dumas devoured its produce.
In M. Dupleix’ time, a tempest laid the garden
waste.” 8o too, you, my lord, planted and I
was hoping to enjoy the fruit at the proper
time ; but now.you are going, and all fear a
tempest.to uproot every tree.’ M. Godeheu
replied, ‘M. Leyrit who is coming is a good
gardener, skilled in eultivation. Heisa gentle-
man, and all will be [happy].'! I paid him
high compliments, and then came home.
Sunday, February 9—At seven o'clock this
morning, I visited the Governor. Venkata-
niranappa Ayyan, the Mysore vakil, gave a
French writing to the Governor, saying, ‘1
wish to see Nandi Ré4j4 who has written for
me. As you are going to Europe, I am also to
mention the commissary whom you proposed
to send to Tinnevelly and those parts, and as-
certain your mind." The Governor having
read the paper, said, ‘ What if I am going to
Europe ? M. Leyrit is a greater man than I
If you speak to him about affairs, he will do
as you desire. You had better go after seeing
him and receiving his orders.’ He then gave
me Nandi Réji’s letters to him and to me,
received the day before yesterday, and told me

1 Tst Mdsi, Bhava.
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to bring French translations. He then told
Venkatanfranappa Ayyan thathe would reply
to Nandi Ré4j4 when I brought the French
translation, and that he could then send it
- along with a letter of his own. Then he
dismissed him. :

He then said, ‘I told you to write a letter
to the Arab R4ji at Mocha for the Mocha ship
now ready to sail. Has the letter been writ-
ten ?’ 1said it had, and related its contents
as follows :—‘ You wrote that you would send
coffee or other goods for the money due from
several persons at Betelfagi for whom you
would be answerable. But nmothing has yet
been received. A ship is now sent with M.
Lenguerné[?] Be pleased to assist the vessel
to procure goods for the sums still due.) I
wrote this and added such compliments as
were usually paid by M. Dupleix. The letter
was sealed and given to M. Lenguernsé.

Messengers arrived with two letters from the
Nén# in the north and a letter from Muzaffar
Khén in French. He told me to get them
translated into French ; but I returned him
Muzaffar Khéin's as it was in French already.
Having opened and read Nandi R4jé’s and the
Néni's letters, I gave them to Madanfinda
Pandit for M. Le Beaume fo be translated.

The Governor then said, ‘I am sailing for
Europe on Thursday. Four days ago, I wrote

21
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and sealed a letter telling M. Leyrit to pay ten
times the attention to your advice that I have
paid. He will act accordingly. I will give
you the letter. Until he arrives, you should
attend to the Company's and country affairs,
and render an account to him. You are not
accountable to any till then. I have given the
necessary orders.'—* All shall be according to
your greatness,’ I replied, and paid him my
compliments.

The Governor then said, ‘ You know that I
have abolished the Valudivir toll. Are not
tolls collected in the country round Madras ?’
I replied, ‘ The country round Madras belongs
to Muhammad 'Ali Khén, so toll must be
collected. When formerly the country round
Pondichery belonged to the Muhammadans,
tolls were collected both here and outside. As
Valuddvir and Villiyanallirx are now the
Company’'s jaghir, people would suffer if tolls
were collected both here and outside, and
trade would decay. Sothey have been abolish-
ed. Itisalso not right to collect both land and
sea-customs. Former Governors wished to get
rid of the tolls in order to promote the town’s
prosperity, but they were not destined to earn
that glory, which was reserved for your merits.’
I thus spoke with compliments. He said,
* Well, the councillors have met in the council-
room and I must go.' He then went to the
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council-room. I took leave and came home,
I did not go out this afternoon, so heard no
news.

Monday, February 10)—This morning M.
du Rocher, the European, sent to me the
Governor's order to visit him. I went to him
accordingly, and in the course of our conversa-
tion, he said, ‘ Two French and English com-
missaries are to confer about the Karunguli
country®, so I have orders to ascertain who
oceupied it before the peace. I have asked the
amaldér to give mo a statement of how affaira
stood when negotiations for peace began and
what has happened gince. If you will bring
the statement to your old ofﬁm, I will come
to-morrow, and discuss matters.” Thereon I
sent for writer Rangappa Mudali and told him
to give mea copy of the statement dated Octo-
ber 11, given to M. Delarche about what the
Englishhad done. I was also told to send for
Ayyan Séstri, former amaldir of the Wandi-
wash country, and Rangfji Pandit’, amaldar
of the Karunguli country, and ascertain what
happened at that time ; as also for Muttu
Malld Reddi of Karungulipdlaiyam, who was
on the English side, to obtain a statement
from him.

V Znd Mdei, Bhava.
* They were du Rocher bimself and Tobin, for the French ; Mas-
kelyne and Paccard for the English.
* Probably a slip for 'Vun.k.l;u menticned below.
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! Tuesday, February 11'—This morning I
sent for writer Rangappa Mudali, Venkéji
Pandit and Ayyan Sistri, the former amaldirs
of the Karunguli and Wandiwash countries
and Muttu Malli Reddi of the Tindivanam
country, and told them to remain there in my
office in the nut-godown, till I returned with
M. du Rocher. Afterwards I went to M. du
Rocher’s and told him that I had summoned
writer Rangappa Mudali, ete., to my office as he
had desired yesterday, and that, if he would
come, we could discuss matters. He replied,
‘I will come in about an hour. You can keep
them till I come.” I took leave therefore and
went to the Fort to visit the Governor, giving
him a bar of phle-coloured gold, and saying,
‘I succeeded Kanakarfiya Mudali as the Com-
pany’s chief dubésh on his death, on February
12, 1746. I sent spies about the capture of
Madras and I know how that territory was
obtained. I sent my younger brother, Tiru-
véngadam with M. de La Bourdonnais when
he went against Madras, and was in charge of
business after our capture of the place, during
Mahfuz Khén's attack, his sickness and flight
to Conjeeveram, his subsequent march with
Muhammad 'Ali Khin and encampment on
the banks of the Pennér near Fort St. David ;

' drd Mdési, Bhava.
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his attack on Pondichery, and the conclusion
of peace. When in the year 1748, the English
Admiral, Mr. Boscawen, the Unlucky, raised
batteries and attacked Pondichery for two
months by land and by sea with 40 ships and
gloops, all the Tamils and Christians left the
town with their women and children ; but I
remained with my family, reporting the
country news, amidst bombardments of shot
and shell. Chandé Sihib and Hiddyat Muhi-
ud-din Khén then came, and in the battle of
Ambtr M. d'Auteuil and his army cut off
Anwar-ud-din Khén, the Nawib of Arcot.
Then when Nésir Jang had come, and
taken Hiddyat Muhi-ud-din Khédn prisoner,
Chandd S&hib fled to Pondichery, but our
army attacked Nisir Jang (who had re-
tired to Arcot) at Désir and defeated him.
Hiddyat Muhi-ud-din Khin then came here,
obtained the Deccan subahs and moved again
to Arcot. In all these maftters, I laboured
hard, while M. Delarche, only forinterpreting
to Hiddyat Muhi-ud-din Khan for 15 days,
got 5 lakhs of rupees. He then got himself
appointed caissier in the Council. Long be-
fore this, M. Lenoir had advised with me and
sent me as captain to Porto Novo and managed
all trade by me. My bales of blue-cloth were
stamped R and sent to Europe, and accounts
written of my services ; a letter of thanks was
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sent in return.’ I had written out all these
details in a cahier in French and gave it to
the Governor, reporting all that had taken
place within my memory. He replied, ‘I
always keep my word and will show this docu-
ment to the Company, and the ministers, and
get you a medal and presents, with treasure
adequate to your services. I will bring these
when I return in 18 months, or, if I do not
come, I will send them to you, and I will write
to the Governor to treat you well, and write
to you every year also. Ihavealready written
a note to M. Leyrit, which I will give you the
day after to-morrow. I sail on Saturday and
I shall talk with you at leisure. You may go.’
Just then M. Clouét came, and the Governor
talked with him, so I departed to the sorting-
godown. I told Appivu to be present at the
sale of horses by outery, and was about to go
according to my appointment with M. du
Rocher, when M. [ ]’s* son came
to me and said, ‘M. Cornet has got an order
signed by the Governor for 300 pagodas, for a
gold chain, pendant, sarpéech and turra to be
presented to you. I wrote out the order. I
thanked him, and went to my office where M.
du Rocher was waiting. What happened
there [ ].

* Thetranscript has Semirsupayan.
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Tuesday, February 18'—Riman, M. Barthé-
lemy’s servant [says], that as M. Barthélemy
is in charge of the government,® he is promis-
ing every one this and that, and encouraging
one to accuse another, hoping to get sums from
100 to 3,000 or 10,000 rupees. M. Godeheu
knew that his* master, M. Barthélemy, was
taking bribes ; so, before departing, he ordered
him to do nothing without the consent of
the Council, for fear that he should shake all
the fruit, ripe and unripe, from the tree. Men
say they know not what punishment God will
give him for his conduct.

This morning I reported the following
news :— In the Ulaganalliir, Kachiriyan-
pAlaiyam, Mangalir, etc., tannahs—7 or 8
places in all—a Moghul, who was head of the
Ulaganallir tannah, on not receiving his pay,
made friends with the captains of the sepoys,
and sent word to Mir 'Abd-ul-rahmén of the
Bravisanallir fort, swearing fo join him and
his people ; after which he seized the people of
the Kalkurichi country, yielding a revenue of
two lakhs, forcing them to cut their paddy,
etc., and collecting money. He does not suffer
my amaldir to appear in those parts, and is

v 16th Mdsi, Bhava.

* Godehen had gailed on February 16, leaving affairs in charge of
s Committee of thres, Barthélemy, Boyelleau, and Guillard.

# iq., the dubdsh's.
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causing endless troubles. The poligar of
Véttavalam is doing the same.” When I had.
reported all this, he told me to bring a written
statement. Mir ’Abd-ul-rahmin has long
been exercising authority, has seized the
whole of Tirundmanalliir and is making dis-
turbances in Tiruviti, ete., places. He has
taken cowles from the cultivators in Kal-
kurichi, Villupuram, etc., countries in those
parts, and collected even 40,000 or 50,000 rupees
from the people. When I promised to write
all this, he said, ‘ Do g0 ; I will send powder,
shot and soldiers, ete. Also write out the dis-
tances of Gingee, Vriddhachalam and Tiruviti
from those parts.” I said I would do so. He
then went to the sorting-godown and thence
to his house. I stayed till 49 bales of cloth
had been made up ; then when M. Guillard
and other gentlemen had gone away, I came
home at noon. '
Friday, February 21.'—Before going to the
Fort this morning, I went to M. Barthélemy's
and said, ‘ The jemedars [ ] ete., and
heads of the guards at Kachirdyanpélaiyam,
Mangaltr, Ulaganalltr, etc., belonging to the
Kalkurichi taluk, complain that M. Godehen
paid them only a part of their six months’
arrears, Pérf Sami Rio who took a lease from

*13th Mdsi, Bhava,
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me in January has not been allowed to enter
Kalkurichi ; the ryots were seized and beaten ;
the crops werc ordered to be cut, and the
revenue seized ; having done all this, they
joined Mir ‘Abd-ul-rahmin, who has been
causing disturbances from Eravésanalltir fort.
Mir 84hib also went there and made terms,
when salutes were fired and sugar distributed.
They intend to plunder the Tiruviti, Villu-
puram, ete., countries.” Theseare the contents
of the cadjan letter which I have translated
into French.

Venkata Rio, amaldir of Vriddhachalam,
has written that the major serving under the
Commander, is compelling the bazaar-people
to give him four or six rupees for each shop,
and beating, kicking and otherwise troubling
people. Having translated this letter also, I
gave him these two letters, along with the
French complaint about the disturbances
caused by Mir 'Abd-ul-rahmén of Eravisa-
nallir and the loss of 40,000 rupees sustained in
our country by troubling the people. I also
delivered M. du Rocher’s letter from Maduran-
takam addressed to the Council and sent by
Venkédji Pandit, who was amaldir of the
Karunguli country in writer Ranga Pillai's
time, and who has come here.

Muzaffar Khin's son then came with
M. Godeheu’s passport for Muzaffar Khin's

22
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wife. He read the passport and, signing if,
said that it only mentioned Muzaffar Khan’s
wife. I observed that she must be allowed to
take her people and goods, and repeated this
to BAgir Miyin (Muzaffar Khén's son) and
Dilawar Khén.

Shaikh Ibrihim’s son then came, saying,
‘On receipt of M. Bussy's letter about sending
me and my mother, M. Godeheu sent for me
and gave us leave and a gate pass. It has
taken us long to make all our preparations.
Permit us to leave this evening.! So saying
he showed M. Godeheu's pass for the Madras
gate. He read and signed it underneath and
told them to go by Ellore, Rajahmundry and
Chicacole. Muzaffar Khin's son and Shaikh
Ibrahim’s people then departed.

M. Guillard, who is acting as the Second,
M. Bourgquenoud, M. Boyelleau, M. Delarche,
M. du Bausset and others came to hold a
Council. Learning that they had come to hold
a Council upstairs, M. Barthélemy said to me
that he would place before the Council the
papers I had given him, and went up. Iwent
to my office in the flower garden and waited
there. Nallappa Nayinir, the newly ap-
pointed head-peon, came and said, ‘Only

" Muzaffar Khén’s wife’'s name was mentioned
in the pass, so I reported that her eldest son
.should stay here, but asked whether the two
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children in arms might be taken away. He
permitted me to do so; so in his presence, I
wrote a pass and gave it I replied that he
must do as the Governor had said. He took
leave and departed.

A chobdar and M. Barthélemy's second
dubésh said that all the Councillors but
M. Barthélemy, M. Guillard and M. Boyelleau
had gone away and that therefore I was
wanted. When I went upstairs, I found M.
Barthélemy, M. Guillard and M. Boyelleau.
I was offered a chair. They said, ‘M. du
Rocher's letter from Madurantakam says :—
“ Venkiji Pandit with Elaichiyappa Mudali
managed the Karunguli country in writer
Ranga Pillai’s time. I am sending him back
lest he should do something unexpected, or
join the English amaldAr and tell lies against
us.” Where is Venkiiji Pandit ?’ I replied, * M.
du Rocher has written the same news to me-
He is very clever and capable, and I find him
using much prudence in all things. The state
of affairs there proves the zeal and activity he
has shown in transacting our people’s business.
Rumour or something, I know not what, made
M. du Rocher suspect Venkéiji Pandit and send
him to M. Duliron at Alambarai, who has sent
him on here with four sepoys. M. du Rocher
has managed the affair so cleverly that neither
Venkéji Pandit nor the people there knew till
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this evening that he was to be brought to
Pondichery. No one else can see through the
trickery of the English or manage the Com-
pany's affairs.” But M. Barthélemy could not
bear my praise of M. du Rocher, and said,
“What does he know? Venkéji Pandit can
only be imprisoned if some definite charge is
brought against him, and evidence given fo
support it.'—'True,” I replied, ‘this Venkéji
Pandit formerly served the English and then
came here. Now he is on neither side. Now
that conferences are going on, M. du Recher
feared that Venkiji Pandit might go back to
them, and assert falsehoods. So he has been
prudent enough to send the Pandit unsuspect-
ingly to Alambarai and thence here, knowing
that nothing will be done to him, and that we
can send him home when affairs have been
settled.” M. Boyelleau and M. Guillard said
that I spoke truly. M. Barthélemy agreed.
He then asked about Mir S&hib. I replied
that along with Mahédéva Ayyan's guard, he
was troubling people greatly. He replied,
‘That is because they have received no pay.
That business must be stopped. A letter must
be written to Madras about Mir Sahib saying
that, though he is our man, he has been caus-
ing disturbances in our country against us,
that therefore troops must be sent against
him, when their reply has been received.! I
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replied, ‘ The English are not to be trusted. If
we try to secure peace by fair means, they
throw some obstacle in the way, so, they must
be treated as they treat us. M. Barthélemy
said that M. du Rocher was acting hastily. I
replied, ‘ He is not that sort of man. When
he went there with Mundu Venkata Reddi,
the amaldir of Karunguli, the sentries at the
gate stopped the latter and almost tore his
gown from his shoulders. When M. du
Rocher left them and came out, Mundu Ven-
katarima Reddi showed him his torn gown,
and related what had happened ; and M. du
Rocher sent an angry message to the run-
away' captain sent by the English, that his
man should not have been treated with such
disrespect and that he would not brook the
repetition of such conduct. Is he to blame ?’

He then asked me how much had been paid
in of the collections up to now, and when the
balance would be paid in. I replied, ‘ There
are accounts of what has already been paid,
More than 1,550,000 rupees will be paid by
March 30, and as much more by April 30 ;
and the balance will be paid monthly by Sep-
tember 30.' He said that in two months from
13 to 2 lakhs must be paid. I replied that I

1 Reading Oinakapitin for Odakapitdn. I believe the reference
is to Paccard, who was alleged by the French to have twice deserted
from Pondichery. French Correspondence, 1756, No. 17
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would certainly pay over whatever was collect-
ed without failure. He asked if the whole
amount would be paid in by September. I
said it should and added, ‘ Mir S8ihib with the
tannah people is disturbing the Kalkurichi
tuluk, yielding a revenue of two lakhs. The
Pandiri of Véttavalam,is doing the samo.
You know this, and also the disturbances in
Karunguli and the departure of M. du Rocher
thither. There are also disturbances in cer-
tain villages yielding a revenue of a lakh of
rupees in Wandiwash taluk.” M. Barthélemy
said, ‘ That will be all right. M. du Rocher has
gone thither ; and we will write about Mir
Sahib's conduet, have him punished, and pre-
vent such disturbances” I replied, ‘I must
report to you what goes on, otherwise you
will blame me. Moreover it concerns the
revenue and that is why I report it to you."—
‘Don't worry,” he replied, ‘I will see t]mt
there are no disturbances.’

Then M. Barthélemy said in the presence
of the councillors, M. Guillard and M. Boyel-
leau, ‘I see all sorts of people are entering
the Fort in palankins. Henceforth the Com-
pany’s courtier among the Tamils, and Chanda
Sahib’s son, Taqi S&hib’s son and 'Ali Nagqi
among the Muhammadans, alone are to be

! The diarist had rented the revenues of the conntry round Pondi.
chery. O
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admitted in palankins.,’ He then gave orders
accordingly to the major. I requested permis-
gion also for my son, [and] Appivu. M. Guil-
lard and M. Boyelleau were against my request ;
but M. Barthélemy said, ‘Don't argue with
them now. Wait and I will get the permis-
sion for you. We then talked at length
about affairs in M. Dupleix’ and M. Godeheu's
time. Therp were present in all five persons—
M. Barthélemy, M. Royellean, M. Guillard,
M. Chevreau M. Godeheu's secretary, and I.
After some conversation, I took leave and
came home.

Saturday, February 22)—When I went to
‘M. Barthélemy’s this morning, he took me
aside and asked me who Mir 'Abd-ul-rahmén
or Mir Sihib was. I replied that Mir 'Abd-ul-
rahmén’s real name was Qamar Sihib. There-
upon he asked what should be done in his
affair. I replied, ‘' The tannah people, having
received no pay for six months, have joined
Mir Sahib and are plundering the country.
If 800 soldiers, 700 peons and 50 troopers are
sent with sufficient powder, shot, cannon, ete.,
with the help of the poligars of Mangalr and
Kingudaiyiyan, they will beat Mir Sahib, and
all will be struck with fear. Some of his
people are sending messages offering to join

1 1dth Mdsi, Bhava.



176 THE DIARY OF ' (FEen. 22,

our people once our troops march from here.’
M. Barthélemy said, ‘ He was our man former-
ly, but now he is giving trouble. We must
first write to the English that we are sending
troops to attack him and then despatch the
troops ; for, otherwise, the English may say
that he is their man ; but if we write to them,
they will not say so. But have you written
out a list showing the route, the halting
places, and the villages on the roads, ready
for our sending troops to Eravisanalldr?’
I said that I had not and that I would write
one now in French and come back with it.
He replied, ‘I have written to the English
according to the terms of your letter of
yvesterday. I will go tothe Fort, hold a couneil
about it, and add what more should be written.
You had better also come to the Fort.” 8o

saying [
:

Sunday, February 23.)—I left home this
morning, and, going to M. Barthélemy's, said,
‘ Yesterday a letter was received from Nandi
Rijh in a laced bag addressed to M. Godeheu.
I am going to M. Le Beaume to get it translated
into French.'— What does it say?’ he asked.
Ireplied, Itis to the following effect .—* When
I was in Mysore, Muhammad 'Ali Khén pro-
mised me Trichinopoly, confirming it by oath

2 15¢h Mg, Bhava.
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and a writing. But after his business had
been done, he did not keep his promise but
. offered instead a crore of rupees towards my
expenscs. At that time M. Dupleix offered,
with the council's approval, to give us the fort
of Trichinopoly. Thinking that the French
always kept their word, I gave up my agrec-
ment with Muhammad *Alf Khén, andfor two
years maintained my own sibbandis, at the
same time bearing the cost of the French
troops. At that time a letter summoned me
back to S8eringapatam. Iinformed M. Dupleix ;
but he replied that I must not go as many men
were expected by seven or eight Europe ships,
on whose arrival he would send reinforce-
ments to capture Trichinopoly and give it to
me. M. Godeheu then arrived by the ship as
temporary Governor,and he wrote that I should
trust him. He recalled M. Mainville, the
commander, and sent M. Maisgin, who spoiled
everything. He then, to serve his own ends,
wrote that a truce had been established for
three months. Thereon I wrote that I should
return home as there was no war. M. Godeheun
replied that I should not do so, but remain
at Srirangam, whither after three months he
would send large forces to capture Trichi-
nopoly and give it to me. Him also I believed
and remained. Otherwise I would have gone.
Then it was settled that there should be no
23
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war for 18 months. When three months
were over, Muhammad 'Ali Khéin and the
English captured the southern countries and
the middle country belonging to me. DBut
we have not been asked to send troops to
recover them. Moreover now Nawfib Salabat
Jang and M. Bussy have crossed the Kistna
and areecoming against Mysore to collect the
peshkash.! Inreliance on you, I expended all
the peshkash money on maintaining troops.
So how can I pay Salabat Jang and M. Bussy ?
If you will give me Trichinopoly, I will give
a bond to the merchants and get money with
which to pay them. Otherwise let Muham-
mad 'Ali Khin be asked for money to be paid
to me for my expenses; and I will repay
it. It is the duty of the Governor to find
resources for this money, so you must write
in such a manner as to prevent M. Bussy and
Salabat Jang from causing disturbances in our
country '". Hearing this, he said, ‘I will read
it later on. We must both examine the
accounts of the peomns for the first of the
month and settle them.—I will do as yon
please,’ I replied.

Friday, February 28°—This morning
M. Barthélemy, M. Guillard and M. Boyelleau,
having summoned me, wrote out and gave me

¢ Bee Orme, Vol. I, pp. 404-405.
* 20th Misi, Bhava.
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in French the reply to be sent to Nandi RAj.
M. Chevreau (M. Godeheu’s secretary) was
present. I took the paper to M. Le Beaume
and had it translated into Telugu. M. Barthé-
lemy then sealed it and gave it back to me
to put in a laced bag. I despatched it by a
camel-man with one to M. Dusaussaye. The
letter says :— M. Dusaussaye writes to me
that you sent troops against Turaiyir in spite
of all he said to you. You know that we have
resolved on peace and that neither side shall
take up arms, that Turaiytr is ours, and that
we collect its peshkash ; therefore I am
surprised at your behaviour. However I trust "
that, on receipt of this letter, you will with-
draw your army, and act in a friendly manner ;
otherwise I shall regard you as an ememy.
This should be known to you. Deeming you
my sincere friend, I wrote to M. Dusaussaye
to help you, observing the terms of the treaty,
and behaving in a friendly manner towards
you. You should do likewise.’

M. Barthélemy also gave me a cadjan
letter from M. Yvére[?], the commander at
Tiruviti, saying :—* Morfri Rio has plundered
Sitghar, and ’Abd-ul-wah&b Khifin’s people
are interfering unjustly. The Nawib of
(Cuddapah is marching with a large army
supported by the Nawibs of Kandanfr,
Sivanfir and Bankipuram, and even Mordri
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Réo, to seize Chidambaram. In the battle
between Salabat Jang, and Ragh6ji Bhonsla
and Fatteh Singh, the Marathas were defeated
and put to flight, and Salabat Jang has gone
to Hyderabad with the 2,000 horses and 5
cannon which he captured. The Nén& and
Muzaffar Khéin are marchive with 40,000
horse and 60,000 valiant soldiers towards the
Carnatic. Narasinga Réio has delivered the
letters he obtained for the Naw#bs of Cuddapah
and Kandantr, and is marching against
Tirupati with 500 horse and 500 wvaliant
" soldiers” When I thus reported the contents,
three-fourths of which are false and only a
guarter true, he told me to keep the letter.
I have put it in my awvashi. I then took
leave and came home.

1 sent for Venkataniranappayyan, the
Mysore vakil, who sent Séshappan his writer.
I told him about the letter written to Nandi
R4ja and advised him to write to the latter
that, if he acted rashly, the end would be bad.
I did not write to Nandi R4j4 myself, as the
writer, Venkayyan, had gone to Kumbalkonam.



1755) ANANDA RANGA PILLAI 181

MATRCH 1755.

Satwrday, March 1} —At seven o'clock this
morning, I went to M. Barthélemy's. I was
told that he was talking to M. du Rocher, the
commissary at Madurantakam, to settle the
villages in the Karunguli, ete., countries dis-
puted between the English and the French.
I went therefore to my office, where I heard
that M. Barthélemy, M. Guillard, M. Boyelleau,
and M. du Rocher, 4 persons in all, had con-
sulted together till half-past twelve. Ithen
came home as it was past noon.

At half-past five this afternoon, M. Barthé-
lemy sent his chobdar with a receipt for
30,000 rupees to be paid out of the rent
moneys. The chobdar delivered me the
receipt and said that he had been ordered to
give me two letters in bags brought by a camel-
messenger from Nandi Réja. I told the
chobdar that I had no money but I should
receive money in two or three days, when I
would pay it and take the receipt. So saying
I returned the receipt. Of the two packets,
one was addressed to M. Barthélemy, M.
Guillard and M. Boyelleau and the other was

1 215t Mdsi, Bhara.
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addressed to me. The packet addressed to
M. Barthélemy, ete., was open ; it contained a
list in Kanarese of the amounts owed by
Rémalinga Pillai (Vindyaka Pillai’s man). I
do not know why it was in that packet instead
of in mine. Nandi Riji's letter to M. Barthé-
lemy, etc., says:—‘'I hear that our vakil,
Venkataniranappa Ayyan, said that weshould
leave Srirangam if M. Dusaussaye the com-
mander were not recalled and another ap-
pointed in his stead. I neither wrote nor gave
any such order ; nor would Venkataniranappa
Ayyan say such a thing without orders. No
such thing could have happened. If a new
commander has been sent, let him be recalled
and M. Dusaussaye continue.” The Iletter
contained compliments. 1 wentout intending
to get it translated into French and give it
1O-mMOrTow.

I therefore left my house and went to my
office in the flower-garden. Réiman, M.
Barthélemy’s dubésh, brought me back the
receipt for 30,000 rupees, saying, ‘ The chobdar
is a foolish fellow. Why did you send it
back ? You can pay the money in instalments
in three or four days; but try to send 10,000
rupees to-morrow.— Very well,’ I replied, ‘I
will send you all the money that has been
collected to-morrow.'—* Let it be sent,” he said.

- As he was leaving, I said, ‘ The money has to
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be paid to the sepoys, and M. Barthélemy has
already spoken to me about it. The amount
will be paid in small sums.” So saying I took
the receipt and dismissed him.

After he had gone, Madaninda Pandit
came and said M. Le Beaume had told him
that, as it was very late at night, he had had
no timeo to tramslate Nandi RéjA’'s letter into
French and that he would have the transla-
tion ready to-morvrow. I told Madaninda
Pandit to keep the letter and bring the
translation to-morrow.

Nandi R4jd has not mentioned the details
above-written in his letter to me, but says that
M. Maissin has received from him large sums
of money, and jewels, which must be returned,
and that Tydgayyan knew all about the
madtter.

At the time of the exchange of prisoners,
M. Godeheu wrote asking Mr. Saunders to
release Rangd Pandit, who was imprisoned
along with the soldiers in Fort St. David at
the time of Chandéi Sahib’s death in 1752. I
now hear that Mr. Pigot, Governor of Madras,
has written about it to Mr. Starke, Deputy
Governor of Fort St. David, along with the
letters to the council here. Venkata Réo,
Rangd Pandit’s nephew, reported the news to

me this afternoon.
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Wednesday, March 5'—1I was too unwell to
go out this morning, so remained at home,
having sent Appavu and Guruvappa Chetti
to the place where the Company's merchants
were packing cloth.

Kasttri Rangayyan (the Turaiytr vakil) and
Kulasékharam Venkataniranappa Ayyan reacd
to me the cadjan letter of Varadarija Reddi,
the Turaiyir dalavii. It says, ‘I have given
large sums to the  Company and am under
their protection. This displeased Nandi Ré&ja
who is now collecting the troops he has in pay.
Troubles may begin at any time. I have
written the thing that is. Nandi RAja has
sent 3,000 horse, 5,000 foot, and 5,000 of the
fort troops,’ to help Rimé Reddi and Varada
Reddi, against the wishes of the commander.
The troops set out on the 20th, appeared on all
sides on the 21st and fought fiercely till the
26th, many being wounded on both sides.
Varadd Reddi treacherously brought large
forces into the town. Unable to continue any
longer, the dorai and I set out with our
children on the morning of the 24th and
reached Ariyalir. The palace and the town
have been plundered and Nandi RAjA4 must
have taken ten or twelve lakhs of plunder;

1 25¢h Mdsi, Bhava.
*i.¢., of those lying before Trichinopoly.
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though Réjasri Pillai Avargal' is at the head
of all affairs, and he and the Company are well-
disposed towards me, yet Nandi RAj4 has
attacked me. Tell this to Riijasri Pillai Avar-
gal, whose duty it is to maintain matters as
formerly, so that he may settle our affairs and
protect us, thus obtaining glory. Remain with
him day and night and explain all things to
him, so that he may earn the honour of ¢stab-
lishing a settlement. Formerly in the matter
of horses and elephants, he sent them to get
glory ; and now if he is on our side, like Sri-
ranganfiyaka,® and helps us, all things will
prosper. As the times are bad, it will be of
great help if the money is sent through
Séshichalam. Tell this to Rajasri Pillai
Avargal.

Thursday, March 6’—I was unwell, so I
remained at home this morning also. I hear
the following news :—When Vindyaka Pillai
was granted the roundel,' 10,000 rupees were
given to M. Barthélemy as a nazar, 120 pago-
das apiece to M. Delarche and M. du Bausset,
25 pagodas to M. Guillard, 21 pagodas to M.
Desfresnes who refused it, und 25 pagodas to
M. Boyelleau who also refused itand told him

* i, the diarist.
* Sriranganiyaka or Briranganitha is the God of the great Vishnu
temple at Srirangam.

" gaeh Mdsi, Bhava.
¢ A very special privilege and dignity.
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to go away. Thereon Vindyaka Pillai went
out and gave the nazar to M. Boyelleau’s
dubésh, who took it at once to M. Boyelleau.
But on seeing the pagodas, the latter in anger
struck his dubish twice, and told him to bring
Vindyaka Pillai back. He ran out immedi-
ately after Vindyaka Pillai and brought him,
having given him back the pagodas. On sec-
ing Vinfiyaka Pillai, M. Boyelleau said, * Am I
to take momey got by thievery? Why did
M. Barthélemy give it' you who stand with
folded arms before the courtier ? Go.” Vina-
yaka Pillai then gave a nazar of 11 pagodas to
M. Miran, who refused it, but asked, * Where is
your roundel ? You should cover your head
with a basket or winnowing fan. They would
become you well. You write accounts as a
cooly works for daily wages ; so why should
vou have a roundel ?’ Thus Vindyaka - Pillai
was dismissed in anger, and his pagodas were
refused.

This morning I sent by Sieur Vida Correa
[?] to M. Chevreau, M. Godeheu’s secretary,
the Persian letter from 'Abd-ul-majid Khén,
Nawib of Cuddapah, with its French transla-
tion.

Nandi Rajd’s letter to M. Barthélemy,
M. Guillard and M. Boyelleau says :—* I hear

! The privilege of having a roundel,
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that you propose to send another commander
to replace M. Dusaussaye, at the 'request of
my vakil, Venkatanfiranappa Ayyan ; I never
wrote to him about it, nor could he have said
go. If anybody bas already been sent as com-
mander, letthim be recalled and M. Dusaus-
saye be sent back' I received this letter
and its French translation along with the
others ; but I think they had been opened by
the Company's people.
There was also an account for 41,762 rupees

and 5 fanams made up as follows :—

Money due from Arum-

phtai RAmalingarPillai. 11,000 rupees.
Money due from Silidin

Mudali .. . 6,100 rupees.
Money due f-rom Ekﬁm-
bara Mudali ... ... 20,000 rupees.
Money due from Bipu
Chetti ... .. eer 3,342 rupees
and 5 fanams
Money due from Tiru-
véngadanitha Mudali. 720 rupees.
Total in chakrams from
five persons ... ... 41,762 rupees’

and 5 fanams

! Tha actual total is 41,162 rupees,
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There was a French copy of this account
and these two were sent by M. Chevreau.

Nandi Rija's letter to M. Dusaussaye, the
commandant, is as follows :—' Beyond what
was promised by note of hand on Turaiytr
in Paraménanda Pillai’s time, for what further
sum are we responsible ? Why do you object
saying that you have received a letter from
Turaiytr? It is not the Company's. The
poligar is under me, and has paid me rent
these four years. Everything shall be settled
in the proper manner.’” I gave this letter, and
its French translation—8 writings in all—to
Sieur Vida Correa whe told mc at five that he
had delivered them to M. Chevreau at the Fort
at four o'clock.

The Topass Louche[?] at three o'clock
brought a letter from Nandi RA4j4 to M.
Barthélemy, dated February 28. He said that
M. Barthélemy wanted a French translation.
I sent it to M. Le Beaume at four o'clock by
Madanéinda Pandit to be translatedinto French.
It says that Turaiyir is one of the countries
pledged for interest on the loans given by
Nandi Rajid to [Muhammad 'Ali] ; that the
poligar has nothing te do with the Company,
and a letter will be written about it; that
Nandi Ré4ji did not exceed his rights, or
cross the Cauvery to attack the English ; but
that the English and Muhammad 'Ali Khéin
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transgressing their limits, have captured the
country as far as the palaiyam of Manapphrai
and are advancing southwards ; that although
he has written several times about this, no
answer has been received and he is unwilling
to continue in Srirangam.

The receipt of these letters, the recall of M.
Dusaussaye, and the several reports, make me
believe that M. Dusaussaye, the commander,
has had a bribe of 20,000 rupees with 10,000
to the dubédshes and others, to purchase his
consent to and countenance of Nandi Réji's
seizing Turaiytr. Hence these letters.

Friday, March 7.'—Vinfyaka Pillai, having
sent all necessaries last night to Chandi
Sihib’s house, ordered food to be prepared there
for a feast to be given to him and M. Barthé-
lemy ; then with all the dishes that had been
cooked, Chandé Sihib’s son Razd Sihib, 'Ali
Nagi Sahib and Vindyaka Pillai went to M.
Barthélemy's house and ate. Two salutes of
19 guns and three salutes of 15 guns were fired.
Two pieces of broad cloth, five yards of cloth
of gold, two small mirrors and a musket with
a broad-cloth cover, were given as presents fo
Chandé Sihib’s son. At four o'clock, M. Bar-
thélemy drove out in a coach and six with the
Séhib Zada on his right and "Ali Nagi Sahib

v #7th Mdsi, Bhava,
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and M. Delarchesitting opposite. After them
came a carriage drawn by two horses with
two accountants. Then in a one-horse carriage
drove M. Barthélemy's sceretary, and after him
Vindyaka Pillai driving himself in a one-horse
carriage. Then came two Turopeans (whose
names I do not know) in a coach and pair, and
last of all M. Barthélemy's dubfsh Rému
Pillai on horseback with four troopers. They
returned at seven o’clock.

At two o'clock in the afternoon, M. Barthé-
lemy sent a bond for a lakh of rupees given
on the security of Pulluvari Chennappayyan
and executed by Nandi RAji in favour of Para-
ménanda Pillai on account of the Company’s
dues. As it wasin Kanarese, I sent Gopéla-
swami at five to Mysore Venkataniranappa
Ayyan’s house to get it translated by his writer
Séshayyan into Telugu and Tamil. I write
below the details .—

* A document given by Nandi Riji to Para-
ménanda Pillai on 2nd Arppisi [October 15]
the 14th day of the bright half, of Aswija. If
a dress and a seal-ring are obtained for Chen-
nappayyan by 17th Arppusi [October 30] Bhava
(the 15th day in the bright half of Karitigat),
Paraminandan must receive the amount from
Chennappayyan ; but if they are not given
within this time, I will pay the lakh of rupees.’

1 [Sie] ? Dark half,
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Gophlaswami asked Venkataniranappa
Ayyan what this was about and who Chennap-
payyan was. Venkataniranappa Ayyan said,
‘Kédam Pulluvari Chennappayyan is a respect-
able person holding an appointment in Mysore.
He went to Nandi RAji and proposed to train
the troops in the fort and take charge of the 72
military posts, for which office, which is called
Kandachar,! he would pay the Palace a lakh of
chakrams with a present of a lakh of rupees.
Nandi Raji replied, “I owe money to the
French ; if you will pay them, I will get you
a dress and a seal-ring for the appointment
from Mysore.” Chennappayyan then agreed
to pay the amount to Paraminanda Pillai and
at his request Nandi RAjA gave this bond in the
name of ParamAnanda Pillai’ Gopilaswimi
asking if Paramédnandan had really received
the amount, Venkataniranappa Ayyan replied
that he must have received it and given Nandi
RAijh a receipt.

(GopAlaswimi reported this to me at seven
o'clock. Thereupon I sent’' for my vakil
TyAgayyan, in order to ask him what he
knew of the matter. On his arrival, Gopila-
swAmi questioned him. He replied in Telugu
and 1 have written it also in Telugu.

* The word seems to have meant either military administration or
the police establishment. Bee Rice's Mysore, Vol. I, pp. 579 and 604.
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Yesterday M. Barthélemy sent me the
agreement executed by Nandi RajA in favour
of ParamAnanda Pillai, for translation into
French. I had no time to get it done yesterday,
but aiten o'clock to-day, I sent Rimiinji Pandit
and Gopilaswimi to M. Le Beaume for that
purpose. They accordingly went to M. Le
Beaume but as he was busy with the (Jom-
pany's accounts, there was some delay. A
chobdar from M. Barthélemy came and said
that he had been sent to fetch at once the note
which had been given for translation. I sent
him back with a message that I had given it
to be translated, and that I would send it as
soon as it was finished. When this message was
given, M. Barthélemy waited a short while and
then sent another chobdar for it. The latter
said that the Governor was very angry and that
he had been ordered to bring it at once. Im-
mediately, I sent two peons for it to Réminji
Pandit and Goépélaswimi, but M. Le Beaume
still had not done it. By this time M. Barthé-
lemy had sent another peon. As I could not
delay longer, I sént the peon to Vida Correa to
get it done and have a Kanarese copy made of
the original letter sealed by Nandi Raji. When
this had bapn done, I sent the chobdar to M.
Barthélemy with the Kanarese copy, the
original and the French translation with a
translation of Nandi RAji’s letter to M.
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Barthélemy and its original—5 papers in all—
and told him to deliver them to M. Barthélemy
with my salaams. He did so and informed me
accordingly.

Soon after the tappal-man from Srirangam
told me that he was going back with a letter
from M. Barthélemy to M. Dusaussaye, the
commander there. They showed me the letter.
I gave it back and told them fogo. I won-
dered why M. Barthélemy had been in such
haste for the bond. I suppose he has sent
Nandi R4ji's agreement with Paraménanda
Pillai aleng with his sealed letter to M. Dus-
aussaye. Nandi Riji’s Kanarese writing to
Paraménanda Pillai is as follows [ I

Sunday, March 9)—At five o’clock this
morning Mélugiri Chetti visited me in private.
He tells me that Riémayya Pillai spoke to him
as follows :—  When I was outcasted, Pillai
Avargal of his love procured my restoration.
After this, I almost starved ; the lady * gave
me charge of the cattle business, with a share
in the profit, and made me happy. Then I
became dubdsh to M. Barthélemy. Chanda
S4hib’s son made me a present of a dagger, and,
when I wore it in visiting the [Governor], he

* 26¢h Mdsi, Bhava.
s dmmdl Avargal. Perhaps Ranga Pillai's wife ; but it may mean
Mme, Dupleix.

25
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said, “ Even Pariah. grooms are wearing dag-
gers,” and gave me a Bunder dress of honour.

For this reason I behaved as I did to Vinfyaka
Pillai. Razd Sahib is giving me presents ; and
now if only I be given a fine dress of honour,
I will settle everything in a weck.”! Mélugiri
Chetti told me that I should give him a good
present. I replied, ‘ You told me just now all
I had done for him and how he had behaved
to me. He himself has told you everything.
Besides, he is our man, so what matter how he
behaves ? But I must tell you this. When
Vinfdyaka Pillai was writer in M. Dupleix’
time, everything was managed without diffi-
culty. Nevertheless when Parasurdma Pillai
returned in the palankin given him by Chandé
S&hib, he was told that he might only ride in
a palankin outside the bounds and not within.
How much must not M. Barthélemy have
demanded for permission to usea roundel | He
will be blamed for that. I will, however, give
Rémayya Pillai a dress of honour, a chain
with a pendant, and a palankin and send
Appévu to conduct him home, if he brings
hither the roundel that has been bestowed.’
Mélugiri Chetti then took leave, but returning
at noomn, said, ‘I have informed Rimayya
Pillai of everything and he says that your plan
cannot be followed, but he will do everything
in a week. M. Delarche, M. du Bausset and
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Chandi 8&hib’s and Vindyaka Pillai’s people
have told M. Barthélemy that you were
saying you would send M. Barthélemy, M.
Delarche and M. du Bausset in chains on
board ship to Europe; therefore, before this
happened, Vinfiyaka Pillai should receive the
privilege of the roundel and everything else,
and possession should be taken of the country.
That is why all these things have been done.
[Rmayya Pillai] promises to reverse and
settle all these matters in a week ; he adds
that M. Barthélemy intends to-morrow to
give you such presents as have never before
been known, and that therefore you should be
pleased to come abroad to-morrow.” I replied,
‘I need mno presents.” Then, patting him on
the back, T encouraged him, saying, ‘As I
told you this morning, he is my man ; let
him seize the roundel that has been given,
and bring it to me. Then I will give him a
palankin.’

At seven o'clock this evening Guntir Ven-
katfichala Chetti came to me, saying, ‘ When
I visited M. Guillard, he complained that
you no longer favoured him with news as you
used to do, or visited him, at which he is
angry. He said that M. Barthélemy’s con-
duct was so faithless that it would certainly
lead to his imprisonment, for he had done
what no writer had ever done since the town
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began, for he had plundered the Company,
and was willing to do unheard of things for
whatever was offered him, with more to that
effect. M. Boyelleau also asked why you had
not visited him, and I explained that you had
been unwell. He replied that he had heard
of your illness, but that your real reason was
M. Barthélemy's behaviour ; but, said he, that
does not matter, for M. de Leyrit sailed 12
days ago, the winds are fair and gentle, and
he will arrive in five or six days, when many
strange things may happen. He told me to
advise you to have ready two lakhs of rupees
of the country money,' and to give M. Barthé-
lemy something, if he demands it.” This is
what happened.

Tuesday, March 112 —At five o’clock M. Bax-
thélemy received a lefter from Nandi R4j4 ;
but it brought only the news contained in that
which arrived on March 6 ; I got it translated
into French and sent it to M. Barthélemy.

Salabat Jang's letter to M. Godeheu received
to-day is as follows:—'1 am-gratified with
the sword, ete., sent as presents by M. Bussy,
who has returned after settling affairs in
Chicacole, Rajahmundry and those parts. May
M. Bussy's fame and friendship increase.! I

1 the revenue colleetions, * 1st Panguni, Bhava, -
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got this letter of compliment translated into
French, and sent it to M. Barthélemy by a
chobdar. I have kept a copy in the table-
drawer.

Friday, Mareh 14)—I did not go out this.
morning. The Englishman from Karunguli
M. Barthélemy, M. Guillard and M. Boyel-
leau discussed their business till noon and
then went home.

Saturday, Mareh 153 —Tambi* Kanda
Pillai writes from Kirikal that the new poli-
gar of Karikal will give a nazar of 10,000
rupees, and that the revenue of the four
mdgdns (including the tolls) has been settled
for 1,20,000 rupees.

Sunday, March 16°—This afternoon, M.
Boyelleau sent a man for me about eight
times, supposing that the Europe ship sighted
at three o’clock had M. de Leyrit on board.
He even had a letter written by Guntar Ven-
katichala Chetti and sent it to me. Before I
reached the Fort at four o'clock the drums were
beating, and M. Barthélemy was going slowly

Lath Panguni, Bhava,

* The Commissaries at this moment were Edmund Maskelyne and
Achilles Preston ; but their proceedings reveal no trace of a visit to
Pondichery, The Englishman must therefore have been some other
person. . )

3 5th Panguni. Bhava.

¢ Literally * younger brother,” but probably used here as a term
of affection.

8 gth Panguni, Bhova.
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to the beach, having ordered the soldiers
and sepoys to assemble there ; Vindyakan and
Réman followed him with blank faces. The
vessel, supposed to be bringing M. de Leyrit,
left Furope on August 8, and put in nowhere
on the voyage.! The name of the ship is the
Diane, M. Racelliére® captain. Tho catamaran-
people brought letters, the perusal of which
lightened the faces of M. Barthélemy, M.
Delarche, Viniyakan and Riman.! 1 arrived
at that moment, and immediately after, M.
Barthélemy set out homewards with the
standards borne in front of him. He was ac-
companied by M. Delarche ; and behind them
went Vinfyakan and Riéman and a palankin.
Thus they returned home talking together. I
went to the choultry on the beach, where
the Europeans were assembled. In our conver-
sation the European gentlemen said, ‘ As the
ship did not fly the square flag on coming
into the roads, and fired eleven guns, we
thought that M. de Leyrit must have come.
Europe ships never arrive in this month, and
such a thing is most extraordinary. Ships
have come for the English ; and as these two

* Leyrit was of course coming down from Bengal. This wasa
false ularm,

2 Ranga Pillai writes ‘Pilushilier ' but of. Correspondance de
Pondichéry avec Bengals, Vol. III, p. 267. He died on the return
voyage from Beogal.

3 The letters would show that the vessel came from Europe and
therefore could not have Leyrit on board,
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ships have arrived together, something impor-
tant must have happened.’ FEvery one then
went away and I went with them to the Fort.
When the ship’s captain landed with the
packet of letters, nine guns were fired from
the ship. He went upstairs. I went to the
small garden, fo listen to the music there and,
after spending some time merrily, came home
at eleven. The packet of letters was opened in
couneil, and T hear that it was eight o'clock
before the letters had been read, after which
the councillors departed.

Afterwards Virarighu came and reported
the following :— Mélugiri Chetti formerly
came and asked me to write a letter to Gingee
which should remain in his charge. It was
arranged that he should see you, and that you
should then tell M. Barthélemy and give him
the letter, in return for which everything you
wished should be done in eight days. He
now asks why the matter is delayed, and fears
that affairs may take a different turn. 1
replied that I could not speak again to my
master, before learning his mind, on a matter
that had been discussed only four days before,
that nothing would prosper unless my master
agreed to it, and that nothing would be got by
threats, which was all that I could say".

+ The matter of this intrigue is obscure. I suppose it is not
unconnected with Vinlyakan's roundel.
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Mélugiri Chetti waited till noon to visit
me privately, and then said, ‘ You know that
I was to have a letter about Gingee to be
delivered to M. Barthélemy, when he should
promise to do as.you wish within a week.
Why is the matter delayed ? I fear that things
may go wrong, and only Rimayya Pillai's
father has prevented that till now. Now at
least write the letter and give it I was
astonished at his words. Who is he to talk to
me thus without fear or forethought ? I gave
him rope enough to see how far he would go.
But he could not understand, and talked large.
Rimayya Pillai spoke to him, and he has
spoken to me. Meditating this, I replied,
“What ! a thing like him to threaten me ! Who
and what is he ? When formerly he was a
starving outcaste living on alms, I restored
him into caste, provided for his food, made a
man of him again, and introduced him into
M. Barthélemy's service. Has he forgotten
all this ? But now that he has a little money,
he has lost his wits, and acted thus and sent
me witless messages. How dare he act thus ?
He will learn wisdom from what will befall
him to-morrow. You are like a rustic selling
beans, not a man who serves a gentleman or a
dorai. The Marquis Dupleix listened to his
wife's words, treated me as an enemy, and
did his utmost against me. Before his time,
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Kanakaraya Mudali used underhand means
against me ; yet what did he achieve? When
my father was imprisoned for ten days in M.
[ Hébert's] time, forty or fifty thousand was
spent to get the matter heard even in Europe,
with the result that orders came to imprison
M. [Hébert] here and put him in irons, and
confiscate his property ; and he was sent in
irons' to Europe, to receive due punishment.
Such was my father. You are but a mosquito.
Why should I fear your threats? You will
learn better when you go to the gallows to-
morrow. As heis my man, & plant planted
by me, I have borne with him all this time.
How comes it that you did not know this, and
behave accordingly ? Hitherto I have been
patient. You are of Bunguvér's family ; and
g0 long as you are with [ Rimayya], you must
give him advice. Why do you always sing to
his tunes? Take my advice. Go.! Thus I dis-
missed him.

When I went to the Fort this morning, the
council was examining the letters received
from Europe in orvder to deliver them to the
proper persons. As all were thus busy, I
went upstairs to pay my respects to M.
Barthélemy and the other councillors and then
went to the sorting-godown, as there was no

E L
1 8e., inarrest.
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need to remain when all were sitting in
council. While I was there, the letters were
distributed, after the letter to the council had
been read. I related to M. Guillard, in the
presence of M. Desfresnes, the contents of the
letter I had just received from M. Duvelaer,
the director of the Company in Europe, who
has gone to England on an embassy from the
King! Rémachandra Ayyan and others were
in the sorting-godown, when I opened the
letter and read it. It was written with high
compliments, as to an equal, telling me that I
should learn all the news from the letter he
would send by Father [Labustement?] He
added that, as eighteen ships had been des-
patched to India, seven for Pondichery, three
for Bengal, three for China, four for Masca-
reigne and one for Mahé, I must attend to
getting in goods to be sent by these ships ; he
is looking after my interests ; he is now in
England ; but on his return to France, he will
attend to my affairs and do what is needful.
On hearing this, Rimachandra Ayyan and the
others declared that, never since the town was
founded, had the Company written thus to its
courtier, but by my good fortune the Com-
pany's director had written from England, on

* He was the leading person in the deputation sent in 1754 to
eonfer with the English Company about peace.
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an embassy from the King of France, with so
many compliments. They said they were
delighted at my receiving it.

The following matter was discussed to-day
at the Council :—M. Barthélemy reported a
letter from M. Porcher,! saying that the lands
belonging to Kirikil had not been weeded and
that the banks had not been repaired, which
could not be done once the waters had arisen ;
he urged therefore that the lands should be
let out at once so that the renter should take
pains about it. But M. Boyelleau objected
that it should not be done, as M. Godehen
before his departure ordered the matter to lie
over till M. Leyrit's arrival from Bengal, as
people might offer more than 1,20,000, which
was offered at Karikidl. M. Barthélemy ob-
served the date of M. de Leyrit's arrival was
uncertain, and that, if the matter were delayed
till then, the work in the villages could not
be done. At last it was decided that the
matter must lie over for a week, and that, if
M. de Leyrit should not arrive by then, it
should be put up to outery. I hear that
letters have been despatched to Kérikil sum-
moning people to bid. I then went away to
my office in the flower-garden.

About noon a peon came and said that M.
Barthélemy wanted me. When I went, he

! Chief at Kirikil.
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gave me a cadjan letter of Sintappa Mudali of
Karunguli to Pirpathiyam Néranappa Ayyan
of Achcharapikkam to be translated into.
French. He also asked if I had translated
into French Venkiji Pandit's cadjan letter
about which M. Godeheu had left a note in his
own Hand saying he had given it to me to be
translated. I repliedthat I had given him the
original, and the French translation soon after
M. Godeheu's departure. M. Barthélemy said
that he did not remember it. I observed that
I must have recorded it in that day's diary.
‘ Would you really ?' he asked. °‘Certainly;’
I replied. ‘Then, bring me a copy,’ he said.
I agreeing took leave, and came home. I
examined my diary for February 16 among
the dufters, and found there a note that I had
given it. I wrote accordingly, made copies of
Venkéji Pandit's cadjan letter and its French
translation as written in the diary, and put
them ready in the almirah.

At five o'clock this evening, I went to the
Fort. As the Council was not sitting, I did not
give Sintappan the original and the French
translation of the cadjan letters of Venkaji
Pandit and Néchiyappa Nayakkan; but I
took to my office in the flower-garden the
French translation of the cadjan letter from
Karunguli given to me this afternoon by M.
Barthélemy. I came home at nine o’clock.



1755) ANANDA RANGA PILLAI 205

‘When M. Barthélemy was returning to his
house at eleven o'clock after the council had
broken up, he, accompanied by M. Delarche,
vigited Chandd Sihib's house. Razd Sahib
gave M. Barthélemy a dress of honour, a bdju-
band' set with precious stones, and a pendant,
as presents, and a dress of honour and a
sarpéch to M. Delarche, after which they were
dismissed.

When I went to my office in the flower-
garden at five this evening, I wrote a reply to
M. du Rocher's letter to me from Maduranta-
kam, had it despatched and put the copy
among my French papers.

Wednesday, March 19*—At sunrise before
going to the Fort at seven o'clock this morning,
I examined the foundation which is being laid
for a kitchen on the south side of my house.
When I went to the Fort, the Germans had
three new standards ready to be consecrated
there. M. Barthélemy had invited the coun-
cillors and others to a feast. M. Barthélemy,
etc., the German officers, captains, etec., M.
Pichard, and others, and even the peruppdnai,’
heard mass. The German soldiers were
formed in line and fired three volleys; and

! A braselot,
Y0k Panguni, Blara.

* Literally, the great pot. Perhaps we should read Perupillai, the
Great Pillui, i.e., the time-serving Rilmayyu.
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three salutes of 21 guns were fired. After the
ceremony of consecration, the flags were
carried out and displayed, at which all thrice
shouted Vive le roi and the old flags and the
poles were burnt. All then dispersed. It is
the name day of the Marquis Dupleix. If he
had remained here, there would have been
great firing of guns and cannon, feasts, illu-
minations, fireworks, and so on; but as he is
gone, there was none of these.

Friday, March 21)~—The following news
arrived this evening by letter from wvalkil
TyAgayyan's younger brother at Srirangam.
One letter, dated [March] 12, says:—
‘ Muhammad 'Alf Khiin and the English who
marched southwards,® have captured Madura
fort ; Mudidmiah [and| four [others] fled to
the south ; but were pursued. Muhammad
'Ali, ete., have oceupied the middle country and
even advanced to Tinnevelly which has been
seized. They intend to march against Sétupati
with the aid of the Réij4 of Tanjore and the
Tondimén. Hearing this, Nandi RAjA sent a
message to the commander complaining that
the 18 months’ time was enforced only against
himself, and asking why he should sit still
like a helpless man while Muhammad 'Ali
Khén and the Inglish attacked his ally

1 11th Panguni, Bhara,
* This relates to Heron's expedition to Madura.
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Sétupati, and captured his possessions, Madura
and other places.’

The letter, dated [March] 13, says about the
appointment of Varadarija Reddi as the new
poligar of Turaiyfr, that when a lakh of
rupees was demanded for the Company, 30,000
rupees for expenses at Pondichery, and 25,000
rupees for the expenses of the commander—
1,60,000 rupees in all—Nandi R4ja replied that
part of the Company’s lakh had already been
paid, that he would pay the balance, and that
he had required Varadid Reddi to pay 60,000
rupees, but the latter would pay only a portion
immediately and the balance after he had been
installed as poligar.

The letter of [March] 16 says:— ‘M.
Dusaussaye, the commander, wrote to the
Rajh of Tanjore that he ought not to attack
Sétupati before the expiry of the 18 months,
and that his troops must be recalled. Nandi
- R4jd bas received presents from the Turaiytr
poligar for his installation ; butthe command-
ant at Trichinopoly disapproves. Neverthe-
less they have been kept ready to be sent on
hig arrival. Mir Sihib of Elavinasfir sent a
confidential man to Muhammad 'Ali Khén at
Trichinopoly and secured a lease of Elavinas(r
for 10 or 12 years at an annual rent of 40,000
rupees. The commander visiting the fort,
complained that, as they had agreed that there
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should be no war for 18 months, they should
not help Muhammad 'Ali Khin to capture
Madura, Nadumandalam and Tinnevelly, or
to attack Sttupati. Thereupon they agreed to
withdraw their troops in a weck. DBut when
they had sent M. Dusaussaye, the commandant,
back to Srirangam, they ordered Muhammad
'Ali Khén's troops in the south to capture
Tinnevelly at once, and return, leaving a
garrison there. Appéji Pandit, the Turaiyir
vakil, is treating about Turaiyiir, but the
affair goes badly. Muhammad 'Ali Khin and
the English are said to be about to march to
Arcot.” There was added an account of the
country watered by the Cauvery.

Varadariija Reddi, the new poligar of
Turaiyir, has written to me with compliments
that, as the former man was disobedient and
troublesome, refusing the peshkash, and kill-
ing two or three of the Company's servants,
Nandi RajA has been pleased to give Turaiytr
to the writer,-who prays for my support also.

Monday, March 24.)—I went to the Fort this
morning, where M. Barthélemy and the other
councillors were assembled ; so I paid my
respects and went to my office in the flower-
garden, where I received letters from Guru-
mirti Ayyan, younger brother of Tyfgayyan,

) 14th Panguni, Bhava.
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at Srirangam. The letter of [March] 17 says :—
Nandi RA4jA summoned commandant Dus-
aussaye, and asked him whether Turaiyur
Varadavija Reddi should be appointed poligar
of Turaiytr. The commander agreed, provid-
ed that a lakh should be given to the Company,
35,000 to the Governor, and 25,000 to the
ecouncillors. Nandi Réji replied that he would
write about this to Pondichery. The com-
mander departed, saying that it could be done
after orders had been received. Nandi RAaja
then sent Ayyamperumél Pillai to Turaiyir,
and will send Haidar "Ali Khfin to-morrow, as
he means to appoint Varadarija Reddi's son
poligar. Varadarija Reddi’s man has visited
the commander offering for the Governor of
Pondichery a yearly nazar of 12,000 rupees,
25,000 for the councillors for this year only,
and over 15,000 for the commandant and the
darbir expenses, and saying that the people
of Appiji Pandit (the Turaiytr vakil) should
not be allowed to show their faces. The
commandant has more or less agreed. The
Furopeans who came in five palanking from
Trichinopoly, returned in the evening after
eating.

The letter of [March] 18 says:—In conse-
quence of the commandant’s former letter to
the Raji of Tanjore, desiring the recall of the

27
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men sent against Vellaiyan Sérvaikiran!,
orders have been sent to the fort-people for
their return. No poligar has yet been ap-
pointed for Turaiyir. RAmalinga Pillai,
Savarirfiya Pillai, and Bapi Chetti the
Koémutti, who left Pondichery on Thursday,
are on their way.

The letter of [March] 20 is as follows :—
When the Turaiyir wvakil visited the com-
mandant, [the latter] asked him for 35,000
for the Governor, 25,000 for the councillors,
and 30,000 for the expenses of the commander
—90,000 in all ; but this was not agreed to ;
so the commandant sent for Appéji Pandit,
the old poligar's vakil. Appéji Pandit has not
yvet arrived. But Varadarfija Reddi has sent
a vakil to this place'; and Ayyamperumél
Pillai has been appointed diwin. Nandi Riji
has sent respectable persons with a horse, a
gold bangle, and a dress of honour, to invest
him with the office. The man sent by the Rija
of Tanjore to assist the poligar of Ariyaltr
is at Tirumalavidi. Mandumiyin® has joined
Vellaiyan Sérvaikiran, and his wife and
family have been imprisoned in Madura fort.
Twenty lakhs have been seized by his people
and three lakhs were secured by Muhammad
Ali Khén for his expenses,

* Dalavii of Stupati, Maduga District Manyal, Part IIT, p. 471,
* Pondichery,
* Mudimiah ?
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Tuesday, March 25'—M. Duval de Leyrit,
the Directeur of Bengal, arrived by a ship at
seven o'clock this morning off Virdmpattanam?®,
A square flag was flown on her main mast.
The old flag at the Fort was hauled down and
a new one hoisted. Then the générale was
beaten, and the soldiers and officers assembled.
I myself went down to the Beach, at seven, and,
gending for Vindyaka Pillai and Nallappa
Nayiniir, told them to erect plantain trees and
tie coconut leaves, on both sides of the way
up to the Fort gate, then to cut the kérai®in
the ditch and spread it in the middle, and
over this to lay 20 pieces of bleached long-
cloth. Afterwards M. Boyelleau, M. Des-
fresnes, M. Goupil, M. Solminiac and M.
Pichard, the commander of the German troops,
went to meet him in a chelinga provided with
seats' ; and when they reached the ship, a
salute of 21 guns was fired from the Fort, and
the ships in the roads also saluted. M. Ley-
rit's ship replied to them ; and at nine o'clock,

' 15th Panguni, Bhava.

This passage down to the end of the diary for March 29 is repeated,
withminor varistions, at pages 1—20, Volume XII of the Madras
transcript.

* The latter copy gives the nnme of the vessel as the Company's
ship I'"fndien, M. Bonchez commander.

" A kind of long grass.

¢ The chelings, or masula-boat, being intended for carrying cargo,
rather than passengers, was not usually provided with seats.
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_—

when she was off the town, she fired a salute of
11 guns which was returned by the Fort with
an equal number ; at half-past nine when M.
Leyrit got into the chelinga, his ship fired 21
guns, which were answered by all the othor
ships. M. Barthélemy, M. Delarche and others
then went down to the Beach ; the chelinga
reached the shore, and M. Leyrit landed. "M.
Barthélemy and the rest paid their respects to
him, and he returned his compliments. As he
approached with all ceremony and entered the
sea-gate, a salute of 21 guns was fired, and all
then went upstairs in the Fort. I also accom-
panied them. After waiting there for a quar-
ter of an hour, when the councillors had
brought the King's orders appointing M. Leyrit,
and the soldiers had been drawn up opposite
the Gouvernement in the Fort, all went thither
in order, the letter was opened, and the Secre-
tary read the order for all to hear. All thrice
shouted Vive le roi, and 21 guns were fired.
When M. Leyrit was turning to go upstairs,
I offered him two limes with my compliments.
He took them pleasantly, and, having thanked
me, went upstairs. I accompanied him. He
examined the building, and told M. Barthélemy
that it was fine. M. Barthélemy invited him
to breakfast. He accepted, and, getting into
the state palankin, he went first with music
and all pomp followed by M. Barthélemy,
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When he reached M. Barthélemy's house, I
went to my office in the flower-garden and then
came home.

Wednesday, March 26)—At seven o'clock
this morning I went to the Fort, where were
assembled the councillors, Tdnappa Mudali
(Kanakariiya Mudali’'s younger brother), the
newly-appointed Nayinir Nallappa, the Choul-
try-writer, Madaninda Pandit and others.
When M. Leyrit had waked, dressed, and come
out, all went and paid their respects. I did so
too. A box of letters and records packed in
gunny, and which had been brought from
Bengal was opened ; and when the Governor
had examined them, the councillors, officers,
captains, writers, ete., paid their respects and
- departed. The Armenian Johannes(Coja Elias’
son-in-law) and others did the same. Five or
six priests of the Capuchins’ church also visited
him, but he did not speak with them atlength,
only oxchanging compliments. The Bishop
from Cochin-China also paid his respects;
then the Superior of St. Paul’s church came,
but had to wait before paying his respects;
so he came fo me and said, ‘ There is a place
called Sadésiva Pillai's Panikkankuppam
under Venkatimpéttai; it is a Christian village,
and Protestant priests from Tranquebar dwell

v 16th Panguni, Bhava.
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there under the protection of Sadéisiva Pillai
of Venkatfimpéttai, and preach their religion
to the annoyance of the Christians' there. The
revenue of the village cannot be even 20 or 30
pagodas ; and, if it were rented to me, the
(Christians would pay the rent and the Protest-
ants would be unable to continue there and
would go away. When Ispoke to M. Godeheu
about it, he said that he would give it free;
but as he has gone away, be pleased to do us
the favour of getting it for us’ Ireplied,
‘ Louis Prakéisan has already spoken to me
about this and I said something or other to
him. But if you will send for him now, I will
question him about it, and send the necessary
orders, to prevent the Protestants from little
by little spreading their religion.” The priest
then visited the Governor,spokewith him a few
moments, and went away. M. Barthélemy has
frequently visited and talked with the Gover-
nor. When M. Boyelleau and M. Lenoir were
with the Governor, I went to the Couneil Hall
and paid my respects. He returned my com-
pliments. M. Boyelleau then said that the
Governor wanted to speak to me about affairs.
M. Leyrit then asked about the two lakhs
of rupees of revenue due on March 30
according to the terms of the agreement.

1 Se, Roman Catholic.
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M. Boyelleau replied, ‘ He will pay two lakhs
of rupees, but it will consist of several kinds
of pagodas and fanams as rcceived from the
country. The pagodas must be changed into
rupees, and the fanams will have to be
sent to the proper places to be.changed into
pagodas, which must be changed into rupees
here. Madras rupees are of lower touch
than ours and therefore will not be current
here. Bo Ranga DPillai says that the money
shall be paid, partly in rupees and partly
in pagodas’ The Governor observed that
I had agreed to pay rupees and that four
lakhs of rupees had to be sent to Bengal. I
replied that only three lakhs of rupees need be
sent to Bengal, and the remainder kept in
pagodas here in the chest to meet the expenses.
The Governor asked if there would not be a
loss over the exchange. I replied, ‘Why
gshould there be loss ? The Company’s mer-
chants receive advances on their contract in
pagodas ; and they may be kept for that.'—
‘That is possible,’ he said. I then continued,
‘Three lakhs and a half may be sent instead of
four ; for two lakhs and sixty thousand rupees
will be paid in from the mint, and I will pay a
lakh, so that three lakhs and sixty thousand
rupees may be sent.’— Well,’ the Governor
replied, ‘ you may carry on your work without
anxiety.” I thanked him, M. Barthélemy
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who had been outside came in and showed the
Governor a writing. After reading it, the
Governor went out with him to the Secretary’s
room, where Kanakarfiya Mudali's younger
brother’s adopted son, the choultry-writers,
Madanfinda Pandit and his people, and
Vinfyaka Pillai, came and presented him with
limes. M. Barthélemy talked all the timeo ;
the Governor said nothing, not even looking
at me or nodding his head. He then came back
and told me to look after the lands and tho
Company’s business as in M. Godeheu's time,
M. Boyelleau said to M. Leyrit that as, after
M. Godeheu’s departure, I had not been treated
well, I had been eagerly expecting his arrival
without transacting any business, and that I
had been hoping for some encouragement from
him. Thereon M. Leyrit turning to me said
that I might depend on him so long as I
attended to the Company's affairs as in
M. Godeheu’s time and since, and managed
the countries ; that in two or three days, he
would do as I desired ; and that there was
no need to be anxious. I thanked him and
said that I would do accordingly. So I came
away. The Governor went into the further
room, and M. Barthélemy who had seen all
this, went away to his house with a down-
cast look, after inviting him to a meal.
M. Desfresnes then came with the minutes of
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Council and went away after obtaining the
Governor's signature. M. Boyelléau also de-
parted. Having taken leave of him, I went to
M. Guillard’s office to pay him 3,000 star
pagodas and 2,000 Porto Novo pagodas—5,000
in all—and desired him with compliments to
give them to the money-changers and enter in
my accounts to day their value in rupees
according to the current rate. He promised
politely to do =so and dismissed me. I took
leave, went to my office in the flower-garden,
and thence came home.

Thursday, March 27'—When I went to the
Fort at seven o’clock this morning, I paid my
respects to M. Duval de Leyrit, the Commander-
General, as he was returning to the Gouverne-
ment from Church with the councillors, officers,
sous-marchands and others at nine o'clock on
account* of the feast. Having returned my
compliments, he went upstairs with the rest
into the central hall where all paid their
respects to him, but he did not seem to return
their compliments or speak to them. He
seemed to be examining and admiring the man-
ner of the building, decorations and structure,
for he had no eyes for anything else. In spite
of this, M. Barthélemy persisted in talking to
him, but for all that the Governor neither

3 17th Panguni, Bhava. Kisuperundl [i.e., Maundy Thursday]. See
Vol. VI, p. 427, n. 1, supra.

28
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nodded nor smiled nor looked pleased. I was
astonished at this. He then went into the
large verandah, outside on the south, and
examined the workmanship with interest.
When I was there, M. Lenoir, the councillor
who went up to Bengal from here and accom-
panied M. Leyrit back, came to me and said
that this place had little trade, and was famine-
stricken. Ireplied,‘ What else can be expected
when the country is full of troubles and
. famine? The trade hasbeen ruined by politics.
Now that M. Leyrit has come as Governor, it
will flourish again." M. Lenoir replied, * When
I was in Bengal, T often told M. Leyrit about
you, your ability and character ; I also spoke to
him, when we were sailing here, and he always
spoke favourably of you and your affairs, and is
so inclined towards you that he will assist your
affairs to the utmost, as I will too.” I replied
with such compliments as to increase his joy
and his affection to me. M. Boyelleau then
approached me and said, ‘ T have spoken to the
Governor ahout you. Why do you always
wait to be sent for instead of attending the
Governor and explaining affairs to him? I
never saw any one like you. My tongue aches
with speaking to the Governor about you. In
M. Godeheu's time, you never visited him
unless he sent for you. That was wrong of
you. Do as I tell you. Tell him of your own
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accord what should be dome, and attend to
your affairs.’ Ireplied smoothly, ‘I have kept
quiet as I do not know his nature ; if 1 knew
him, should I wait till I was sent for? You
know my nature.’” M. Leyrit, who had watched
my conversation with M. Boyelleau and
M. Lenoir, then called me up and asked
me where some cadjan letters had come
from. I replied that they had come in
the tappal from KArikil in the south, for
merchants and others. Thereon he told me
to distribute them and went to his room to
write letters. M. Barthélemy afterwards went
in to talk with him, but he was sent away as
the Governor was busy with his letters. He
*then went home. I also went downstairs and
went to M. Guillard's place. He observed,
‘M. Leyrit is very close, and only acts with
deliberation. He will take every plan to pieces.
So you too must remember this and refrain
from hasty proposals. Then only your affairs
will prosper.” He continued, ‘ You have sent
me 5,000 pagodas—3,000 Star and 2,000 Porto
Novo. They will not pass here but we will do
our best. I have entered 16,000 rupees® re-
ceived in your account.’ I replied politely,
‘Thank you for your kindness. I have also
sent some pagodas and fanams Madras way to

! The second copy eays 19,000 ropees.
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be exchanged for rupees, so I am not idle’
Then, taking leave, I went to my office in the
flower-garden, and on the stroke of noon, I
came home, bathed, ate and went to sleep. A
peon came and said that the Governor wanted
me. When I went, M. Leyrit gave me a letter
from Nandi Raji-to be translated into French.
I took it, and gave him a French translation of
the letter from M. Pigot, Governor of Madras,
dated the [24th] instant and given to me by
M. Barthélemy to be translated into French.
The Governor took them, and went out for a
drive. I went to the Beach, then to my office
in the flower-garden, and at last came home.
Saturday, March 20.'—When I went to the
Fort at seven o'clock this morning, M. Loyrit
the Governor, the councillors, officers, writers,
ete., had gone to the Church whence, when
new water and fire had been blessed, thoe bell
rung, and all had been finished, they returned.
The Governor went up to the central hall of
the Gouvernement, whither all went and paid
their respects including myself. While the
Governor was talking with M. Barthélemy,
M. Desfresnes and M. Delarche, I and M. Lenoir
were talking in the southern verandah about
business. M. La Touche came up and said,
‘M. Leyrit has 15 or 20 candies of Olibanum

1 19th Padguni, Bhava,
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from Ormuz. It is of good quality. Try and
gell it here. I replied, ‘The troubles here
have reduced the trade to Arcot and other
places. The traffic is small. No one will buy
it here. It should be sent to Mocha.' He
replied, ‘That can only be done next year.
M. Leyrit told me to ask you. Try therefore
to sell it here.” I said I could promise nothing
about. it.

Just then M. Leyrit, who was in the central
hall, called me by name. When I went up to
him, he said, ‘During the troubles between
the English and the French, and on October
11, 1754, the Karunguli taluk, consisting of up-
wards of 360 villages, was in French possession.
On October 15 the English began to trouble the
management. The writing in M. Delarche'’s
hand contains what was said in Council
yesterday.! M. Delarche said that writer
Ranga Pillai had the three cadjan letters writ-
ten by amaldir Venkdji Pandit and Elaichi-
yappa Mudali about these disturbances caused
by the English. M. Leyrit turned to me and
said, ‘Get the cadjans from him and bring
me French translations of them. I replied,
‘ From the day when the fichting ceased up to
November, the English exercised no authority
in the Utramallir - country, Wandiwash,
Véttavalam, etc., places, in Karunguli, but
only in the Karungulipélaiyam and the town
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of Madurantakam. Since October 15, some of
their guards and sepoys in Karunguli fort and
Madurantakam have been marching out, seiz-
ing cattle and creating disturbances. There-
fore our amaldérs collected forces in order to
take possession of their country of Maduran-
takam and hoist flags in our own villages.
They wrote cadjan letters accordingly to the
jomadars.” M. Delarche said, ‘That is true.
When Phpayya Pillai in August delivered up
to me possession of the places he was manag-
ing, we had 70 villages in the Karunguli
country. M. Véry, having collected a few
German and French soldiers, marched against
Merkanam, Chindmpet and other places in the
Karunguli country. Consequently the English
manigars, peons, ete., in the several places fled.’
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APRIL 1755.

Wednesday, April 2)—When I was eating
my cold rice this morning, Kulasékharam
Venkatandranappa Ayyan came and said,
‘ When I went to Vindyaka Pillai's house last
night, he was holding kacheri ; hehad sent for
the Mysore vakil Venkataniranappa Ayyan,
Krishnappan (Moriri Rio's vakil), the Pandit
Gdvindan (Bhaji Rio's vakil), Naroji, the old
Nayinfir and his other friends. They all
arrived as Riman, M. Barthélemy's dubéish, was
talking. Vinfyaka Pillai told them gladly that
he had been appointed chief dubish, Pipayya
Pillai manager of the country, and M. Barthé-
lemy entrusted with the general superin-
tendence ; and that the Governor would
give them presents next day, so that they all
ghould come to vigit him. He said he would
arrange for the Company’s merchants and
mahdndttdrs to visit the Governor to-morrow.
He boasted of his cleverness, and told them all
to come back at six o’clock, having provided
gowns and turbans for those who should give
them, and mohurs, rupees, ete., to be given as
nazars to the Governor, and appropriate pre-
sents if the chief dubfishship should be given,

1 p3rd Padguni, Bhava.
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and othersif only a cane should be given, and
otherwise dresses of honour.” I askedhim to
find out the truth and inform me. He went
accordingly, and reported to me that Vindyaka
Pillai in great joy had taken to the Fort all
those who had come to his house. Afterwards
I went to the Fort, and, on my way, I saw all
assembled at M. Barthélemy's house. Tho
(Governor was just going upstairs to receive his
guests, after visiting the Capuchins' church,
8t. Paul's church and last of all the Mission
church. I paid my respects and waited there.
The Governor was talking to the Europeans—
M. Desfresnes, M. [Lenoir], M. Goupil, M.
Dubois, M. Bury and others, when M. Barthé-
lemy arrived. I desired him to arrange for
the Company's merchants to visit the Governor.
I was told that he would speak about it this
evening and that the visit might be paid to-
morrow. When I was waiting after I had
dismissed them, Vindyaka Pillai, the Mysore
vakil and Moriri Rio’s wvakil, ete., arrived.
The Governor went into his room with M.
Barthélemy who talked to him along with M.
Desfresnes and M. Lenoir. I wasalso present.
M. Barthélemy then told him that the vakils
had come to visit him. The Governor turning
to me told me to send for them. I sent Srini-
vésa Réo for them. But when he went, Vini-
yaka Pillai told them not to go. As the
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Mysore vakil, Venkataniranappa Ayyan is a
Tamil, and knows what has been going for-
ward, he disregarded Vindyaka Pillai's words,
and, getting up, came in deoming it improper
to stay when sent for. Moriri Réo's and
Bhiji Réo's vakils came with him. Mysore
Venkataniranappa Ayyan and Krishna Rio
presented the Governor with a nazar of 11
mohurs each and Bhiji Rio’s vakil with one
of 7 mohurs. When the nazars had been
accepted, I told the three to be seated. They
then spoke with compliments about their
affairs. Irepeated to the Governor what they
said and returned his compliments to them.
Meanwhile Viniyaka Pillai came in with 21
mohurs and 21 rupees on a tray which he pre-
sented to the Governor, and then stood aside.
When the vakils had heen given rose water
and pdn supdri with their dismissal, Réman
brought a dress of honour on a tray, which he
gave to M. Barthélemy with some words. M.
Barthélemy, receiving it, desired the Governor
to touch it and give it to Vindyaka Pillai.
The Governor then went into a room with M.
Barthélemy who talked to him. When the
latter came out, he met Viniyaka Pillai at the
door and took him in to the Governor tolet him
speak a few words of respect, after which he
went home with the others. Ithen went in and
said, ‘ You have done a very wise thing. This
29
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man is a thief who has robbed the Company of
lakhs of money. Many complaints against
him were presented to M. Godeheu ; and some
have been made to me since M. Godehou's
departure. Although the man who should
rightfully have been appointed to his place in
the management of affairs is now at Cuddalore,
yet Vinfyaka Pillai won over M. Barthélemy
and others with bribes to misrepresent the
case ; you therefore gave presents, helieving
what was said. In these circumstances, how
can my management prosper ?’ The Governor
replied, ‘Why did you not tell me all this
before ? How else could I know?’ I replied,
‘I have not seen you enough to know your
nature ; nor did you send for me to question
me about all this,. How then could I have
known your wishes and reported all matters ?
I was able to satisfy M. Lenoir, M. Dumas and
M. Dupleix because they followed my advice.
I never visit the councillorsnordo I serve
others. I deal direct with the Governor, nor
do I visit others with gifts. Many complained
to M. Godeheu against M. Dupleix ; among
them was this VinAyakan. On this M. Gode-
heu summoned and guestioned me. But I
neither wrote nor complained. When he went
away, M. Dupleix complimented me suitably.
Thus I have used my whole strength on behalf
of him who governed, seeking only his gain,
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and satisfying myself with the glory. If now
you also will listen to no advice but mine, and
act accordingly, I will strive for your profit
and win your favour.' Inhis delight he pro-
mised me his protection, calling on God to
witness what he said, vowing to do nothing
without consulting me. I replied, ‘If you
only do as I say in all affairs, I will so conduct
you as to bring you gain' I then explained
fully to the Governor the character of all here,
and the profits they make with proof of every-
thing, as well as affairs at Karikdl and
Masulipatam, Villiyanallir and Bihtr, and
about the villages comprised in the four
mdagdns of Karikil. The Governor ordered me
to come to him at half-past six to-morrow
morning, when he would discuss everything
with me and do as should appear best. He
then gave me leave and I departed.

Chinnu Mudali presently returned after
visiting the Governor. I came home.

1 hear that a complaint has been presented
to the Governor, in his palankin, against
VinAyakan by Black Muttayyan's younger
brother. The Governor read and kept it.

At four o'clock M. Reyne came, and with
his help 1 wrote out in French an account
of what took place between M. Godeheu's
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departure and M. Leyrit's arrival! Having
added a few details, I went to my office in the
flower-garden with the petitions given me to
be presented to the Governor to-morrow
morning. I got them all written by M. Reyne,
and then sent him to his house, and myself
remained in the office. ;

While I was still there, M. Desfresnes sent
a message that he would settle with the
Governor about the presents to be given to me
when the makdndttdrs paid their visit the day
after to-morrow, and that I should say what I
desired. I sent the following message with
compliments :—* I have already been given all
honour, I desire only one thing more. As I
am the Governor of all the Tamils, and you
and the Governor know what respect should
be shown to me, let the Governor order the
tambour to be beaten at the Fort and town-gates
inmy honour. If you will be pleased to speak
to the Governor about this, I shall never forget
your kindness." Such was my answer.

Thursday, April 3°—The following is the
message sent this morning by M.' Desfresnes

* This is probably the document a sopy of which T wns permitted
to see, among other papers, by the couttesy of the owner, M. Gallois-
Montbruu, at Pondicherry. T understand that this most interesting
mlle_ut-ian of papers suffered much damage daring the eyelone of 1916,
I print the document as nn appendix to this volume. It is dated
March 29 ; perhaps Reyne only revised the diarist's draft.

1 2dth Panguni, Bhava,




1785) AKANDA RANGA FILLAT 200

in reply to mine of last night :— When the
(Fovernor, M. Boyelleau and I were talking at
tuble, we said to him that presents were
usually given to the courtier when the Com-
pany's merchants visited the Governor, and
that this should be done when the merchants
visited him to-morrow. He asked us what
should be given. We said that a turra,
sarpfeh, chain and pendant, four pieces of
searlet broad-cloth of the best quality and an
18-yard piece of urope cloth of gold costing
30 pagodas a yard, should be given, with a
salute of 15 guns. *“ I will do so to-morrow,”
he said. [f we had received your message,
we might have discussed it; but as we had
not, the other matter could not be mentioned,
and we sent word to you last night.’

All things were being got ready at the Fort
this morning. I took the Company's mer~
chants, the new Nayiniir, and Bapu Réo of the
tobacco-godown, thither at seven o'clock, and
they visited the Governor at eight. The
Company’s merchants presented him with u
cloth worth 100 pagodas and a diamond ring
worth 220 pagodas ; my Appidvu with 200 on
account of his country management ; Salatu
VenkatAchala Chetti with 50 pagodas and a roll
of silk ; Bipu Réo with 50 pagodas; and the
Nayinir with a roll of China silk. When all
had offered their nazars, he put round my
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neck with his own hands a chain with a
pendant, tied the furra and sarpéch, gave me
four pieces of the finest broadcloth and 18
yards of cloth of gold, and ordered a salute of
15 guns. The others were given rosewatoer
and pdn supdri, and dismissed with orders to
obey me. I came home with them and the
presents, accompanied by music and other
marks of honour, distributed pdn supdri, and
gave them leave.

Just then four chobdars and a head-peon
said that the Governor wanted me. Immedi-
ately I got into my palankin and visited the
Governor at the Fort. He asked me about the
contents of a cadjan lotter received from
Karungulipilaiyam on October 3 and delivered
to the Governor with a French translation
which I had mentioned to M. Barthélemy. I
replied that writer Rangappa Mudali must
know as he was the manager of the country ;
and the latter said that he would report every-
thing in the evening.

Afterwards the Governor took me aside and
questioned me about Villiyanallir, Bahtr
and Kirikdl, I replied, ‘ M. Godeheu at M.
Bgyelleau's request said that these two affairs
gshould be managed by Venkatichala Chetti.
So I settled 20,000 pagodas for Villiyanalliir,
and Bahtr, and 80,000 rupees for the four
. mdgdns of Kérikdl. But M. Porcher wrote
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saying that 1,20,000 rupees had been offered by
the Kéarikl people for the four mdgdns,
Tirnmalriyapatnam (which Chinnu Mudali
hag on lease) and Kilaveli with the tolls.
Venkatéichala Chetti then offered 1,30,000
[rupees). Then, when M. Godcheu had sailed
for Europe, M. Delarche and M. du Bausset
told M. Barthélemy that, as M. Dupleix’
jaghir was being managed by Rangappa
Mudali, the taluks of Villiyanalltir and Bihtr
should not be given to any one but VinAyaka
Pillai ; and they proposed 23,000 pagodas for
the two taluks. M. Barthélemy agreed, and
proposed the matter in Council. But M.
(Guillard, M. Boyellean and M. Desfresnes
objected that before M. Godeheu's departure,
he had been managing Villiyanallir, Bahir
and Kéarikil affairs by Venkatichala Chetti's
means and that the matter should not be
gettled till your arrival. After a delay of a
few days, M. Barthélemy again opened the
subject in Council and proposed that it should
be settled at outcry. When matters stood
thus, you arrived, and decided that it should
be done accordingly.’ When I thus related M.
(Godeheu's intentions in order to convince M.
de Leyrit, the latter after a pause asked why 1
had not reported this to him before. I replied,
‘Because I did not know your nature. My
habit is to take the Governor's pleasure and
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not to mind other people.’ The Governor
replied, ‘ It has been resolved to sell the farm
at outery. The Arumpéhtai* has offered 22,100,
so it must fetch upwards of 23,000. But as
this decision has been taken, why mention
Karikal and Venkatdchala Chetti? Let it be
written in your name. I replied, ‘I men-
tioned Venkatichala Chetti only because M.
Godeheu spoke to me about him for the sake
of M. Boyelleau ; but I am here to obey.” He
answered, ‘ It should be in your name, but the
matter is to be settled at outery ; so what can
be done ?’ He then called his secretary. The
Governor talked with him for about an hour
and then sat down at table. I took leave and
came home.

Friday, April 4—At seven o'clock this
morning I went to the Fort and paid my
respects to the Governor who was alone. He
asked the news. I gave him the three peti-
tions 1 was carrying—the first presented by
Black Muttayyan about his imprisonment by
VinAyaka Pillai ; the second given by Bangiru,
his uncle, when he was afterwards rebuked,
with M. Godeheu's orders requiring me to
examine the matter fully and report to him ;
and the third given by Black Muttayyan

1 i, Vindyaka Pillai, 2 25th Panguni, Bhava.
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and Parasuriama Pillai. [I said,] ‘ Black Mut-
tayyan was in my custody when M. Godeheu
directed me to inquire about him ; but while
I was doing so, M. Godeheu departed. Then
Vindyaka Pillai sent peons to fetch Muttay-
yan from my house to the Fort without telling
me; on which I went to M. Barthélemy,
M. Boyelleau and others and reported what
VinAyaka Pillai had done. Therecon M. Bar-
thélemy sent for Vindyaka Pillai and said,
“ Rangappan alone has authority to take men
out of any house. How dare you send peons
to bring Muttayyan from Rangappan's house
without telling him ? I will tie you up and
give you 50 stripes.” I told him thathis mere
threat was equal to a beating, and took my
leAve. Two or three days afterwards, M. Bar-
thélemy himself ordered Black Muttayyan to
be seized and put into the dungeon, where he
still continues, and yesterday he was not even
allowed out for his food. This Vindyakan
plundered all the Company’s goods, and gave
them away to stop men's mouths. He pre-
sented a petition to M. Godeheu saying that I
had.given M. Dupleix 1,50,000 rupees at the
time of his departure. On this fellow's word,
M. Barthélemy has put Black Muftayyan in
dungeon not even allowing him out for his
. food.! The Governor grew angry at these
words, and he said, ‘ What business of M.
30
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Barthélemy is this ? This Vindyakan is only
one of the 70 writers. Who allowed him to use
palankin and roundel ? and who empowered
him to imprison or beat any man ?’

Then I reported in detail the affairs of
Kérikil, Bunder and the town, and, requesting
his patience, I gaid, ‘ Many things have to be
done ; and if you will but attend to business
strictly, without allowing influence to others,
and if yon will listen to me alone, youn and
the Company will gain greatly, while you
will earn the Company’s gratitude.”’ The
Governor answered, ‘I will do this. I will
give you Villiyanallr, Bihlr and Kéarikil ;
and will discuss all matters with you at
leisure before I do anything.’

The mahdnditidrs then came. I introduced
them, gave them rosewater and pdn supdri,
and, giving the Governor their petition about
the temple together with the Chettis’ petition,
addressed him with compliments ; then I sent
the mahdndttdrs home with Appévu, but my-
self remained. M. Barthélemy then brought
a petition which he gave to the Governor and
talked to him. M. Desfresnes came to me and
said, * M. Barthélemy wrote to me asking why
Villiyanalltir and Bahir have not been sold at
outery. I took the letter to M. de Leyrit, and
asked him what reply should be given. He
told me none was necessary. I asked him
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what I should say if M. Barthélemy asked
why I had not answered his letter. He replied
that I should tell him that it was no business
of his.”! Comparing M. Desfresnes’ words with
the Governor's, I perceived the Governor's
intention, and, taking leave, I went to my
office in the flower-garden, and thence came
home.

This evening, when I was in my office in the
flower-garden, two Europeans (whose names [
do not know) came at eight o'clock and gave
me a box of attar for Anniswimi, and said,
‘This afternoon M. Barthélemy presented a
petition to the Governor offering 25,000 pagodas
for a village' under you, but M. Leyrit refused,
whereon M. Barthélemy went away shame-
faced.” I heard this afternoon that all last
night Vinfiyaka Pillai was writing a petition,
which he took this morning to M. Delarche
at his comptoir to be corrected, and sent to
M. Barthélemy by Saravana Mudali. I think
he proposed 25,000 for the Villiyanallar and
Bahfir countries. This is the news.

Sunday, April 61 visited the Governor
this morning, when he asked me if his seal
had been finished. I said it would be ready
in three days.

i Sie. But see below, = 27th Panguni, Bhava.
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Then he asked about the complaints written
by the Furopean at Utramallir against the
amaldir of that place. I replied, ‘For the
sake of ten fanams, the European there with
the help of some people is hindering the amal-
dér’s work, and then writes here after raising
disturbances there. This sort of tl:un:, happen-
ed in M. Dupleix’ time ; and he, knowing all
this, ordered the commandant not to interfere
with the country or the amaldér, but look
after the fort and troops, obtaining what he
needed from the amaldiar. M. Godeheu did
the same.’

He then continued, ‘ Porto Novo is a sea.
port ; could such a thing happen there?’ T
replied, ‘ The merchants there have agreed to
pay in ready money; but if disputes arise,
they may offer to pay in kind ; so if Europeans
interfere, how can the Company get money ? I
have leased out the whole country.” Thereupon
the Governor wrote in his own hand how the
Europeans should behave, and returned the
several letters to M. Chevreau, telling him to
add it to the four letters and despatch them.

Yesterday afternoon, I sent for writer
Rangappa Mudali and told him to bring the
inhabitants of the Villiyanallir, Bihfir and
Valudivir countries to visit the Governor.
He replied that they had already wvisited the
Governor four times this year, at the festival,
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ete., and asked how they could pay him another
visit. I replied in anger, ‘How dare you
contradict me ? Is the country yours or is it in
your charge ? You are but a writer, and must
obey me, instead of doing as you please. So
bring them all to-morrow morning to visit the
Governor.” He then said that he had no
money. I asked him where was the money
collected from the country. He replied that
he had paid it all in yesterday. I then told
him to borrow. He asked what should be
done about M. Dupleix’ jaghir, Valudavtr, I
advised him to speak to M. Delarche about it
and do as he advised. So he went, and, re-
turning in about half an hour, said that he
had received orders. I then told him to bring
them all this morning. Accordingly a messen-
ger came and said that Rangappa Mudali had
come with all and requested a gate-pass for
the Fort. I got one und sent him away with
it. Then the Villivanalldr, Bihtr and Valu-
dévir people came with music and dancing,
and I presented them to the Governor. The
Villivanallir and Bihtr people gave a nazar
of 100 gold mohurs according to custom, and
the Valudévir people the same. The Ariyin-
kuppam people gave a nazar of 11 pagodas,
All then received rosewater and pdn supdri,
and, before taking leave, they said, ‘ We have
lived under the French flag for 5 years
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receiving our share of the crop without
disputes. Be pleased to allow this to conti-
nuo.) They were told that it should be so, and
sent away.

‘When all had gone, the Governor asked me
if I had brought any letters. I replied, ‘ There
are several, which may be dealt with one by
one.! He then went into hisroom. Vindyaka
Pillai then brought him a letter and talked
with him. As Savaririyan and RAmalinga
Pillai were waiting outside, I think that Viné-
yaka Pillai's letter proposed sending them to
Srirangam. Then I took leave and came home
at noon.

I think the Governor asked about the
letters because of my promise on the 4th to
give him an account of all that had been done
in M. Barthélemy's time, but this did not occur
to me at the moment,

Monday, April 7)When I went to the
Fort this morning, the Governor was going
about the Fort inspecting the comptoir, liquor,
broad-cloth and cloth-godowns besides the
armoury and various other godowns. Lastly
he inspected the sorting-godown. He smiled
when he saw the stage erected, and, going
upstairs, called for me. When I went, he
asked about Nandi RAjA, Phpayya Pillai and

| -

* 25ih Panguni, Bhava.
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the country affairs. I replied, ‘Nandi Rija
still owes a balance of 22 lakhs of rupees to us,
and to Morari Rbo ten or twelve lakhs.
M. Godeheu promised to pay Moriri Rio when
Nandi RAjA paid his dues. Salabat Jang has
been claiming three or four crores as due to
him ; he has obtained four or five lakhs from
the Nawiibs of Cuddapah, Kandantir and
Adoni, but has spent this on his camp ; and
he is marching towards Mys=ore to satisfy his
claims. The Raji of Mysoro and Nandi Réja
are on ill-terms, as the latter owes us large
sums and has spent here four crores without
the RAjd's permission. And Nandi R4ja
blames us in every letter, but ignores what he
owes us.' The Governor replied that all this
could be settled when Nandi Riji came here.
I then continued, ‘ M. Godeheu's first object
was to secure peace ; 80 in October he agreed
that each side should enjoy what country it
possessed. M. Dupleix had declared that
Arcot was ours, though the English had seized
it, and that it should be retaken as soon as
troops arrived from Furope. At that time, the
troops were all at Aurangabad, Masulipatam
or Trichinopoly. As we had few men here,
the English took this opportunity to conquer
extensive countries. Affairs would have gone
better if M. Godeheu, who arrived at that
time, had insisted on seizing half the country ;
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but, as he did not do so, many plaeces conti-
nued in the English possession with only a
few outlying places in ours. As M. Godeheu
and M. Barthélemy did nothing, the English
claimed country yielding one or two lakhs
after the agreement had been made. Bosides
this, they have lately seized ‘the Madura,
Nadumandalam and Tinnevelly countries,
yielding 16 lalkhs of rupees. Such is the state
of allairs in the country.— M. Godecheun
behaved without foresight. We will see,’ the
Governor said.

The Governor then asked about Pipayya
Pillai. I replied, ‘M. Godeheu imprisoned
Pépayya Pillai on August 14, sealed up
his houses, etc., and imprisoned his people.
This caused much alarm, and, if he had
* struck the hot iron, and ordered the accounts
to be produced and examined, large sums
would have been collected. Instead, M. De-
larche (M. Dupleix’ procurateur) was entrust-
ed with the management of the country and
the examination of the accounts, Papayya
Pillai’'s people were released, the seals were
taken off his houses, he himself was
treated kindly, and the accounts checked only
in name. This emboldened people and the
affair was spoilt. In M. Duypleix’ time, an
account had been given in of 8 lakhs due from
Pépayya Pillai and 4 lakhs due from his
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people—12 lakhs in all. But he' went away
without examining it.* He now says he has
obtained a release from M. Dupleix.'— Newver-
mind the release,” the Governor said, ‘how
mugch is he worth 7" I replied, * Ile is worth
four or five lakhs of rupees, and I know that he
has put his wealth into safe places outside.’—
‘Is that all ?” he asked. I replied, ‘ The affair
has been spoilt, and it will be very difficult
to sottle it now. That wonld not have heen
the case before. His man, Sim#A Rio, falsified
the military accounts to the extent of 30,000
rupees and secured the amount. Mahdddiva
Ayyan, Piapayya Pillai’s man, told me of this
and I told M. Godeheu, who ordered me to
enquire diligently into the affair. When I
imprisoned and questioned him, he agreed to
pay 10,000 rupees through Bili Chetti. But
then M. Godehou departed, and M. Barthélomy
and his dubfish RAman reconciled him and
Mahidéva Ayyan and sent them with troops to
Elavinastr® M. Godeheu did not enquire
what guards and jemadars had been maintained
in M. Dupleix’ time, but left all that to the
major for awhile. So Nérd6ji and others raised
a little money for the major, M. Barthélemy,
and his dubfish .Rﬁ.tlna.n, and thus managed

! Quere, Dupleix or Godeheu.
? {.e., Plpayya Pillai's nccount,
# Cf. Rangn Pillpi's letter printed in the Appendix,

31
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the affair. Then M. Godeheu entrusted the
matter to me. ’Ali Khin and others came and
offered me a month’s pay, amounting to 54,000
rupees, if I could get them their arrears. But
then, M. Giodeheu returned to Europe. When
M. Barthélemy sent Simé Rio and Mahadéva
Ayyan to camp with troops, it was agreed to
give M. Barthélemy a month's pay, and Riman,
his dubfish, half a month’s pay. 'Ali Khén
and others said that their remaining here
would be useless, so they departed.” All these
details I had mnoted on a paper which I gave
to the Governor, saying, ‘Pray, don't think
that I am complaining against a gentleman.
I am only reporting this because all profits
since your arrival should go to you.' The
Governor replied that M. Barthélemy had
visited him yesterday evening, and said that a
sum had been arranged in the matter of the
troops. 1 observed that he knew what I
should write, and so, being on the alert, had
reported thus.

Afterwards I gave him the French trans-
lation of Yéachappa Néiyakkan's Persian letter.
He asked when a reply should be written.
I replied that none need be sent at present
and that I would tell him when it should be
done.

I then said that the killedar of old Gingee
was coming to visit him with an elephant.
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*Why an elephant ?’ he asked. ‘ Won't they
give money ?’ I said I would ask and inform
him. He asked how many elephants M. Du-
pleix had. Ireplied,*Hehad twelve elephants,
but sold three ; but, as he had Valudivir,
vielding a lakh of pagodas, besides the
Masulipatam jaghir, he considered himself a
mansabdar of the Pidshih, and spent money
lavishly. You have succecded him, so you
are now the PAdshih's mansabdar. Only you
need a jaghir.' He smiled and nodded.

M. Desfresnes then came, so I went out.
As he was departing afterwards, I told him all
were expecting the sale of Villivanalliir and
Bihtir. He went away, saying that the
Governor had decided in my favour.

The Governor again called me and asked
about Pipayya Pillai. Ireplied, ‘ What can be
done now that the opportunity has been lost ?
Nothing can be got without muech trouble, by
frichtening people and preparing accounts.’
M. Boyelleau then came, so I went out. When
he was leaving, he came up to me and said,
‘You have settled Papayya Pillai’s affair for a
very little sum. Why did you not get a fat
one?’ I replied, ‘How can I know the Gover-
nor’s mind ? If I mentioned a large sum, it
would have to be realized.’'—' But the sum
ought not to have been fixed so low,” he said.
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Then he went. I took leave, when M. Barthé-
lemy was coming, and I came home.

Séshidri Pillai of Chingleput, who has
arrived from Sadras, waited at my agraldram
over an hour after sunrise to-day so as to reach
my house after tydjyam.! There I found him
when I arrived home after gunfire. He related
his going and return. Isaid that, as the month
of Clittirai® was approaching, the marriages
must be settled. He replied that he had made
enquiry but could find no suitable girl;
however Mabharfja Réjasri Tirumalairiya

‘Pillai was coming to-morrow when: the affair
might be settled. I replied that it ought to be
settled without morve delay. Then 1 went to
my office.

Tuesday, April 8*—This morning I went to
the Fort and paid my respects to M. Guillard,
who said that he had received rupees and
pagodas on the appointed date, and desired mo
to bring M. Barthélemy’s receipt for what I had
paid, so that, when he had seen it, he could
give me a receipt for the whole amount. I
sent a man at once to fetch it and went up-
stairs to the Governor. A council was being
held about sending M. Goupil to Trichinopoly,

! One of the two inauspicious parts of the day.

* Panguni, Chittirai, Vaiglsi, Ani and Tai are generally the
months for marriages.

® 20th Pamguni, Bhava,
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so I waited outside. M. Goupil, after faking
leave, came up to me and said,‘ I am going to
Trichinopoly. I do not know who is coming as
dubdish instead of Paraminanda Pillai ; but
Réamalinga Pillai is also coming. If you have
anything to be done there, tell me, and I will
soe to it Ireplied, ‘I am glad that you are
going. On your arrival at Srirangam, explain
the coral and Turaiytr affairs to Nandi Rija
and get them secttled.’—* Certainly,” he said,
‘but write and remind me after my arvival.
Ho saying he departed.

I then spoke with M. Lenoir who told me
the Governor's intentions and what was going
tobedone. Then M. Barthélemy’s receipt came
and T took it to M. Guillard. Having read it,
M. QGuillard said, before M. Bourquenoud,
M. Carvalho, and his own writer, that the
receipt was not written in the usual form and
that therefore he would see about it and give
a receipt for the whole sum to-morrow. Ihave
now paid M. (Guillard 19,800 pagodas in Porto
Novo, Star and Pondichery pagodas, or 72,270
rupees, atthe average rate of 365 rupees per
100 pagodas. Ihavealso paid 1,10,000 rupeesin
rupees and 30,000 rupees to M. Barthélemy—in
all 2,10,270"' rupees. Besides this, 25,682 rupees
have been paid to the sepoys out of the revenue

! The total should be 2,12,270 rupees,
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collections. I therefore asked M. Guillard to
give me a receipt for the enfire sum of 2,37,982*
rupees. He said he would give a roceipt to-
morrow for 2,12,270 rupees paid here, and
another receipt for the second amount, whon
the orders for paying 25,682 rupees to the
sepoys had come in. He then gave me leave.
When I came out, ] met M. du Bausset who
said I had made no enquiries for him when
ho had been sick. Ireplied, ‘T went to see you
thrice, but each fime I was sent away from
your door, as you could not sece me. I did not
therefore forget to enquire after your health.
If they did not inform you, what can [ do?’ |

M. Miran then came, complaining that no
village had been given him. I replied that all
the villages were his and that he and I were
the same. He observed, ‘The Governor can
hold his breath as well as a diver, If
he just listens, and keeps biting his hand-
kerchief in silence, remember that the affair
. will not prosper; but whatever he says
may be regarded as if it had been cut on
stone ; he does one day or another whatever
he promises; he never forgets.’ I replied,
‘ True ; M. Boyelleau suid just the same yester-
day afternoon when I was talking to him. I
am the Pidshih’s mansabdar of 3,000 horse

! The amount should be 2,37 952 rupees.
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and Annaswami of 1,500 ; so that I am really
a mansabdar of 4,500 horse. All this T owe to
you and your kindness, as I never forget.
I do not serve for the sake of gain. What is
more important than honour?’ M. Miran re-
plied, ‘ I have told the Governor that a writer
cannot usc a roundel or a palankin. Because
you go out with two roundels, should he' also
use them ? He should be deprived of his
roundel and palankin. He may use them out-
side, but not here. I have told the Governor
that he should not be allowed to use a
roundel, and I am sure he will do as I said.’
He added that no news had come from
Kirikil about the coral people’s payment and
that they had not settled their accounts with
M. Cornet here who was asking about it. [
replied that everything should be settled with-
out delay. Onthe stroke of noon, Icame home.
Wednesday, April 9*~This morning I went
to the Fort, to pay my respects to the (Governor,
and waited. The Governor sent for me to his
room. When [ went in, he asked what Nandi
Riji had written. I related to him Nandi
RijA’'s first appearance, his quarrel with
Muhammad 'Ali Khén after Chandid Sahib's
death, his friendship with M. Dupleix, and the
20 lakhs of rupees owed tous. He asked how

' Vindlyaka Pillai. * 30th Panguni, Bhava.
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the money could be recovered. I said that he
would only pay if we pressed for it. He said
he had heard that he had nothing. I then
explained fully the relations between Nandi
Réja and the lord and master of Mysore, the
character of the people there, and the way
in which money might be got by pressing
Nandi R4ja. He then gave me the letter to
be translated into French.

He next asked the Villiyanalliir news.
I replied, ¢ Venkatichala Chetti has arrived.
Vinfivaka Pillai offered 23,000 pagodas; but
24,000 pagodas shall be given to the Company
as rent and 20,000 rupees to your honour. The
lease will run from July 1755, and till then it
can be managed by a paid agent.— Sobe it,’
the Governor said. I therefore summonecd
Venkatdchala Chetti who gave him tho
diamond ring worth 220 pagodas, formerly
presented by the Company’s merchants as their
nazar, and which I had provided for his visit.
The Governor, calling his sccretary, told him
to write out the contract for 24,000 pagodas, as
rent for Villiyanalltr and Bihtr from July 13.
I told Venkatdichala Chetti to wait outside.

He then asked how much M. Delarche was
worth. I replied, ‘ His original property; what
he acquired by M. Dupleix’ favour after Nésir
Jang's death, and his profits in five months
after M. Godeheu’s coming and during
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M. Barthélemy’'s management—all this amounts
to about 10 lakhs of rupees.’ He then asked
what M. Barthélemy was worth. I replied
that his profits at Madras, at Kérikil and since
M. Godeheu's departure in the affair of the
sepoys and by means of Vindyaka Pillai,
Mahfdéva Ayyan and Sim#é Réo, amounted to
three or four lakhs of rupecs. He then asked
what M. Dupleix was worth. I replied that
there was no limit to his wealth, for he had
obtained all the wealth of Nisir Jang, the
subahdar of the Deccan, after his death, with
such rubies, diamonds, emeralds and pearls
as not even lords and princes could buy one of.
He then asked about M. Bussy's. Isaid that he
was a second Salabat Jang, who no longer
desired to return hither, for he already owned
a crore. ‘What other Europeans have made
money ?’ he asked. I replied, * Every officer
has made lakhs, not here, but when he was
abroad.'’—* And who are the rich Tamils ?’
he asked. I replied, ‘M. Dupleix was so clever
at securing money that he sucked the people
dry, so what is left ?’

Then he asked about Kirikél. T desecribed
the earnings of the people there, and the means
by which they made them. When he asked

1 Leyrit himself wrote later on, “ Le militaire en général est
aujourdhuy trop riche, Les principaux ont été gités par les com-
wandemens qu'ils ont eus pendant la guerre.”

a2
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-about Paramfnanda Pillai, I described him
and Rimalinga Pillai also. He asked about
Masulipatam and I told him about the money
made there by Mandila Reddi.

Just then the Secretary brought the
contract for Villivanallr and Bahur, for the
signatures of the Governor and the rest of
council, except M. du Bausset who is sick.
As we were talking thus, M. Barthélemy’s
arrival was reported ; but the Governor sent
word to him to wait. So he waited.

All say that the Governor, who usually
says nothing, uttered at least a thousand
words to-day, and I four thousand. At half-
past eleven I and the Governor came out. He
came down to inspect M. Godeheu’s cloth
that is being packed, and the Méthiripikkam
cloth, 4 cubits wide and 32 cubits long ; he
remarked that better kinds of cloths could be
had in Bengal ; then he looked at the bell
that M, Dupleix got from Europe for 60,000
rupees. At last he went upstairs. I took
leave and came home.

Thursday, April 10.'—When I had paid my
respects and reported the news to the Governor
at the Fort this morning, he took me apart
into his room and asked the news. I first
gave him the Governor’s new seal with which

t Iat Chittirai, Yuva,
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he was pleased.! Then I gave him the French
translation of Nandi RAji's letter and the
French writing about Vinfyaka Pillai’s affair.
He remarked that Vinfiyaka Pillai was said to
be involved in debt. I replied, ‘ What of that ?
His debts may amount to ten or twenty
thousand in small sums, but his property
must have been worth four or five lakhs, out
of which M. Dupleix swallowed 2 lakhs, as he
complained to M. Godeheu. Even now he
manages the household affairs of M. Barthé-
lemy, M. Delarche and M. du Bausset. His
pay is only two pagodas, so how did he come
by so much ? Neither by trade nor as a renter,
but by thievery he got it all. Men would
give a lakh of rupees every year for his
appointment. His cousin, Parasurfima Pillai,
who formerly held the post, is here. He offers
to pay 50,000 rupees if he does not prove the
other to be worth three lakhs of rupees.’ I
then introduced Parasurima Pillai who
offered a nazar of 500 pagodas, and narrated
the circumstances of his case. The Governor
nodded, gave him rose water and pdn supdri,
and told him to wait outside.

The Governor then asked about Pipayya
Pillai. I related his whole story—his former
beggary, his being made by Madame Dupleix,

* The seal or * chop ' with the Governor's name and titles in Per-
sian, nsed to authenticate the Country Correspondence,
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the consequent mismanagement of affairs, and
his profits and those of his people to the ruin
of all business. Thereon the Governor said
that, if that was so, half the people of the
town should be imprisoned, but that would
not look well. ‘No such thing,’ I replied ;

“if a couple were imprisoned or pressed, the
rest would come with offers of their own
accord.” He answered that the Company’s
business must be remembered as well as
one’s own. 1 replied, ‘ The Company’s busi-
ness must come first ; then private affairs
will prosper. Vinfyakan has given Rima-
lingam a palankin and sent him to
Trichinopoly. First his affair and that of
Paraméinandan must be settled. He' should
be sent for immediately.,” He agreed to do so ;
and asked what reply should be written to
Nandi Réja. I replied that it should run as
follows :—I am much pleased with your
letter of congratulation on my appointment.
I will show you more kindness than did
M. Godeheu. But let not the moneys owing
to us be forgotten." He told me to write this
out in French and asked if he would pay if
pressed. ‘Undoubtedly,” I replied ; ‘ Salabat
Jang is coming ; and astrologers say that from
July 13 all our affairs will prosper and we

iie, Bimalingam
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ghall hold large countries. The English and
Muhammad 'Ali Kbin have now taken from
us Madura, Tinnevelly, Nadumandalam, ete.
We must not stand idle but take suitable
measures.'— What you say is true’; the
Governor said, ‘ but there must be no room for
complaint. Our conduct must be just and
proper. So reflect over this and tell me. I
will do as you say. Did M. Dupleix really
believe in astrology ?' T replied, ‘ He had no
faith in astrology until two predictions had
been fulfilled ; then he believed ; and was
enabled to secure the capture of the ships, the
taking of Madras, the defeat of the English, the
deuths of Anwar-ud-din Khin and of Nésir
Jang, the conquest of countries and the acqui-
sition of wealth.— Who foretold these?’ he
asked. I replied that the predictions were
made by Malabar astrologers, whose predic-
tions always prove true. ‘ What do they fore-
tell now ?' he asked. I replied that they
expected great good fortune. I think he now
believes in astrology. Thus to-day we
discussed several affairs. His manner of
questioning and train of thought make me
think that he has many things in view.

M. Desfresnes came and said that 4,000
rupees had been offered for the old Nayinfr's
affair. The Governor asked how a European
could know of that. Ireplied thatit must have .,
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been mentioned before his arrival, and talled
of since. ‘Europeans ought to know nothing
of these matters,” the Governor said. I then
related fully the Nayinér's affair and pacified

I gave the Governor the original and the
French translation of Nandi RAji's letter,
obtained and sent by M. Dusaussaye, the
commandant at Srirangam, saying that in
Paraménanda Pillai’s time M. Maissin had
received some money but that not a cash had
been given to the present commandant.

I also gave him the originals and the
French translations of the two cadjan letters
received from Karunguli. He took them, and
asked the news of Nandi Raja. I replied that
he had given up his hopes of this place, for
the English and Muhammad ’Ali Khén had
seized his countries of Madura, Tinnevelly
and Nadumandalam, about which he had
written to M. Godeheu and M. Barthélemy in
vain, so that as peace had been made for 18
months, he would no longer stay at Srirangam
but would depart. The Governor observed
that M. Godeheu did business hastily, w1t]:mut
sufficient forethought.

I then said that the Srirangam people had
agreed to pay a lakh of rupees a year if the
Arumpétai’s place were given to them. The
Governor said that Vindyakan had the post
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and asked what should be done. ‘Who is
he ?’ I replied. °Is not the Arumpéitai merely
a Fort writer on daily pay ? What has he to do
with it ?’—*' I will see about it,’ he said. Then
I took leave and came home. .

Friday, April 11)—I went and paid my
respects to the (overnor this morning
when he was at the sorting-godown in the
Fort. He returned my compliments. Thirty-
two bales of Yéndm cloth have been
packed. Some IEuropeans then came and
talked to him, but the Governor, making
them no answer, fook me upstairs and
gave me a letter about the flicht of Nandi
Réjé, saying, ‘ See, he has run away.’ I replied,
‘Did I not tell you so yesterday ? He has lost
all hope of this place. The Mysore people too
keep writing to him that he has spent three
crores for mothing ; so he can hope nothing
from them. And now as Salabat Jang (Nésir
Jang's younger brother) is in those parts, pre-
paring to attack Mysore, he will go to him with
promises of large sums, in order to get his
help to capture Trichinopoly.! The Governor
asked what Salabat Jang could do if the
French and the English attacked him. I re-
plied, ‘ How can you do so? In M. Dupleix’s
time he was demanding 130 lakhs of rupees as

2 nel Chittirai, Fuva.
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due to him, and he demanded still larger sums
from M. Godeheu. He wants to recover all
this, and is coming hungrily with 25,000 Mara-
tha horse, besides his own 20,000 horse—45,000
in all—and many foot, guns, cannon, etc. Un
" his arrival, the killedars and poligars will all
join him ; the English and Muhammad ’Ali
Khéin hold many countries, whereas we hold
only a few villages near the Bounds. If he
claims that, as he gave us the country, we are
responsible for the revenues, we must seize
Muhammad 'Ali Khéin and strive to defeat his
English allies who hold the country. So how
can we join the English against him ?* The
Governor replied, ‘ In that case, M. Godeheu has
managed things without knowledge or fore-
thought. I am sorry I came here.’ I replied,
¢ M. Godeheu was sent as Commander-(ieneral ;
and what did he care ? M. Dupleix perceived
his responsibility, but not so much as M.
Lenoir who strove to complete whatever he
began. M. Dupleix would begin business with
ardour like M. Lenoir, but never completed it,
though, as he felt his responsibility, the fruit
ripened and decayed at the appointed seasons.
Butnow that you are responsible for all things,
let affairs be first well-examined and then well-
managed.” As M. Desfresnes then came, I went
out, to allow him to talk to the Governor. He
departed on the stroke of nine, and I was
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again sent for, so I went in. On sceing me,
he gaid, ‘ Nandi RAji has departed ; and a letter
must be written to M. Dusaussaye, the com-
mander. Our debts are not secure. What
should be said to him." I replied that a strict
letter must be written to him. °But what can
he do,’ he asked, ‘now that Nandi R#aji has
cheated us and gone away ?’ I answered, * Can
that be said ? Why was he posted there ? He
has received some 50,000 or 60,000 ; and if he
now writes to say that he has received nothing
from Nandi RAjd’s hand, but that the latter
has departed, should we not ask him why he
was sent there and tell him that he is respon-
sible for Nandi Ré4ja?’ The Governor asked
what he could have done, since the other had
horse and other troops. * Why ?’ I answered ;
‘what could Nandi R4jia’s horse and troops
have done, if M. Dusaussayc had drawn his
sword, and,. placing it at his belly, told him
to remain ?' He smiled and said, ‘ That is true ;
as large sums are due to me, I will write
strictly to M. Dusaussaye.’

Then I brought Kastiri Rangayyan, the
Turaiyar vakil, to visit the Governor with a
nazar of 400 pagodas. I told the Governor
that the former poligar had formerly conducted
himself to the satisfaction of the French
Governor, but that Nandi RAjd had then
hindered him from doing so, for his own

33
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purposes, and against our interests, driving
out the poligar and appointing another ;
I related his residence at Ariyaldar, and Nandi
‘R4ja's booty when the town was plundered.
When I had finished, the Governor said that
he would punish Nandi R4ja properly for
his behaviour. Thereupon I told Kastiri
Rangayyan to wait outside and said to the
(Governor, ‘ You have come as (Governor, and
know your responsibilities. As each man has
done as he pleased, affairs are upside down.
But if you will act with circumspection, you
will obtain wealth and glory and the Company
will prosper.” When I thus opened all affairs
to him, his mind was troubled, and he asked
what could be done. I told him not to despair
and related in order all that had happened up to
to-day, from the seizure of ships by the English
and the capture of Madras and what the astro-
logers had predicted, and added, ‘The astro-
logers’ prophecies always prove true. Thenew
year has commdénced, and this year Salabat
Jang will come into these parts. He will
demand the surrender of our countries so that
he may demand theirs of the English, appoint
our friends over them and strengthen our
armies. This will bring you much gain." He
replied, * You seem to have great faith in pre-
dictions. But what if Salabat Jang does not
come ?’ I replied that he could not depart, for
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the Kistna would be full in May owing to the
rains on the west, so that he could only eross .
after the middle of November. I added, ‘He
will visit Mysore, Tanjore, Trichinopoly and
Arcot, settle affairs and collect his dues, and
then return in mid-November. He has written
to "Abd-ul-wahiib Khén ordering him to quit
the Timiri, ete., forts; and the latter at once
wrote to Muhammad 'All, Thus what I have
said will happen, nor can the shdsiras be
mistaken.” When I thus spoke in detail of the
shdastras, he agreed, and spoke of business.
Afterwards he spoke of important matters
and the reasons of his strict management ;
and I replied to him frankly. He said that
M, Dusaussaye had been deceived and got
nothing from Nandi RajA. I replied, * Not he
but you have been deceived by the letter he
sent from Nandi RAjA, saying that he had
received mothing from him. He took notes
from Nandi Raja for 5,000 rupees every month
and reported that Nandi Riaji had paid this
for the expenses. Careful inquiry will prove
whether he was deceived or whether you were
deceived by that letter.—* It may be so,” he said.
The Secretary was told the day before
yesterday to write out the contract and get
an agreement from the lessees of Bihir and
Villiyanalldr., Accordingly the deed was
written out by the notary and signed to-day by
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the Governor and the councillors. Guntir
Venkatfichala Chetti's signature has still
to be obtained. After talking {ill noon, 1
took leave and came eut. Then I met Gurn-
vappa Chetti and Ella Pillai who said that
‘they were surprised to sce that the Governor,
who scarcely speaks to any one for fear of
tiring his tongue, had been talking to me
for three hours. I asked them how they
knew. They said that they had seen us talk-
ing in the mirror. Then I camehome, ate and
was lying down in my room when news camo
that Srinivisa Pandit (Riméinji Pandit's elder
brother) had died suddenly. I said that this
was an unlucky time for Riminji Pandit as
his younger brother had lost his wits and died,
and as his elder brother was now dead ;
Riménji Pandit is not so intelligent as he used
to be and I have to drag him along.

Saturday, April 12} —A letter from Tyagap-
pan’s younger brother came to-day from Sri-
rangam saying :—* Hari Singh and Mandji are
coming from Tanjore to confer with Muham-
mad ’'Ali Khin. The Nénd’'s horse and
Salabat Jang have invaded Mysore, seizing a
fort near by ; they have killed many Mysore-
ans and are closely besieging Seringapatam.

U 3rd Chittirai, Tuva,
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The dalavii Dévarija Udaiyar, who has
been sickly, is dead ; the place is to be given to
another ; and the kingdom is full of troubles.
Nandi R&ji was thercfore urgently desired to
come at once. He set out on the night of the
8th. The people at Srirangam and those who
came with Nandi RAaji have gone away.
Nandi Riji said that he would leave Thina
Singh and Hyder 'Ali Khén at Srirangam ; but
he has mnot done so. The commander has
mounted cannon on the Rdyagdpurain, and
posted infantry along the roads ; Nandi Réji
proposed terms, bui the commandant dis-
approved. When it was so, Nandi Raji de-
parted. When the English and Mahfuz Khin
attacleed Bivili Thévan, the latter with Mudi-
mial fcll upon Mahfuz Khan’s camp and slew
many, on which -Mahfuz Khin's army is
retreating by way of Madura to the fort. The
Tanjore army attacked Vellaiyan Sérvaikéran,
but the latter slew many, and the former re-
treated into Tanjore in order to collect troops
and aftack him again. Salabat Jang has
desired Muhammad "Ali Khén to bring money,
but the latter has replied that he has none
and therefore he cannot go.’

Sunday, April 13*—~When I was at home
this morning, I told Virardghava Pillai to fetch

YO p 210, 0 1, supera. ® ath ﬂ}?jitfimi, Yuva,
[
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Pennéithiir Sdméi Rio and Mahfdéva Ayyan to
settle the accounts of the first kist. But Vira-
righava Pillai returned, saying that they had
refused t0 make any answer as they were
responsible only to their masters, Pipayya
~ Pillai and Rangappa Mudali. I then came out
and sent for Simé Rio and Mahiddéva Ayyan
who were upstairs, and asked them what was
to be said about the accounts of the first kist.
Pennfithiir SAmé Réio answered that he would
render accounts only to PApayya Pillai and
Rangappa Mudali his masters, and asked what
harm there was in that. I replied, ‘How
dare you speak thus to me? Am I not your
and your master's master ? I will give you a
lesson.'—* What have you to do in all these
matters ?" he said disrespectfully. This roused
my anger. I gavehim two strokes with my
cane saying, ‘If you do not deliver in your.
accounts, you will not be let off lightly, Aec-
cording to Pipayya Pillai’'s accounts, lakhs of
money are due from you and you shall pay
.them. I ordered a peon to accompany him
upstairs and obtain the account of the first
kist. He replied disrespectfully, ‘Lot me see
you get it, at the same time laying his hand
upon his dagger. Immediately Bunder Ven-
kata Réo seized it. This roused my anger yet
more. I gave him four blows with my cane,
ordered him to be imprisoned in the choultry,
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and then went to the Fort. As it was Sunday,
the Governor and the councillors had gone to
church to hear mass ; so I waited at the sorting-
godown. After mass, all returned and went
upstairs, whither I also went. The Governor
tallkked with M. Desfresnes and with M. Barthé-
lemy in the southern hall. When these had
gone, he talked to M. Boyelleau and M. Miran.
Venkatdchalam (the choultry dubdsh’s young-
er brother) then came and told the Governor,
before M. Boyellean and M. Miran, that, when
he had informed M. Barthélemy of the impri-
sonment in the choultry of Pennithir Simi
Réo, he had been ordered to report it to the Gov-
ernor. The Governor, who is very angry with
Simi Rio, called me to him. When I went,
he asked why I had not reported the facts. I
said because so many were with him. There-
upon in anger with SBimA Réo the Governor
told me to put him in irons in the dungeon.
This was accordingly done. I was then taken
inside and asked for the* rupees promised for
settling the Villiyanallir and Bahir affairs.
I said I would get the money in two days and
added that the old poligar of Turaiyar offered
a nazar of a lakh of rupees if he were restored.
He replied that he would doso when he had
received a letter announcing M. Goupil's arriv-
al. I then called in Kastiri Rangayyan, the
vakil ; taking from him a note for a lakh of
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rupees, I gave it to the Governor, who put it
carefully in his box.

I then reported that Raja Pillai had mrrived
from Srirangam and offered 50,000 rupees to
the Company, and 40,000 to him, besides thoe
usual rent if the lease of the Caunvery villagoes
should be settled here through him. He said
itshould be done. Thereupon I called Rija
Pillai, and, taking the note from him, gave it
to the Governor. He put that also into his
box.

I continued, ‘The English are capturing
countries up to the very fort gates. Instcad
of doing nothing, should we not write to them
properly ? ' He replied, ‘ M. Godeheu's inquir-
ies could not settle the matter, therefore he
made a truce for 18 months, and went away.
How can thoy raise new troubles ? This is tho
King's business and the smallest mistake will
have serious consequences.” Ireplied, * But we
shall not be blamed unless we do wrong.
Some two months before M. Godeheu’s depar-
ture,” I explained everything to him and he
wrote to Madras.. The Madras people, not
agreeing, sent two men to inspect the country
and settle the disputes on the basis of each
party's occupying the country in its possession
on October 14. At that time, M. Godeheu
sailed ; and afterwards M. Barthélemy could
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not continue to act like that. They are there-
fore encroaching on what we held on October
14, and are making disturbances. They have
also seized countries to the south belonging to
Trichinopoly, Madura, Nadumandalam, Tinne-
velly, ete. 'When they thus exceed their limits,
can we do nothing ?' He then read the letters
from the commander at Srirangam, giving the
sam? news as I had related. Being thus satis-
fied about the injustice of the English, he
asked what should be done. 1 replied, ‘T will
write out for you, as I did for M. Godehen,
what should be done, with the recasons for it,
so that you may read it and write to them.
Formerly they wished to harm us, and by a
trick seized our ships. But as God is just, He
was pleased to put Madras into our hands.
Now that they have again transcressed their
bounds, God will not bless them with sue-
cess. Besides Salabat Jang is coming here
with M. Bussy after making terms with
Mysore, and he will conquer many countries,
demand money and settle affairs to our
satisfaction. Much may thus be done ; why
then hesitate 7 The Mysore dalavii is dead,
and a new commander must be appointed.
Venkatapati Ayyan, who was formerly
Pradhfini, will be appointed. He desires
our friendship and may help to collect the
money which Nandi Riji has tricked us of.
4
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Henceforth the promises of Muhammad 'Ali
Khén and the English will not be heeded.'—
“Well,’ the Governor replied, ‘ what you say
is true. We must deal with the Inglish
properly for having transgressed their limits.’
He then said that I must get him something
for settling the merchants' affairs. ‘Certain-
ly,” 1 said, ‘the Company has only sixty or
seventy-thousand pagodas and the business
must be limited to this. The merchants usually
pay 3 per cent. 1f we settle for an advance
of 10,000 pagodas to the merchants, 6,000
pagodas for redwood, 6,000 for lungis, 6,000 for
Kéarikal, and 7,000 for the painters, ete.—35,000
pagodas in all —I will arrange with them and
get what is due to you. More advances may
be made when the revenues come in from the
countries, and money from Europe.'—' Very
well he replied. I replied that I would do
this in two days, as the constellations to-day
and to-morrow are Bharani and Kruttigai.'
The Governor then said, ‘M. Delarche came
to me this morning, saying that Chandéa Sihib’s
business should be settled by him and not by
the courtier. What do you say to that?' I
replied that not only in this but in all other

* The second and third lunar asterisms ; the former gencrally and
the latter always exert an evil astrological influence. The former com-
prises 3 starsin Musca ; the Intter is the Pleiades,
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matters which Madame Dupleix had managed,
every one had had a word.

I then related to him in full, without con-
cealing the truth, all the following :—Chandé
S4hib’s imprisonment in Satéra ; my assisting
his people ; my endeavours to bring him here
from Satira and the help I gave after his ar-
rival ; Chandé Sihib’s panic on Nésir Jang’s
arrival ; my management of affairs at that time ;
Chand4i Sihib's subsequent conduct ; the con-
trol under which M. Dupleix kept him ; the
nazars given by Chandd Sihib and others to
M. Dupleix as if he had been the Company ; the
visits paid to the Councillors’ houses and the
kind words given to them ; M. Dupleix’ press-
ing them for money ; the way in which M.
Delarche obtained a few fanams from them!
after [M. Dupleix'] departure ; the false stories
he told to M. Godeheu on his arrival about
their being made Nawfibs, so that they might
be given presents and salutes and give presents
. in return; and the petition given to M. Godeheu
at the time of his departure praying that the
Company should allow them 50,000 rupees a
year. I added, ‘ Heis no Nawib ; he is power-
less. In the old days there were Safdar 'Ali
Khéin and Do6st 'Ali Khén. In their name® he
accompanied Hiddyat Muhi-ud-din Khén, and

! ¢, Chandd 34hib's family.
* i.e., cloiming suceession from them,
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was under him. When the country was under
M. Dupleix, he was under him also ; and was
responsible for large sums to the Company.’
When I faithfully narrated what had takon
place, and what should be done, he said, * Is
thatso ?’ Thus he learnt everything from me,
I took leave and came home.

At four o'clock this afternoon a peon came
and said that the Governor wanted me. When
I went and paid my respects, I found M. Bar-
thélemy who had given in a writing about
Pennfithir 8imé Rio, and had been saying that
SimA Réo was a commander of sepoys under
his control, whom I had ordered to be seized,
beaten and imprisoned, without his know-
ledge, in order to recover money from him, that
the Governor without full enquiry had put
him in irons in the dungeon, and that he
(Barthélemy) could not manage any business
if matters went on thus and that none would
respect him or his office. When he had finished,
the Governor turned to me and said, * You said
he was a Brahman, but M. Barthélemy tells me
he is a commander of sepoys. Why did you
have this man beaten and imprisoned without
telling me?—'I am surprised at this' I
answered. ‘Is he a commander of sepoys ?
He used to be an amaldar under Phpayya
Pillai’s management, and owed four lakhs of
rupees. He was also amaldir under Rangappa
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Mudali, and he is answerable to me for the
first kist account. He and Mahiddéva Ayyan
owe a lakh of rupees. When therefore I ques-
tioned him, he defied me. You, the European
(Governor, have appointed me Governor of the
Tamils and other castes ; therefore I summon-
ed and questioned him ; yet he defied me.
Should he not be punished and put into the
dungeon ? T have merely done my duty, and
what has M. Barthélemy to do with it?’
M. Barthélemy interrupted, saying that SAmi
Rio commanded the sepoys under him, and
that I would certainly have to pay. I replied,
‘By no means, for I have not received and
misappropriated 40,000 or 50,000 like you,
You said that you had settled Sdmi Rdo's
affair for 34,000 rupees and given the money
into M. Godcheu's hands. -It was at once
reported in conversations and petfitions to M.
Godeheu that the accounts were false. I was
ordered to inquire into the matter ; therefore
I sent for and told him to take 4,000, and pay
in the balance of 30,000. He offered 10,000
rupees ; but I then told him that, if he paid
20,000 rupees, the balance of 14,000 shonld be
excused. At that time M. Godeheu who was
about to leave, told me to explain the affair to
M. Leyrit, who was coming, and have it settled.
There are witnesses to prove that he agreed
to pay 10,000 rupees. As SimA Rio was an
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amaldér, sepoys were sent with him. But has
he therefore become a commander?’ I thus
justified what I had dome. The Governor
remarked that, if the old accounts were ex-
amined, his room would not belarge enough to
hold all the money. He ordered me to releaso
MahAdéva Ayyan and take off the guards at
Sami Réo’s house. He then drove out with
M. Barthélemy, M. Boyelleau and other coun-
cillors, and I went to my office in the flower-
garden. Here I heard that Simé Rio had been
unironed and removed to Parasurima Pillai's
godown. The Governor returned to the Fort
after his drive, and M. Barthélemy went home.
Pépayya Pillai who had not yet taken his food,
Rimayya Pillai who had not even eaten a
betel-nut, R&ndji and Vindyaka Pillai then
complained to him that he' had not yet been

- released. M. Barthélemy then wrote to the

Governor, who threw down the letter and
said nothing. The peon told M. Barthélemy,
that, when he went to the Governor to secure
the release, he was dismissed angrily. M.
Barthélemy again wrote to the Governor
requesting him to release SimA Réo at least
at meal-times. On reading it the Governor
appointed two soldiers and two sepoys to
guard him while eating and then take him
back to the dungeon.

1ie, 8imi Rio.
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Monday, April 14)—This morning I went to
the Fort and paid my respects to the Governor,
Europeans were talking with him one by one ;
so I waited outside, meaning to go to him
when summoned. When M. Lenoir came, I
gave him the French writing I had and re-
lated Sama Rio's serving as amaldir under
Pipayya Pillai, his arrest, his being tied to
a tree and beaten with sandals, his defying
me when I asked him for the account of
the first kist when he was serving as amal-
dir under Rangappa Mudali, my giving him
two blows and ordering his imprisonment in
the choultry, M. Barthélemy's intervention
and my reply that it was not his business, but
mine. When M. Lenoir had read if, he said
that he knew all about it, and added, *Last
night I and the Governor had along talk about
this., "I explained it to him as far as I under-
stood it. He is well disposed to you and wants
you and himself alone to exercise authority.
He also means to dismiss Vinfiyaka Pillai in
four days and appoint another in his place.
The Governor entirely depends upon you and
I have spoken much to him about you. Don’t
deceive him. Promise me that you will not.
He brought from Bengal no wealth worth men-
tion except what was ready to hand. His

4 5th Chittirai, Yuva.
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savings have all been lost in two ships, and you
must make thig¢ up to him. You must make
him rich, for he entirely depends upon you. I
will relate the contents of this letter to him.’
So saying he went away. M. Boyelleau then
came up and I showed him my writing. He
said, ‘I knew something about this, and
have just spoken to the Governor, explaining
matters to him as far as I could. I will speak
to him again about it. What M. Barthélemy
says cannot stand beside this fair statement,
and I will explain everything.' Then he went
away.

M. Desfresnes then came and I showed him
also the paper. He said the same as M.
Boyelleau and went away. As the Governor
was talking to Furopeans till noon, I could not
speak with him, so I came home.

Tuesday, April 15)—At half-past four this
evening, I set out from the Fort for Chand4
Sahib’s house with music and dancers, with
the Governor's palankin, the Nayinir, the
head-peon and Vinfyaka Pillai. On our arriv-
al, no conversation was exchanged, but Razi
Sahib and 'Ali Naqi Sahib brought on two
trays six gifts—a turban, a muhamudi, a sash,
a girdle, some brocade and a bracelet,—three in
each tray, and with one more containing pdn

1 gth Chittirai, Fuva,
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supdri, and presented them. After distribut-
ing the pdn supdri, they ordered the trays of
gifts to be placed in a palankin, and so we came
out. Broadecloth was laid over their elephant
which has a short tail and no tusks, and then
they set out. These went first, and we accom-
panied them to the Fort with music and
dancers ; and the presents were offered to the
Governor in the presence of M. Delarche, M.
Boyelleau and M. Desfresnes. Dost Muham-
mad alone of Chandé Sihib’s people came with
the trays, and stood at a distance with the chob-
dars. Orders were given for a salute of 19 guns
to be fired. For quarter of an hour, there was
complete silence, as if they had been so many
flies in treacle. When at last the trays were
taken away the Governor sent his compliments
to Dost Muhammad. But in return for his
prostration, he was not given rosewater or
pdn supdri or a word of civility. The Gover-
nor then came downstairs and drove out. I
went to my office in the flower-garden.

The Governor wrote a French letter of
compliment to Salabat Jang and gave it to me
to be translated into Persian. I did accord-
ingly and despatched if.

‘When I went to the Fort this morning, the
(Governor was in his room and the Europeans
were waiting outside. I waited with them. M.
(lornet came up to me and said, * M. Barthélemy

35
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has acted like thiz in anger at your not
having given him Gingee. Why did you
refuse ? Have you not given M. Leyrit Wandi-
wash ? If you had only given him Gingee, he
would not have behaved so.” I replied, ‘If I
am the lessee, I can give the countries to
whomsoever I please ; why should I do other-
wise ? I offered him Gingee on the terms
proposed by others, but was expected to give
it on the terms on which I held it from the
Company. If that were done, who would
pay the additional expenses ? So I offered it
on the terms proposed by others. He did not
agree and now behaves like this. Both of us
are servants of the Company ; but different
respect is due to one and to another ; there-
fore I have done nothing. His duty is to do
justice alike to us who do not wear hats and
to the Governor ; and he should not interfere in
other things. Ifhe seeks to drive me from my
office, I will appeal eyen to Europe to obtain
justice. But if he shows me proper respect,
I will also show him the same.’

Just then M. Miran came and complained
that Bipu Rédo was supplying him with bad
betel.! M. Cornet joined M. Miran in blaming
Béipu Réo about this. M. Desfresnes then
came up and M. Cornet repeated to M. Miran

} Betel was commeonly used by Europeans gt this time,
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and M. Desfresnes what he had said to me
about -M. Barthélemy, saying,—‘If Ranga
Pillai had given M. DBarthélemy Gingee,
no mischief could have arisen ; and because
he did not, M. Barthélemy acts angrily
as he has never done before. He still wants
Gingee.! I asked what they thought of this
demand. They asked M. Cornet if it was true.
He said it wag, and added that M. Barthélemy
was only angry with me because I would not
give him Gingee. M. Desfresnes said that the
writer Rangappa Mudali had made the culti-
vators and head-men of Villiyanallr petition
. the Governor, who, on reading it, gave them no
countenance but remained silent,on which they
departed. I then repeated to M. Desfresnes
what M. Cornet had said. He replied that he
had heard it before.

Just then M. Leyrit came out and said that
the first kist collections from Wandiwash,
24,000 pagodas or 96,000 rupees, must be
paid along with the balance. I turned to M.
Desfresnes and M. Cornet and said that all
this had happened because I had demanded
payment of the first kist accounts. They said
among themselves that the first collections
amounted to five or six lakhs, that Rangappan’
had paid three or four lakhs and that only two
or three lakhs were still due to the Company.

t Apparently the diarist.
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I hear that Rémakrishna Chetti has pre-
gented a complaint to the Governor against M.
Mongenot's' buying and building a house. The
Governor on reading it observed that it was
improper to do what had never been done here
before, or to give one man the house of another,
and ordered that each man should enjoy his
own house.

When the Governor came out of his room, I
paid him my respects. He returned his com-
pliments, and taking me aside, asked why I
had not visited him yesterday. I replied, ‘ If
the courtier’s work is hindered, the place is
not worth having. You must so manage that
my position shall be comfortable, then I must
satisfy you by managing your affairs with care.
How can I do that when you rob my appoint-
ment of life 7' When I thus stated the case, he
gaid, ‘ He*®is a captain of sepoys, and should
not be beaten.” I replied, ‘ What sort of a cap-
tain is he ? He used to be an amaldéir under
Pipayya Pillai by whom he was tied up and
beaten with slippers times without number.
Why should I not beat him ? Please read this.’
So saying I gave him my writing in French
relating all that had been done to him. When
he had read it, he said, ‘ Many are concerned
in this matter, all of whom will have to be

" 1 M. Mongenos made the great clock for the tower which fell down
in 1754. Bee above page 81.
5 i, Simi Rio
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brought to book. I do not know what the
consequence may be. Tell me what should be
done.” I replied,‘ Why be afraid ? Must we
bring all to book? If we twist one or two, the
othors will be alarmed and will settle their
affairs. Have not former Governors done so ?
But if you are too timid, what affair ecan
prosper ?’ As we were talking thus, M. Bar-
thélemy and the Bishop Padré came. In the
course of their conversation, they mentioned
RAmakrishna Chetti’'s house. The Governor
said, ‘In future Tamil houses are not to be
seized. It has been ordered that each shall
remain in possession of his own house.’

Then Dost Muhammad came with M.
Desveeux to discuss Chandé Sahib’s affair,
asking that M. Delarche should act as Persian
interpreter. The Governor asked me. I
replied, ‘He® used to be a lascar on a sloop.
In M. Dupleix’ time he was used as a go-
between as Muzaffar Khéin could not speak
the language. Afterwards he was in charge
of the sepoys for some time, but he was
charged by M. Godeheu with theff, and was
shut up in the dungeon. What relationship
is there between him and Chandh Sahib? He
has only come on their behalf.— Is that so?
I hear that Chandé Sihib® is sending presents.

1 e, Dist Muhammad.
2 The father's name thus descanding to the son, jost ns Muhammad
'Ali got the title of Anwar-vd din Ehin.
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What about it ?’ he asked. I replied, ‘The
ruler of the subah of Arcot should send pre-
sents, and should receive the usual presents in
return. But when they gave presents to M.
Dupleix, they used to stand before him with °
 their nazar as his subovdinates ; when M.
Godeheu came, the old custom was aban-
doned ; he listencd to others, and fired salutes
when he reccived presents from them.
Thereupon the Governor asked M. Barthélemy,
who answered that it was so. I was then
taken aside and told that, when they camec,
I should do nothing but suffer M. Delarche to
interpret in Persian ; and I was, as usual, to
fetch the [presents] in the evening. As he
persisted in this, I agreed. I obtained three
orders from the Governor, one for 10,000 pago-
das for the Company’s merchants, another for
6,000 pagodas for Pulicat lungis, and the third
for 6,000 pagodas for redwood. When I came
home, I gave them to Guntir Venkatéichala
Chetti. '

Wednesday, April 16.)—At two o’clock this
afternoon, during the Simha Lagna®
Mechiya Pillai came to my house with his
wife and twenty or thirty others with coco-
nuts, fruit, sugar, saffron, pdn supdri, carda-
moms, cloves, nutmeg, three women's cloths,

L 74k Chittirai, Yuva.
* An auspicious period of this day, under the influence of Leo.
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and three bodices, borne on silver trays by
tdli-wearing Brihman women, in order to
seek a wife for Chidambaranitha Pillai (Sada-
siva Pillai's son). Mahfrfija Rijasri Séshidri
Pillai, Tirumalai Pillai, Nichana Pillai, my
Gophlaswimi and VirarAghu welcomed them
and distributed sandal and pdn supdri to all,
including the Brihmans, who were asked to
sit down upstairs, When I awoke, I heard
this news, and, in the evening, set out from
my house, to be present at the auspicious cere-
mony of fixing the first post for the marriage of
KandAil Guruvappa Chetti's son.! I then went
to the small garden where I talked with
M. Reyne and Gopilaswimi, returning home

at nine.
Thursday, April 17 *—At five o'clock this

evening I heard that M. Delarche had intro-
duced Razé Sahib (Chandd SAhib’s son) to the
Governor under a salute of 21 guns. I hear
only rosewater and pdn supdri were given,
but no presents.

This morning 1 asked Mahdrija Réjasri
Séshfdri Pillai and Tirumalai Pillai, Emberu-
mél Pillai, Virarighu, Goépilaswimi, Vijaya
Pillai, Panchingan Pillai, Kutti, Subbayyan
(the Telugu) and Mechiya Pillai to consider

¢ On the occasion of a marriage, o pandal (or temporary shed) is
erected. The first post should be fixed at an suspicious moment on
the seventh, fifth or third day before the marriage.

» 8th Chittirai, Yurg,
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with the assistance of the Brihmans, whether
the horoscopes' agreed in the several points.
I then paid my respects to the Governor at the
Fort.

A letter has come from Tydgayyan’'s
younger brother at Srirangam, saying that
M. Dusaussaye let Nandi RAjA go in return
for a present of 20,000 rupees, a necklace worth
20,000 rupees, a string of pearls, and other
jewels. I came home at noon.

Gophlaswimi then came and said that the
horoscopes had been examined, and that those
of Kérikil Kanda Pillai and Ponnfchi agreed,
as also those of Venkatammilpéttai Chidam-
baranfitha Pillai and Nannfchi; but that
Kulandai's did not agree with that of Sédmi
(son of my uncle Virarighava Pillai) though
it did with Appivu's, his younger brother.
Subbi Josier of Vaippir was also there, so I
asked him to look at the horoscopes to observe
their good and bad fortune. His reply was
satisfactory. '

Saturday, April 19°—At seven o'clock this
morning, I went to M. Leyrit, the General,
who had yesterday given me for translation
into French Salabat Jang's letter addressed to
M. Godeheu, sent by Husain Khéin, the ele-
phant merchant’s mahout, and delivered by

* 0f the proposed bridal couples.
® 10th Chittirai, Yuva.
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him with nazars. I gave him the "French
translation upstairs, in the hall running east
and west on the north side, and paid my
respects. There were present M. Guillard,
M. Desfresnes, M. Cornet, M. Lenoir, M. Des-
vaeux, ote. He asked if there was any
news. I said I had heard that Salabat
Jang had plundered the Mysore country, and
was demanding five crores of rupees ; that the
Mysore people replied that their great losses
prevented their paying so much ; that it was
not known how the matter would end ; and
that Nandi Ré4ji had reached the fort of
Néimakkal from Srirangam. So saying, I gave
him Salabat Jang's Persian letter addressed to
M. Godehen with the French translation.
Taking them, he read the French translation,
which states that Pipayya Pillai owes Husain
Khén 25,000 pagodas, that his man Anga
Pillai owes 29,000 rupees, and Hasan-ud-din
Khéin 7,000 pagodas, for which sums bonds had
heen given which should be realized from
PApayya Pillai's people and given to Zuhfr-
ud-din Khin (Husain Khin's son-in-law) to be
. paid to sowcar Bhéma Raji ; that he can only
pay his debts if his debtors pay him ; and that,
as his creditors are presging him, his dues must
be paid to him. Having read it himself, he
read it to M. Desfresnes, M. Guillard and the
others. Among other things they said that.
36
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although he! owed a lakh and a half of rupees,
M. Barthélemy was urging that M. Dupleix
had given him a release-deed to the effect that
he had settled all that was duc from the
country down to July 1754 ; and that nothing
mqre need be dono. M. Cornet and others
observed that he had lodged ten or twelve
lakhs of rupees secretly in Madras and else-
where and plainly desecribed his iniquities.
The Governor and others then went down-
stairs to the compioir. I went to the sorting-
godown, but M. Cornet wished me to accom-
pany him to see the coral weighed. I therefore
went. After talking with M. Cornet and
M. Miran, I took leave and went to my office
in the flower-garden at half-past eleven.
Monday, April 21°*—As I was going out
this morning with my gown on to go to
the Fort, I felt tired and sleepy. So I took
off my gown and slept till mid-day, when
I bathed. When I was eating, a letter from
Tyfgayyan's younger brother written at Sri-
rangam on the 17th was brought to me, and
read aloud. It =says, ‘M. Goupil and
Rémalinga Pillai have reached Srirangam.
M. Dusaussaye the commander and M. Goupil
joined together. Thereon Rémalingam wrote
that things would improve if M. Maissin were

1 Phpayyn Pillai, * 12th Chittirai. Yura,
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sent. But this cadjan letter fell into the
hands of M. Goupil and M. Dusaussaye, who
ordered Rimalingam and his man Arunfichalam
to be brought, beaten well and imprisoned.
Nandi Raji who is at Nimakkal fort, has
obtuined sums of five or ten thousand from the
people under him, according to their respective
salaries, to meet his expenses. In spite of the
death of Dévarfja UdaiyAr at Seringapatam,
Venkatapati Ayyan has not been appointed
chief Pradhdni* but has only been ordered to
supervise affairs. Two men with silver staves
have been sent to fetch Nandi Réji post-haste.
He has resolved to go to Seringapatam
accordingly as soon as the chobdars arrive.’

" Tuesday, April 22'—1 heard this evening
that Razi Sihib (Chandé Sahib's son) would be
introduced by M. Delarche to the Governor
to-morrow, on the occasion of his feast, and
that the Governor had ordered 7,000 rupees
worth of food to be prepared.

Wednesday, April 23*—I1 presented the
(Governor this morning at the Fort with a
bouquet as it was his feast-day; the Europeans
and the councillors with their ladies were pre-
sent. When the Governor had returned after
mass, Razfi Sdhib (Chandi Sahib's son) arrived

' The third minister in rank, usually holding the office of treasurer.
® 18th Chittivai, Yuna.
¥ 1d¢h Chittiral, Yuva.
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and the Governor advanced to the steps to meet
him. His presents to the Governor werc as
follows :—A pendant set with diamonds and
rubies alternately, worth 150 pagodas; two
bajubands set with diamonds worth 250 pago-
das ; a pair of gold knobs for a palankin; a
gold rosewater sprinkler, betel-tray and box
worth in all 400 pagodas ; a horse worth 200
pagodas ; and a dress of honour worth 100 pago-
das—in all 1400 pagodas. ImiAm Sahib’s son
. presented him with twodresses of honour worth
250 rupees. The seven Company’s merchants
presented him with 147 pagodas, 21 apiece,
Salatu Venkatichala Chetti gave 21 pagodas,
Kannapuram Tiruppali Chetti 11, Madaninda
Pandit five rupees and Srinivisa Rio (Pipayya
Pillai's vakil) presented through a Muham-
madan fellow, two bunches of plantains, two
jack fruit, and ten bambulim#s! When all
had offered their presents, the Governor gave
Chandi Sihib’s son 30 pieces of broadcloth
worth 3,000 rupees, 14 rolls of China silk worth
448 rupees, 2 watches worth 400 rupees,
7 pieces of gold lace worth 250 rupees, 3 rolls
each of a different colour, of velvet, 60 yards
in all, worth 960 rupees ; a roll of China silk °
worth 60 rupees, two telescopes worth 100
rupees, 4 small knives, 4 pairs of scissors,

| The fruit corrupted into English as the * Pimplenose.'
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6 mirrors of the best quality, two baskets
containing phials of Hungary water, a small
gold box and four small snuff-hoxes—worth
altogethor 7,000 rupees according to the Gov-
ernor’s account, but only 5500 according to
Krishnappan, at the Fort rates. After these
presents had been given, a salute of 21 guns
was fired and all were dismissed with compli-
ments. | waited some time after their depar-
turc and then came home.

Thursday, April 24—This morning I sent
Riménji Pandit and Swimi Ayyangir to
M. da Rocher with French translations of
the cultivators’ statements that our people
had collected the  revenues in  Karunguli
and Shlavikkam before the English ap-
peared there. When RAménji Pandit and
Swiami Ayyangir had done this, they reported
that after reading them, M. du Rocher said
that Kodandarima Ayyan our old amaldir of
Madurantakam, who has joined the English,
formerly sent statements proving that
money had been collected in Madurantakam,
g0 that the statements of four or five other
persons must be taken without delay and that
accounts must be got for the collections made
by our people in Karunguli and Silavikkam.
Immediately I sent for Venkiji Pandit

V15th Chittirai, Yura,
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(Rangappa Mudali, the former amaldér’s man)
and told him to write aboutit. I also told
Raminji Pandit to obtain accounts of the col-
lections, together with statements from some
of the cultivators in Madurantakam.

The Governor could not sleep last night by
reason of the dancing and fire works, so he was
still sleeping after daybreak. I went to my
office in the flower-garden, but at nine o'clock
when I was drinking tea I heard that the
(Governor had awakened. I went at once but
could not see him, although I tried twice or
thrice.

M. Barthélemy came and talked with the
Governor till noon. I waited till then, and
came home. When I was there, a chobdar
brought a message that the Governor wanted
me at half-past two. I sent him away saying
that I would go accordingly.

Afterwards Valangimén Subbayyan, who
had taken leave of me when he set out for
Benares on August 27, 1751, visited me with his
kdvadi' and a tray of vessels full of the Ganges
water, and his offerings to the Gods. Immedi-
ately I went to bathe, pouring the Ganges water
over myself’® after which I ate and visited
the Governor at the Fort. After speaking

1 The kdvacli is a porter’s knot ; in the present case it signifies that
used by a pilgrim earrying his temple offarings.
8 This is considered equivalent to ablutions in the Ganges itself.
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about a few villages, he asked the Turaiyfir
news. I said that a battle was imminent
between the old and the new poligars. The
(tovernor asked how the new poligar could
be removed. I replied, * How can a new man
justly seize the house of another who has
long been in possession of it?  There are 72
poligars under that country, and of all these,
this man alone joined and paid us tribute, and
acted as we desired, being under our protection.
But Nandi Riji attacked him at a suitable time,
dismissing him and appointing a new poligar.
So can we not dismiss the new man and restore
the former man, our ally ?’ He replied, * If we
do that, Nandi Raja will write objecting to it.’
I replied, ‘ Nandi Raji will object to any-
thing, but is that a reason for doing nothing ?
He already owes us large sums; and yet he
has written many complaints. He demands
that we shall write letters -to Salabat Jang
and M. Bussy, saying that the whole amount
of the peshkash money has been spent on our
army, though we have not finished any of
his business, and therefore asking Salabat
Jang and M. Bussy only to collect the usual
peshkash and return what has been taken in
excess. That is the sort of thing he is writing.’
He then asked why the old poligar had
advanced with the help of our enemy the
Réja of Tanjore. Ireplied, ‘ What could he do
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without help from Tanjore? The place is his
birth-place, for which he would die. Formerly
he had our protection ; and now he has given
you a nazar of 100 pagodas besides a bond for
a lakh of rupees in return for your promises of
help. The usual peshkash is 30,000 [ s
but he has lost his town and country in spite-
of the lakhs he has paid ; so that he will march
with the Tanjore army and seize it, and not
keep quiet. Why should he forsake his
country ?'—* Did we promise him anything ?

the Governor asked. ‘Did you mnot?" I
replied ; ‘what can 1 do if you who are next
under God, forget what you have said ?’ He
then asked if the new vakil who had come had
vigited me. I said he bad not, but that I had
heard of his arrival and of his wvisiting M.
Barthélemy, his dubish Réman, Vinfiyaka
Pillai, M. Delarche and Madaninda Pandit.

“Well, he said, ‘I will let you know after
reading the Srirangam letters.’

I then reported the mews from Vriddha-
chalam that the Udaiyar's army had removed
the tdranamstied by the Vriddhachalam poligar
in Réjéndrapattanam and Konamangalam,
plundered the villages, and carried the people
away to Udaiyarpilaiyam. The Governor said
that a letter must be written to the com-
mander to send troops against Udaiyirpéilai-
yam, as otherwise the Zamindar would not keep
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guiet. I said I had sent a man with a letter
about the peshkash, and that a reply would
be received in four days, after which troops
might be despatched.

Then he said that the Tranguebar Religion-
ists were disturbing our Padre’s church at
Panikkankuppam in the Venkatammélpdttai
country’' and that I must write asking them to
cease. I said I would do so.

He said he had heard from the commander
that the Mangéttir cultivators had run away,
I said I would enquire and let him know,
1 then took leave and went fto my office in
the flower-garden. M. Dusaussaye came at
six o'clock, talked for about an hour, and then
departed.

Friday, April 25°—This morning I went to
the Fort and paid my respects to the Governor.
He asked the Turaiytr news. I reminded him
of what I had told him yesterday and added
that he should kecp his promise to them.
Thereon he asked if they would pay the pro-
mised amount. I said the poligar was certain
to, since he was dependent on us. He wasnot
satisfied with my reply, but asked again in a
doubtful way if the money would really come.
After much talk, I said, ‘Pray do not lose
heart. I have warned him that he must pay

v CfF. pages 218 and 214 supra. * 10th Chittivad, Yuva,
a7
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the amount in a fortnight or a month ; or at
the latest in forty days. He will not fail to
pay within that time, for, in that case, your
army will be sent against him to destroy his
army, and obtain the promised money. There-
fore be not discouraged.'— But you know,’ the
Governor said, ‘that he has the help of the
Raja of Tanjore and the poligar of Ariyvalfir.'—
‘That’s so with the poligars,’ I replied ; ‘if one
poligar is in trouble, some of the others will
help him to maintain himself. It is only
usual.'—* But see,’ the Governor said, ‘M.
Goupil has written without orders to the RAja
of Tanjore and the poligar of Ariyaliir’—* He
is not to blame,’ I replied, ‘M. Dupleix and
M. Godeheu immediately punished those who
disobeyed them. You do not, and this is the
result.” He remained silent, and gave me one
letter from Nandi Réja, and two others from
Imém Sahib, to be translated into French.

He said that a letter must be sent to
VialikondApuram, as BEuropeans had deserted
thither from the commander at Tiruviti, T
accordingly sent a letter addressed to the
Valikondipuram man.

I gave the Governor the French translation
of Nandi Rija’s letter to M. Dusaussaye with a
Telugu translation of Nandi Raja’s letter to me
written underneath.
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I formerly heard that Dévardja Udaiyér,
the dalavii of Mysore, had died; but I now
hear that it is false, and that he is alive.

One of Vennila Néranappa Néiyakkan's
younger sons visited me on his way from
Madras to Negapatam to attend a marriage
there. I supplied him with food, gave him
a dress of honour, and to those who accom-
panied him two pieces of broad-cloth, two
‘gilver-laced turbans and a painted turban,

Copy of letter from Nandi Réjh, Servddie-
kdrit —

‘To Mahfirdja Réjasri Vijaya Ananda
Ranga Réyar Avargal, the adornment of the
Wazirat, rich in all good qualities, the delight
of his friends, aletter sent to court his friend-
ship and about other affairs,

I have enjoyed good health up to-day,
the third day in the bright half of Vaisdla®.
Be pleased to write to me about all important
matters. You will have learnt all things from
my former letter. Four years ago, I left my
country. TFor three years, I have made friends
with the French?®, spending vast sums of money;
but my affairs have not prospered. I believed
with all my heart and soul that the former
Governor would bestow his attention upon

1 Bee Vol, VIII, page 90, n. 1, supra. * April 14,
# Reading Pirdnji for Pards.
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my affairs and secure my prosperity ; therefore
I abode with the French. But then M. Bussy
marched with Nawib Salabat Jang's army to
attack our fortress with numberless cannon,
and captured a fort. Itisnot proper to disturb
our country since I and the French ave friends.
Thinking them' to be the friends of our friends,
the French, since the latter were in their camp,
we were not at first alarmed ; but we were
deceived. Then my master ordered me to join
him as soon as I received his letter, lest the
same should happen again ; so I am returning
to my country. Nevertheless a suitable letter
should be written by M. Leyrit the Governor,
to M. Bussy, who desires to break our friendship
with the French instead of preserving it so
long as the sun and moon endure. What
should I say more? Everything will be learnt
from Venkatanfiryana Ayyan whose words
will be as my own. Hereby glory may be
secured. As many affairs must be settled in
our country, I must go thither; otherwise
I would not. Srirangam and Jambukéswaram
are no ordinary forts. One has asingle wall ;
and the other seven walls® one within the other.
Trichinopoly stands within range of a field-

! g, tho invader — Salabat Jang.

* A subsequent passage makes me think the temples are being con-
trasted with Trichinopoly, and that we should understand the one
with a single wall to refer to that town,
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piece from these places, and when we took
them, Trichinopoly was in the power of the
French. Therefore I handed over these places
and the countries botween the two rivers and
took my departure.  The English and Muham-
mad 'All Khiin's people ecannot be trusted ; so
though the French and the English have
concluded an agreement, the Governor must
write to the commandant at Srirangam warn-
ing him to stand on his guard against their
attempts. The Governor should also write to
M. Bussy to explain everything to Nawib
Salabat Jang sqthat our friendship with the
French may continue, which can only happen
if affairs are so managed that both sides pros-
per. Be all this known to you. Write to me
about your welfare.’

Satwrday, April 26)—At half-past seven
this morning, I went to the Fort and paid my
rospects to M. Leyrit, the Governor, when he
was upstairs, walking about and talking with
M. Boyellcau, M. Lenoir, M. Desveeux and
other officials ; I gave him the French transla-
tions and the original Persian letters received
yesterday fromn Nandi Riji, and Imém Sihib’s
son and son-in-law, and given to me yesterday
to be ftranslated. After reading them, the
(Governor said, * An answer must be written to

v 17th Chittirai, Yuva.
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Nandi Réja, but I first want to consult you.
M. Bussy is five miles from Seringapatam with
Salabat Jang and his troops, having taken
some fort in Mysore, but he has not written us
aline. I sent a chobdar, hoping to reach him
in the neighbourhood of Cuddapah, and
Kandanfir ; but when I heard that he had
entered Mysore, T wrote letters about it to
Nandi R4ja at Srirangam and to Salabat Jang.
We must send another messenger.” I agreed.
He then asked me what answer should be
written to Nandi Réja. I said I could not be
expected to know so well" as himself ; but he
replied that I had managed such affairs before.
I therefore said, ‘ Nandi RAji writes that he
reached Trichinopoly four years ago, and
joined us three years ago ; he has spent crores ;
but M. Bussy and Salabat Jang have seized
one of his forts and are encamped only four
or five miles from the fort; and that, as
M. Bussy is leading the advance guard, his
master wrote to him saying that, if he
remained, none could tell what would happen
to him and therefore recalled him at once ;
that as he was occupying Srirangam and
Jambukéswaram fortresses with seven and five
walls each, he considered that Muhammad
'All Khin who holds the fortress of Trichino-
poly, which has but a single wall, was helpless
and that therefore the fort could be taken
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and he slain. But (he says) our M. Bussy has
marched with Salabat Jang, seized omne fort
and is attacking anothoer ; therefore his master!
has reealled him, in doubt of what may
happen, and he has returned to Mysore,
leaving our sardir in possession of the for-
tresses of Srirangam and Jambukéswaram
with the countries between the two rivers,
and desires that when you write to M. Bussy,
you should ask him to collect only the usual
peshkash.

‘The reply to Nandi Raji may run as
follows :—* M. Bussy and his European army
are paid by him? and are under his control ;
therefore I cannot interfere, but they must do
as Salabat Jang desires. As you are my ally,
we have protected your fort and country
hitherto. Otherwise you would have lost
them. I have written to M. Bussy to help
you as far as possible, and I will do so again ;
but you should pay our money speedily.”’ I
added that the English and Muhammad 'Alf
Khén knew that M. Bussy and his army were
in Salabat Jang's pay, that if they wrote about
it, a similar reply could be given, and that
therefore this device would meet all cases®

! An evident copyist's error says * Salabat Jang.

2i.e., Salabat Jang.

* The English might object that this invasion of Mysore was a
violation of the truce concluded with Godsheu,
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He agreed that it was very true,”and that a
letter might be so written after consideration.

He then observed, ‘Papu Reddi, the old
poligar of Turaiyir, and his people are at
Ariyaltr, Instead of bringing them back and
reinstating them, it will be better to settloe
with the new man, and take from him the
lakh of rupees he has promised, besides his
peshkash of 35,000 rupees. If the new man is
removed, and the old man restored, Salabat
Jang will come into these parts and Nandi Rija
will cause trouble, so that no revenue will
be got and our money will not be paid. If
he did not pay, what could we do ? Would you
be responsible for the money ?' I replied that,
inasmuch as I had taken part in the matter,
T would not go to sleep over it, but had only
opened the matter after seeing that every-
thing was all right, so that he need not be
doubtful of getting the money. *Others may
fail to pay,’ said I, ‘but you may be sure of
this." JHe would say nothing but that Nandi
Rija was responsible for their money, and
asked who would be responsible for the other
man’s. 1 did not like to say more when he
thus clung to his opinion, as I knew well that
whatever was done contrary to my wishes
would fail. Moreover the Governor will
receive only what is destined to him.
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MAY 1755.

Saturday, May 3.'—The following news was
received from Vellore the evening of the day
before yesterday :—There was a fierce fight
between Salabat Jang’s troops encamped about
five miles from the fort, and the Mrysore
troops. But M. Bussy got the upper hand,
seized Somavarpéttai and strengthened him-
gelf there. Many perished on hoth sides:
but although Rimachandran the Maratha
mansabdar (R&jé Chandrasénan’s son) and
others were killed, yet the Mysore troops could
not stand before the ememy, and they have
promised to pay ten lakbs of rupees to M.
Bussy and a crore of rupees to Salabat Jang,
besides darbar expenses. Salabat Jang will
march to Kolar., Shah Nawfz Khin, etc., are
to march with a small army to Arcot to make
preparations. The army will proceed towards
Arcot when arrangements have been made
about the money. A letier of encouragement
has been written to Muhammad 'Ali Khén,
and sent with a dress of honour, desiring him
to come and settle the affairs of his country,
and return. People are leaving Arcot and
Vellore in fear, and 'Abd-ul-wahib Khén is
preparing to send his family to Madras.

v 24th Chittirai, Yuva,
38
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I reported all this to the Governor alone in
the eastern verandah of the hall, whither he
had taken me to mention certain matters.

As M. Leyrit, the new Governor, has visited
my agrahdram Isent Appidvuand Ayyfswami
to present the Governor with plantains, jacks,
guavas, bambulimfs, flowers, sugar, sugar-
candy, pdn supdri, rosewater and nazars of 100
pagodas each. They did so. M. Desveeux
and M. Desfresnes then came. As he took the
pagodas, the Governor remarked that Ayvéi-
swiami was like me. M. Desfresnes answered
that, when M. Godeheu went to Arumpéitai
Pillai's choultry to meet his younger brother
returning from Gingee, the two boys paid their
respects to him, and that he took them on his
knee, and offered them chairs, conversed with
them, and was highly pleased with his' quick
and ready answers, considering that even a
man of forty would not understand and reply
so respectfully. They thus talked for a quarter
of an hour about the former conversation.

Three salutes of 21 guns were fired while
mass was being said, and there was continuous
firing when the toasts were being drunk after
dinner. When Chand& S&hib’s son came at
four® o’clock with ’'Ali Nagi, a salute of 21
guns was fired. The Governor watched the

? e, Ayyhswimi's,
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fireworks on the hill at seven o'clock, and
returned with the rest to town at half-past ten
or eleven, but I remained in the choultry.

A Turope ship reached the roads this after-
noon and fired a salute which was returned
from the Fort. As the flamme was hoisted at
the main-mast, all supposed she must be a
Burope ship.

Thursday, May 8'—[The Governor smd]
the commander at Gingee had written that
Riyappa RAjA and a merchant had visited
Gingee and that he had imprisoned them as
each complained of being cheated by the other.
He then asked who Réiyappa RA&jA* was. I
replied that he was the man who came here
formerly pretending to the Governor that he
was the proper owner of the Kérvetirdjipélai-
yam, and that, if it were got for him, he would
pay certain sums; and that when the old
(Gtovernor asked me if he really was the owner
of the pélaiyam, I wrote about it and learnt
that he was one of the poligar's servants who
had been often imprisoned in irons for drink-
ing more than 10 bottles of liquor a day.
When I had related to the Governor Riyappa
Rija’s imprisonment, and his being sent with
an elephant and an army, he took up the

L2oeh Chiltivai, Fuva,
* See above, Vol VI, pp. 201, ete.
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commander's letter, read it and said with a
smile that it, contained what I had just said
and asked whether a letter should be written
ordering him to be beaten and let go. °‘ That
should not be done, I said, ‘he should be
brought here ; you yourself shonld order his
punishment and release.” He agreed and
wrote to the commander there to send him
hither. .

The Governor then gave me Bhaji Réo's
letter to M. Godeheu to get translated into
French. I took it and came home.

Sunday, May 11'—When the Governor had
gone upstairs after hearing mass this morning,
the councillors, officers, writers, ship-people,
ete., paid him their respects. I did the same
along with the Company’s merchants. When
the Govanor was alone, I gave him a Marathi
letter from Varadd Reddi (who has lately
conquered Turaiyir) to M. Goupil, and the
Persian letter of Mu'tabar Khin (son of Husain
Sihib of Vilikondipuram) with French
translations. After reading them without
comment, he said, ‘I sent a vakil to discuss
the payment dae to us by the poligar of
Udaiyhrpélaiyam ; but the poligar has not
sent a proper reply. You said that, if a small
body of troops were sent against him, it would

* Ist Vaigdsi; Yuva.



1765] ANANDA RANGA PILLAI 301

frighten him into paying the money, all would
know our resolution, and he would then do
all that we desired. Therefore, as he had
plundered the Vriddhachalam, ete., countries
belonging to us, our commander sent a detach-
ment against him, and writes that he has
seized some of his cattle and imprisoned ten
talaiyiris. Shall I direct him to send them
hither or shall they be kept there ?" I replied,
‘ They should be brought here, and we should
send orders to the UdaiyAr about the matter.’
-—*Very well he replied, ‘you had better
write to him now ; and, if he does not reply
properly, I will write.!—*I will do so,' I
replied.

Tuesday, May 13)—At half-past seven
this morning, I went to the Fort, and gave
M. Leyrit, the Governor, Mordri Rio’s Marathi
letter received yesterday together with its
French translation. He was sauntering with
M. Moracin on the north of the great hall
upstairs. After reading it, he went into the
place on the north side which is being walled
in, where the arms stand ; I accompanied
him. M. du Rocher came and went away
after talking with the Governor, who went
into his room. When I was talking with the
Company's merchants, a chobdar came and

V3rd Vaigdai, Yuva.
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reminded me that the Governor wanted me.
So I went. After reading Moriri Réo's letter,
he asked why Moriri Rio had written so
strictly about the money. I explained that in
money matters, he was aman who would pour
thumbai-juice down any one's nose to make
him pay, though it were his own father or
mother ; so what wonder that he wrote so to
strangers ? ‘ Is he such a miser?’ he asked.
I replied, ‘ He will not give a fanam even to
his own brother. None gets anything but his
" pay, for Moriri Réo takes for himself all
* plunder.’ I thus described his miserly nature,
and the Governor was astonished.

He added, ‘ Don’t you know he has written
that he will besiege the town in order fo
recover the money ?° I repeated that he would
not hesitate at writing like that about money.

He then asked me to describe his behaviour
from his first coming up to now, which T did,
adding, ‘ You know he writes in his letters
that ten or twelve lakhs are due to him. He
wrote thus also in M. Dupleix’ time, but the
latter proved that only three or four lakhs
wers due, and told him to colleet it from
Nandi Raji. M. Godeheu and M. Dupleix
both wrote to him to this effect in September.
Then he wrote to M. Godeheu that he would
accept his decision, but M. Godeheu replied to
him that he could not decide the matter as
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he did not know the whole of it. When this
correspondence was going on, M. Dupleix
sailed for Europe.” When I had thus explained
the matter, he asked if a reply should be
written to him. I replied that there was no
need and that he could wait. He agreed, and
remarked that he was surprised that M. Bussy
had not sent a word from Salabat Jang’s
camp.
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JUNE 1755.

Wednesday, June 4'—When I went to the
Fort at half-past seven this morning, I found
M. Leyrit, M. Barthélemy, M. Boyelleau, the
Councillors, officers and others. On my
paving my respects, the Governor approached
me and asked the news. I said all was well.

Murtazf Sihib (Mir Ghulim Husain's man)
brought a notarial copy of the bond for a
lakh of rupees lent in 1746. He read it care-
fully more than once and also. M. Dumas’
letter from Europe to Mir. Ghuldm Husain.
After reading and refurning them, he said to
me that the interest on the lakh of rupees
would come to a lakh. I replied, ‘94,000
rupees have been repaid, and there is only a
balance of 6,000 rupees on the principal and
upwards of 30,000 rupees as interest—36,000
rupees in all. M. Dupleix gave me an account
in M. Bourquenoud’s hand ; and when the
accounts are settled between Mir A'azam
'Ali Khéin and Mir Ghulim Husain's nephew,
and the money is demanded by the latter
from the Company, this bond should be taken,
the money obtained from the Company and
paid, with the full knowledge of Mir A’azam

: 25th Vaigdsi, Yuva,
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"Ali Khén, the proper heir. If any objection
is made, the money should be kept separately
and paid after the settlement of the dispute.’
I said I would speak about it presently. He
then told me to bring the account signed by
M. Bourquenoud, the accountant, for him to
examine. I said that the parties might be
brought to an agreement, without troubling
them or neglecting our business. He agreed.

I then told him that to-morrow he would
be offered a dress of honour and a horse. He
agreed and informed Murtazd Sihib, who
asked that a salute should be fired. When I
told the Governor, he asked how many guns
gshould be fired. I said, seven. He said that
that should be done. I said it was right for
Mir A'azam 'Ali Khin.

I then continued, * You listen to what I
say, but afterwards don't do accordingly.
This brings discredit on thosé who transact
business and belittles your service, but also
throws away money. It does indeed. You
agreed to one thing about the 50,000 rupees
due from Chandd Sahib’s son, but acted
differently. Again you said you would give
Imém Sahib’s son-in-law half the customary
mint-privileges, but ifistead gave him only
a dress of honour worth 300 rupees. When you
might have made 3,900 rupees, your words lost

"you 2,000 rupces, Chandf Sahib’s son was
39
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receiving 4,000 rupees a month and you said he
should be given not less than half, but I do not
know why you dropped the matter.’

After talking about other matters, I went
to the sorting-godown. M. Desfresnes sent for
me to sign the council’s resolution, giving me
a lease of the ten villages in Kérikal for five
years at 4,000 pagodas a year commencing from
July. I went and signed it, and, when I was
taking leave, he said he would sign and send
me a copy. I agreed and came away.

I hear that M. Law and M. Duplan [?] have
come from Salabat Jang's army which is
attacking Mysore, the former because he cannot
agree with M. Bussy and the latter because he
is to be sent to Masulipatam.

Thursday, June 5)—At eight o'clock this
morning, I went to the Governor and paid my
respects in the presence of M. Boyelleau,
M. Guillard, M. Desfresnes, ete., Councillors,
and many other officers and captains. The
Governor took me into his room, and when
M. Chevrean was there, read the commandant
of Gingee’s complaint against Niriyana Séstri.
I observed that he had complained against the
amaldér in spite of his being in the wrong and
taking small sums of ‘money. He said, ‘ The
complaint is that, when he was asked to send

1 26th Vaigdai, Yura,



1755 ) ANANDA RANGA PILLAT 307

peons to capture the six soldiers who had
deserted, he had said it was not his business,
on which he was threatened with being bound
and beaten.! I replied, ‘If you listen to them,
I cannot collect money in the country. To
collget rent from the ryots and others, one has
to keep the whip in hand. If, for private gain,
the commandants prevent the amaldirs from
doing their work properly, and if you, instead
of punishing the former, believe what they
say, the rents cannot be collected.” I narrated
to him what had happened till the present, and
took leave.

Saturday, June T)—At eight oclock this
morning, I went to the Fort. M. Leyrit was
standing in the outside hall as usual, surround-
ed by officers, councillors, ete. I paid my
respects. He asked me when Mir Ghulim
Husain’s nephews would visit him. I replied
that they had come and that the master-
gunner should be ordered to fire a salute of
7 guns. The Governor sent for M. Carpentier
and gave him orders. Then he and M.
Chevreau read a few letters. '

Afterwards the youngestson of Mir Ghuldm
Husain’s sister and his brother-in-law (Murtazi
Sahib) visited the Governor with a valuable
dress of honour worth 150 rupees. A salute of

v 28th Vaigdsi, Yuva.
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7 guns was fired when they sat down, after
having embraced. On mutual enquiry after
each other’s welfare, they told the Governor
about Mir Ghulim Husain's lending a lakh of
rupees to the Company, of which M. Dupleix
took 64,000 rupees, and the payment of 30,000
rupees to Mir A'azam, so that the balance was
6,000 rupees of the principal and 30,493 rupees,
2 fanams and 27 cash in all, according to the
account written by M. Bourquenoud and which
had been given tome. M. Leyrit asked me for
the account, which I had told him I had. I
gave it him. Having read it, he said he would
pay the balance, and spoke hopefully about
M. Dupleix’ money. Saying that other matters
would be reported by Murtazi Sihib to-
morrow, they received rosewater and pdn
Supdri and took leave.

Kastiri Rangappan, the vakil of Pipn
Reddi, the old poligar of Turaiytr, visited the
Governor with a nazar of 11 pagodas and a
letter from Papu Reddi, which the Governor
told me to interpref. It says, ‘In consequence
of your letter to M. Goupil, the commandant
at Srirangam, desiring him to help me, he sent
word about it whereon I, depending upon the
might of your favour, overthrew my enemy
and recaptured my fort of Turaiyir, I will
perform what I formerly promised. I and my
country will be everat your disposal. So be
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pleased to favour me, and act as my wvakil
Kastiri Rangappan will request” When I-
had reported the contents, M. Leyrit said
most joyfully, ‘ The enemy seized the country
because no help was given. Kasthri Rangap-
pan promised, and gave a bond accordingly,
that if the Turaiyir fort was given back, a
lakh of rupees should be given. Therefore I
sent M. Maissin with an army to his assistance,
but, owing to the rains, he was not able to do
anything. I then wrote to M. Goupil, asking
him to help the poligar as much as possible.
T will now write asking him to pay Company's
money. Let the vakil also write to his master.’
The Governor also told me to give daily
batta to Kastri Rangappan. I sent word to
Vindyakan about it, took leave and came
home.

M. Flacourt and Bali Chetti have signed
the Council’s resolution to lease the old
Cauvery country for 4,380,000 rupees.

At four o'clock this afternoon M. Leyrit the
Governor sent for me and said, ‘I wrote to
M. Maissin ordering him to threaten the
poligars of Ariyalar and Udaiyirpilaiyam, so
as to keep them in check, that they may not
interfere in our affairs. M. Goupil has replied
that Udaiyirpdlaiyam belongs to Muham-
mad’'Ali Khin. But did you not tell me
that it was ours?’ I replied, ‘ The poligar of
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Udaiyérpilaiyam is under the poligar of Gin-
gee, which fort is ours. Therefore we have de-
manded money which has been promised. But
whenever our people have pressed for the
money, he says that Muhammad 'Ali Khén’s
people are troubling him and that they must
bedriven away. Again when Muhammad 'Ali
Khéin asks him, he says that, as he is under
the poligar of Gingee, the Pondichery people
demand money, and that they must therefore
be told not to do so. He has been pleading
these excuses these three years since the death
of Chandf S&hib and has not paid any one.
So he has grown fat and wealthy and has been
living at ease. For the last three months and
a half, I have been sending vakil Venkata Réo
to press him for the money. Besides him, the
Bhuvanagiri and Kavattar taluks owe 17,000
rupees. As we pressed these two people for
the money, they wrote to the English to send
two of their people, Mangapati, a Brihman,
and another, to whom they promised some-
thing if they would say that they had paid the
peshkash regularly and obtain Muhammad 'Alf
Khién's sanad. These men' agreed because
they wanted to get what was offered for them-
selves, and in order that the poligars should
join their side, by reason of our pressure.

' ie., the English.
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I hear that their people have arrived but have
not yet come to terms about the money.',
When I reported thus, he desired mo to write
to the vakil to explain everything to M. Maissin
and said that he himself would also write. I
then took leave and went to my office in the
flower-garden. Immediately afterwards the
Governor's peon came for me, so I went back.
He repeated the details written above and
wrote a letter to M. Maissin as follows :—
50,000 rupees are due for each of three years
on account of the annual peshkash and darbar
expenses, besides 17,000 rupees from the Bhu-
vanagiri pargannah. These two amounts
must be collected. Venkata Rio (Ranga
Pillai's vakil) is at Udaiyarpalaiyam about .
this business and he will relate everything
from beginning to end. Do as he says." The
- Governor had this letter despatched by a
camel-man and told me to write also to Ven-

kata Réo. Isaid I would do so, took leave and
had the letter written and despatched.

Sunday, June 8)—BhAji Réo's vakil has
come with a dress of honour to wvisit the
Governor about the chauth, but he has not yet
had an interview.

The harkaras reported to me that presents
and a dress of honour were coming from

1 90th Vaigdsi, Yueu.
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*Abd-ul-wahab Khén of Cuddapah.' Ireported
this to the Governor who told me to wrile to
them to bring the presents quickly. I wrote
to the vakil accordingly.

Thursday, June 12*—This morning I visited
the Bishop of Cochin-China who is staying at
-the Padré’s church opposite to my house. I
pointed out that his sleep would be disturbed
by the music and dancing, ete., on the inter-
change of visits with pdn supdri, fruit, lowers,
etc., on the occasion of the marriages of
Chiranjivi Ponnéchi, Nannéchi, Kulandai,? ete.
1 therefore prayed him to accept my regrets.
He replied with many compliments that I
should not doubt he would feel less joy than
if his own daughters were being married, and
when he gave me leave, he came as far as the
gate with me.

I then went to the Fort to pay my respects
to M. Leyrit the Governorv, I told him that
Bhiji Réo’s, Murtazi 'Ali Khén's and his
elder brother Razé 'Ali Khén's presents and
letters had arrived. He said that he would seo
them to-morrow and added, ‘ About 60 bhles
of fine brown Tarnatannes' that the Kérikal

1 Zie, Probably "Abd-ul-hamid Khin.

8 Zned Ami, Furva.

* The first two were Ranga Pillai's duughters, the third his niece.

* This cloth is mentioned in the Délibérations du Conseil Supérieur,
17241785, page 331. As is often the case the precise kind of cloth is
not ascertginable,
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merchants make must be supplied the Com-
pany ; speak to them and arrange to get the
cloth ; or tell the merchants of this place o
get it.’ I said I would do so. ‘
When M. Desvoeux was there, the Governor
mentioned the honours to be shown in connec-
tion with the marriages, the practice of the
Councillors’ accompanying the Governor, the
presentation of dresses of honour to the bride-
grooms, and the firing of salutes of 13 guns,
He added that he would do everything as I
wished. I then took leave and came home.
. Friday, June 13)—In the matter of Bhiji
Réo's presents, M. Chevreau, M. Leyrit's pri-
vate secretary (whose name I do not know)
and I, took leave this morning of the Governor
and set out with the Governor's palankin,
standards, chobdars, ete.,, music and dancing-
girls, the Nayinér's pikomen, ete. We went
by M. Tobin’s house, through the Villiyanallfr
gate, to visit Narasinga Réio’s gumastah
(whose name I do not know) who has come
from Bhiji Rio and who is lying at the tama-
rind tope. He came to mect us with great
respect and gave us a packet covered with

wax cloth containing the dress of honour, and
the letter. The packet being placed in the

3 3pdd Ani, Yura,
40
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palankin, was carried to the Fort with music
and dancing and placed before the Governor
with a nazar of 21 pagodas, when a salute of
15 guns was fired. After mutual embraces and
enquiries, the Governor told Bhéji Réo's
vakil to remain at ease in his lodgings till
next day when his business should be dis-
cussed.

. Murtazi Khén's valkil then presented a
horse and a dress of honour. After embraces,
a salute of 11 guns was fired. Muhammad
[Tav]akkal then presented a laced dress of
. honour with a petition about his appointment.
After reading if, the Governor said that he
would do-as he desired and dismissed him, I
took leave, went to my office in the flower-
garden, and thence came home.

Sunday, June 15)—This is the news of
to-day :—I have already written that Guntiir
B4li Chetti and M. Flacourt have taken a leaseo.
o